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Corporate Deseription

Ixia is a leading, global
provider of 1P performance
test systems that measure
the performance, function-
ality, and conformance of

networks and the devices
attached to them, as well
as the applications that run
over them.
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Finaneial Highfights

{in tbousanits, exeepn Tor per share amib emgloyee ko)

Total revenues 180,132 5 2.833 ¢ TGO+
Net incone 13,40t 20, 15,021

Diluted earnings per share 0.20 . 0.23

Dilused weighted average shares omstanding 68,702 60,227 Gt 7450

Non-GAADR net ineomae* : 31.609 5 20514 8 10,49

Non-GAMP diluted earnings per share® 0.46 043 .20

Cash, cash equivalents and investnenis 221,701 3 201.685 147,155
Total assets 349,054 241451
Total sharchalders™ equity 300,789 263480 193,401
Net cash from operating activitics 33.911 49,904 29 442

Employvess ar vear end 750 040 03

* Exeludes the effects of stock-buased compensation and amortization of intangible assets, See recanciliztion of CAAD t Non-GAAP net ineorne amd

diluted eurnings per share helow.

Reconctliation of Nou-GAAP w0 GAAP Nt neome and Ditated Paening- per Sharee
{in thowsunds. except per share duta) 2006 3005

Non-CAAP net income 31,000 § 20510 8 16,949
Ammortization of intangible assets (0,450} (5.169) {+.570)
Stock-based compensation (18,023) - (419)
Incoie tax effect 6,345 +.149 3.007

CAAP net income 13481 8 28,490 15.021

Non-GAAP dilued earnings per share 046 5 043 ¢ 0.26
Amortization of intangible assets (0.09) (0.03) (0.07)
Stock-based comnpensation (0.20) - (0.01)
Income wx effect 0.0% .00 0.05

GAAT diluted earnings per share 020 3 0.41 0.23










Cerer 1o Shaveholders

in 2007, lxia celebrates o decade of innovation in the [P tesing market. In early
1097 we identified an opportunily o build o more powerful and flexible 1P testing
product thon wos availcble on the morket ot the fime- Over the succeeding decade,
while the needs and demands of our cusiomers have grown increasingly complex,
ia has been the markef leader in novation, taking its products and capabilities
triher than we ever imagined len years ago- gilurefree performance haos become
mission critical to enterprises and service p;oviders that operate in an erwirdnmenl
where network downtime is unocceptaple. Al the some time, communications and
entertainment delivery is rapidly moving o an IP infrastructure. This infrastructure must
be thoroughly tested under reclistic conditions prior 10 deployment. Our mission is

o facilitate the development and deployment of 1P based networks by providing the

most comprehensive, endioend test sysiems in the industry.

-

hia began its “Decade of Innovation” with approximately $1.6 million in seed
money, and o small office, but managed to deliver its first product o the markel

in April 1698, just ten months chier setling up operations. That product, the Ixio
1600 chassis with 10/100 and Gigebit Ethemet iraffic generation cards, boasled
the highest port density in the industry o the fime, with the lowest system per port
cost. It hed arich graphical user interface, along with preloaded industry stondard
performance tests, that decrecsed testing lead times and improved efficiencies in
cuslomers’ Development and Quality Assurance labs. By May 1998, Ixia was

profitable and a yeor loter had generaied $10 million in revenues.

Beytween 1067 and 20006, ixia has been the innavation leader in its market, with
industry firsts, such as Packet over SONET test 1ools for OC-3 ond OC-121n 1969,
QC-48 in 2000 and even OC-192 in 2001. Alsoin 2001, kia launched its
Optixia chassis with the highest port density then available, enabling emulation of
millions of users and the generction of reokworld traffic for the most ceclistic view of

how network equipment would perform under the most taxing conditions.

In 2002, with the downturm in the economy and 1T expenditures, felecom service
providers cul back spending on fiber opic qetworks and their focus became deliv-
ering next generction services o customers without upgrading their existing network
infrasiruciure. Network equipment nanulaciurers INEM) responded by concentrat-
ing on Ethemetbased technologies that did not require significant infrastruciure
upgrodes. Ixic wos oble to adopt fo this rapid change in the marketplace by

introducing an innovative line of Gigabit Ethernet {GE} products, known as Our TXS

Ixia 2006 Annuol Report

Owr mission is to factli-
tate the development and
deployment of IP based
networks by providing the
most comprehensive, end-

to-end Lest systems in the
inclustry-
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This paradigm of gener-

alized hardware running

specialized software was
/J/IB'ﬁI.‘Sf; step ur mouvung
[via from its hardware
cenlric origins to a soft-
ware centric fulure.

Lorter e =hanel ol -

cards, which met the full range of its customers’ testing needs. These TXS cards in-
corporated o CPU running an open Linux environment on every porl, in addition o
Field Programmable Gate Arays, ar FPGA chips, thot were used to generote the
lower level wire speed traffic. Utilizing this archileciure, we were able to develop
high performance test applications that targeted specific market niches, such as

roufing protecols, security, email, Web applications, and Voice and Video over IP,

all on a single inlegrated hardware platform.

This integrated hardware platform running specialized software to test an ever
widening array of network applications and traffic types was truly an indusiry first.
Qur campetlition has been working ever since then, without significant success, o
imitcte our solution. And though we did not reclize the full significance of it ot the
time, this paradigm of generalized hardware running specialized software was the

first step in moving Ixia from ifs hardware centric origins to a software centric fulure.

. In 2003, we centinued this softwere evolution by acquiring Chariot, a unigue soltware

application thet cllows users to generate realistic enterprise network traffic such as
Web, streaming media, VoIP, and Muiticast, giving IT departments uaprecedented vis-
ibility info how their netwerks would perform when advanced services were deployed.
Thet year we also introduced a host of cther advanced products, including a new
purpose built Application load Module (AMI, an integrated hardware and sofware
platform specifically optimized for delivering stateful layer 4 - 7 tronsaciions.

In 2004, wilth the acquisition of G3 Nova Technologies, we introduced IxVoice,

@ comprehensive new family of functional and conformance test tools focused on
VolP and IP telephony technologies. 1n 2005, we introduced our new 10 Gigebit
Ethernet LAN Service Module - the industry’s highest density 10GE test system and
the only ane fo offer either XENPAK or XFP interfaces on the same medule. This
product was Ixia’s third-generation 10GE lest system, capable of analyzing up fo
two million traffic flows per port, @ number unmatched of the fime by any other
10GE test platform,

Throughout the Company’s “Decade of Innovation,” our invesiments have started
with our inlernal new product development efforts. Ixia has been and will abwvays
be an engineeringfocused company af its core, as we are focused on providing

our customers — R&D engineers and IT professionals — with the best test tools to cre-

ate nexi generation IP networks.
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In 2006, we continuad develeping aur products e match our customers’ svoly

ing neads and maintoined our technclagy leadership through the introduction of

a number of saphisticated lesting applications  Thess included the Aptixia Tes!
Conducton, a camprenensive “cormmand ceniar” That centrally moncges aulomartion
for multiple 1est applicalions using o single console. This applicotan unifies the
management of Iia's aulomated tesl application poducts, Ixlaod, xNetwork, and
IxChariof. Tegether these applicaiions simulicnesusly emilaie Tigle Play subsarb:
a5 and the network nhasiiucivie o lesi most elements of conveiged networks  fes!
Concucior allows users to casily crecle and schedule regiession fests, withaut the
need io crecle test scupts, oliowing for imoie efficient use of lab resouices and

heloing to inciease oveioll iesing produciivily.

mferms of our hardwere plotfonn, we ntroduced the Optixia XA 172 el sysiem in
20006, waich con suppoit up 1o 144 GE poits or 36 10GF ports pei chassis, the
highest 10GE porl density i the indusity, while mamtaining backwaord compalibil
ity with Iia’s existing plalioims and epplicatons, ensuring hat we rever leave ou
custemers shanded on requiting o forkiill upgrede. The rew plationm oddresses
the giowing needs of equipment menufaciuiers ond service providers 1o execuie
high porformance, h gh aensity testing of Chemathased aetworks, In conjencion
with the 1alioul of the ¥MI7?, we o mladuced o 12 port Gl card, as well us ¢
3 pon T0GE card, and will be roling aul addiicnal high density miarace cards
loter in 200/ and 2008 which will lniher enhaice the new chassis's parfonnance
and furclionalily. The high poit density of the XM12 benelis users by reducng iab
space for ecuipment, lowering power requiremeanis, and simplilying managerment

of testing 1esonirces, which conliibules 1o lowering overall 1esting costs.

The iequirements placed on carrer and service prowider newoiks o handle Fiole
Ploy tialfic, which combines voice, video and duic applications on ¢ siagle con
varged IP inlrastruciure, aie incieasing the imporicnce of pre-deployment resling for
valiclation of seivice delivery perfomance and Ine quatity of these nelworks from
a user'’s perspaciive. We pelieve our single plalioim soluron is ideal o these @
awplications and duiing Ihe pas! year we continued the deve'opinent of ¢ nuimio:
of praduct suites targeled of this market, |hase products, ameng others, included
Woad and IiNetwark  Ixoud is bia's primary lever 4 Hiounh 7 tesling applico
o, capable of assessing most aspects of IPTV service ioshucive 1o ensure sul>

scribers” Guality of Experience and can also rest the petloimance of contenteware

devices, including, load baleneers, liewalls, Web servers. and mait 5QivENs, €15

oal Resorl
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Underscoring Ivia’s
]ls'u.ccess in the carrier
space, in 2006 we were
%elected as a key [P test
$‘1’6[€H? provider for

Bz tish Telecom’s 21st
Cen tury Network project,
Qne of the most anbitious
next generation network
1:1 ans /0/ mations ever

c|m dertaken.

Letier to ~harelob -

well as Triple Play networks ond devices such as video servers, multicast routers
and SIP devices. IxNetwork allows users the flexibility to customize the applica-
fion lo meet o wide range of requirements for tesling complex network topologies

consisling of thousands of routing or switching devices. 4

Our latest IxNetwork release cliows test engineers to run realworld video fraffic
and packetbased network traffic over emulated network routes, the socalled
"Holy-Grail” of pre-deployment testing. The end result is a test tool that can better
choracterize the performance of routers and swilches thot deliver IPTV services by
emulating most critical network elements prior lo deployment. With our latest Ix-
load release, Ixia has introduced the first test solution 1o support MPEG-4, H.264,
and VC+1, the key codecs for High Definilion video over IP. The ability to test and
offer high-definition content is crucial for service providers Irying to compete with

incumbent cable and satellite services,

Driven in part by the rollout of Triple Play services, we believe corriers and service
providers will increasingly be buyers of pre-deployment IP network testing equip-
menl. This trend will result in continuing demand for products like Ixloed, and will
also drive additioncl demand for 10 Gigabit Ethernet tesling products, as carriers
upgrade the core capacity of their networks. Our work with the carriers also helps
us 1o gain business with network equipment manufacturers, as carriers using our
test platfarms want to ensure that their equipment suppliers are using the same lest
syslems, potentially helping to bring Ixia into new INEM accounis as well. We
believe thal building mutually beneficial business relationships or “ecosystems”
between large scale equipment makers and service providers is useful and helps
speed up the festing process. In these ecosystem models, ihe equipment maker is
able lo oecelerate the acceptance testing phase the service provider requires prior
o their placing firm orders. As a result, the equipment maker is able 1o reclize
revenue sooner. The service provider is able 1o build out its network and deploy
revenue generafing services in @ faster lime frame. In these kinds of situations, Ixig
acts as the conduit or framework for the transport of the test cases and network

topology emulations, resulting in win-winwin scenarios for everyone involved.

Underscoring Ixia’s success in the carrier space, in 2006 we were selected as a
key IP test system provider for British Telecom’s 2 1st Century Network projeci, one
of the most ambitious next generation network transformations ever underiaken.

Using IP, 8T's vision is to replace its existing networks and enable converged
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multimedia communications from any device, such as mobile phones, PCs, PDAs or
home phones, to eny other device. We believe our success at BT is imporiant for
a number of reasons. First, it demonstrates that Ixia can compete and win in the
most high profile of projects. Second, our selection by British Telecom has resuited
in additional “ecasystem” sales for Ixia into the equipment vendars that supply BT.
Third, it furthers our goal of increasing our profile in the carrier space. And finclly,
it positions Ixia as the test provider of choice as other carriers look to iransform their

networks to [P in the future.

As we announced eaily in 2007, Ixia has now shipped our IPTV test system for
assessing the perfermance of IP Video and Triple Play networks and infrastrue-
ture to more than 150 customers worldwide. According to the Multimedia
Research Group, the number of IPTV subscribers is projected to grow from 4.3
million in 2005 1o over 36.8 million in 2009, rapid growth which will place
increasing strain on carrier networks and further heighten the need for sophis-
ticaled pre-deployment testing applications. In fact, carriers represented Ixio’s
highest growth segment by bookings, in both percentage and dollar ierms, dur-
ing 2006. So while Ixia's carrier business is relatively small compared to our
equipmenl maoker business, we are encouraged by the progress we are making

in this importent customer segment.

in another stategically important area, we finished 2006 with our best quarter
ever for 10 Gigabit Ethernet, with shipments up almost 20 percent sequentially
from the preceding quarter. We made substantial shipments to customers like
Cisco, AT&T, Juniper, Hewlet-Packard ond NTT, as we are beginning to see broad
adoption of this technalogy by our customers and in the marketploce in general.
As o leade: in 10 Gigabil Ethernel testing, the continued posilive momentum of this

technology bodes well for Ixia’s future.

The growth and breadth of our product line hes allowed us fo expand our ad-

dressable market with our existing customer base and add new customers in

significant numbers. Cisco remains our largest cusiomer, driving $46.3 million

in revenues, but sales o customers cutside of Cisco increased 37% in 2006.
For the yeas, we shipped products to approximately 725 existing and new
customers, with 25 cusiomers ordering a million dollars or more of Ixia products.
These customers ranged from the leading network equipment manufocturers o

some of the lorgest government agencies and fortune 500 companies. Our top

Ixia 2006 Annual Report

Carriers represented
Ivia’s highest growth seg-
ment by bookings, in both
percentage anc collar
terms, during 2006.
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Carriers are making

significant investments
in their networks to pro-
vide advanced services,
like IPTV, and band-
width intensive applica-
tions are proliferating,
putting increased stress
on networks. MWe believe
all these are important

trends that should benefit

Txia going forward.

Iorten ta =il -

customers in 2006 included leading network equipment manufacturers such as
Alcateklucent, Juniper Networks, Nortel Networks, Hewlett-Packord, and Foundry
Networks; semiconducior manufociurers such as Intel, Broodcom, Agere Syslems,
and Texas Instruments; telephony equipment menufocturers such as Motorola,
Ericsson, and Samsung; voice and broadband service providers such os AT&T,
NTT, Bell Canada, Verizon, Telus Communications, and Gwest: cable opera-
tors such as Comcast Cable, Time Warner, and Cox Communications, and;
enterprises such as Fonnie Mae, Wachovio, British Broadcasiing Corporation,

and lehman Brothers.

While Ixia's operating results may fluctuste quarter to quarter, over the longer term
we are optimistic about Ixia’s growth prospects. The Company is in excellent
financial condition and we will continue to make largeted investments in our prod-
uct development capabilities. We believe that the overall spending environment
among our customers and potential customers looks favorable. Carriers are making
significent investments in their networks to provide advanced services, such as IPTV,
and bandwidih intensive applications, like uploading and downloading video
clips, are proliferating, putting increased stress on networks and resulting in grecter
demand for sophisticcted testing applications. We believe all these are importont

trends that should benefil Ixia going forward.

I'd like to offer my sincere thanks to our employees, directors, advisors, partners,
customers, and shareholders for their tremendous ongoing support during the post

yeor. We look forward to updating you on our progress in the coming year.

Sincerely,

Errol Ginsberg R~

President and Chief Executive Officer
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UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, DC 20549

Form 10-K
{Mark One)
¥l ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT O, 1 %34
For the Fiscel Yeor Enced December 31, 2004
OR
[] TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the tronsifion pariod from ___ to
Commission File Number 000-31523

IXTIA

(Exart name of Registrant as specified in ifs charter)

California 095-4635982
{State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or erganization) {LR.S. Emplayer Identification No.)

26601 West Agoura Road, Calabasas, CA 91302
{Address of principof executive offices, including 2ip code)

Registront’s telephone number, induding area code; (818) 871-1800

The NASDAQ Stock Market, LLC
(Name of Exchange on which Registered)

Securities registered pursuant fo Section 12(b) of the Act: Comman Stock, without par value
Sequrities registered pursuant fo Section 12(g) of the Act: None
Indicate by check mark if the Registront is o welkknown seasoned issuer, os defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Adt. Yes[ ] No[X]
Indicate by check mark if tha Registrant is not required to file seports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act. Yes[ ] No[X]

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant (1) has filed oll reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months {or for such
shorter period that the Registrant wos required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes[X] No[ ]

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuont ta Item 405 of Regulation S-K is not contnined hersin, and will not be contuined, to the best of Registront's knowledge, in definitive proxy or
information statements incorporated by reference in Port Il of this Form 10K or any amendment to this Form 10K, [X]

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant is a lorge occelerated filer, an accelerated filer, or o non-accelerated filer. See definition of “occelerated fiter ond lorge oceelarated filer” in Rule 12b-2 of the
Exchonge Act. Large occeleroted filer[ 1 Accelerated filer[X]  Non-accelerated filer[ ]

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant is o shell company (o defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act). Yes[ ] Ne[X]

The aggregate market volue of the shares of the Registrant’s Comman Stock held by nonaffiliotes of the Registrant as of June 30, 2006, computed by reference fo the clusing sofes price on the Nosdog
National Market on that date, was approximately $341,428, 960,

As of March 1, 2007, the number of shaees of the Registrant’s Common Stack autstonding was 67,439,845,

Documents Incoporated By Reference
Portions of the Registrant’s Proxy Statement delivered to shareholders in connection with the Annuol Meeting of Shoreholders o be held on
May 25, 2007 are incorporated by referenca into Part Il of this Annual Report.
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Part |

licin 1, Business

Overview

We are o leading provider of test systems for IP-based infrastructure and services that allow our customers to fest and measure the perfesmance, functiondlity,
service quality ond conformance of Intemet Protocol (IP) equipment and networks, and the appfications that run over them. Qur solutions generate, capture,
characterize, and analyze high volumes of reafistic network ond application raffic, exposing problems, assessing performance, ensuring functionolity and inferoper-
obilty, and verifying conformance to industry specifications. We offer hardware platforms with interchangeable troffic generation inferfuces, utlizing a common

sef of applications ond Applicafion Programming Intarfoces (APls) shat allow our custamers fo create integroted, eesytose automated test environments. The
networks our systems analyze incde Ethemt nefwarks operafing af speeds of up to 10 gigabits per second, which corry dara traffic over optical fiber o electrical
cable. Other networks include Packet aver SONET netwarks operating at speeds of up to 10 gigabits per second, which tronsmit information over high-speed
optical links and Asynchranous Tronsfer Mode (ATM) netwarks, operating o speeds of up to $22 megubits per second. We also offer o telephany test suite that

is used to test ond verfy troditional Time-Division Multiplexing (TDM) vaice based networks, Voice over IP technology, devices, and systems, s well as the intesop-
erobility, roubleshooting, service optimization and call traffic monitoring of Yideo Telephony. Customers also use our performance applications to fest and verify
wely, intemet, security, and husiness applications.

During the yeor ended December 31, 2006, we shipped product to approximately 725 existing and new customess, and bosed on product shipments for the yeor
ended Dacember 31, 2006, our significont customers by category included:

* Leading network equipment manufacturers such os Cisco Systems, AlcateHucent, Juniper Networks, Norte) Networks, Hewlett Packord, and Foundry
Networks;

» Semiconducior manufacturers such os Intel, Broadcom, Agere Systems, Texas Instruments, and Xilinx;

» Telephony equipment manufacturers such as Motorola, Ericssn, and Somsung;

» \oica and broadband service providers such os AFRT, NTT, Bell Canada, Verizen, Telus Communications, and Qwest;
« (abls operstors such as Comcast Cable, Time Worner, Cox Communications, and Charter Communications;

» Enterprises such os Fonnia Mae, Washovia, British Broodcosting Corporation, and Lehman Brothers inc.; and

» Goverment contractors, deparments and agencias such os Boeing, Lockheed Martin, loint Interoperabiity Test Commend (ITC), General Dynamics,
LS. Air Force, and MIT Lincoln Laboratory.

Communications and enfertainment delivery is ropidly moving to an IP infrastructure. To achieve “utility grode™ quality, this infrastructure must be tharaughly
tested under realistic conditions prior to deployment. Qur vision is to accelerate the convergence of all netwarks to IP by providing the most comprehensive, easy-
toruse and automated test systers in the industry. Key growth drivers indude the development and deployment of 10 Gigabit Ethemet, MPLS networks, Video
over IP Vaice over IP, security, wireless technology testing, Mefro Ethernet, and converged voice, video ond duta {riple play) services to the home. We intend

to maintain our focus on technology leadership, expand and further penetrote our customer bose, leverage our strengths info adjacent areas, acquire new key
technelagy, and expand our intemational presence.

The Increasing Need for Network and Application Testing and Measurement
The measurement and analysis of performance, functionality, intereperability, and conformance of networks, opplications, and communication devices is impartant
o the following groups:

 (ommunications Chip Monufacturers. A the early stoges of development of new technologies, Communications chip manufacturers use our fest
systems to evalvate and analyze the performance of their components during the design and development phase, typically prior to infegration by the
Equipment Manutacturers.
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» Fquipment Manufacturers, To meet the higher stondards specified by network operators and network users, equipment manufocturers who provide
vaice, video, data and oppiication senvice iffrastructure equipment must ensure the quality of their products during development and manufacturing
and prior to shipping. Failure to ensure the consistent functionofity and performance of their producis may rasult in the s of customers, increased
seseorch and development costs, incrense support costs and losses resulfing from the return of products. Equipment munjiudurers Use our est sys-
terms fo run lorge-scale subscriber ond service emulations, generating extreme troffic loods to verify the performance and 'cupucity of their IP-hesed
devices prior to deployment in production r{etworks. Our systems are also wsed by Equipment Monufacturers in the sales Pnd OKCEPtONCe Process to
demonstrate to #heir customers (Service Providers and Enterprises) how their products will operate under reakworld contlitions,

* Voite, video and broodband network aperators and service providers {Service Providers). Senvice Providers seek to provide their customers
with a growing variety of high quality network services. Foilure o provide safisfactory service can be costly and may result in high subscriber chum
rues ond reduced Average Revenue Per User (ARPU). To ensure desired service fevels and overall qualisy of experience e oceeptable, service
provider R&D and Netwaork Enginesring gn}ups must verify the performance cnd functionality of staged networks during IIhe equipment selection and
netwark design process prior fo deployment. Internet and network service providers use our fest systems to emulate millions of subscribers to reafist
cally predict end user quality of experience delivered by their 1P-based infrostructure and services. ncreaingly, Service Priwider operations groups

also use Ixia’s produtis to diagnose issues in their production networks by executing inervice tests similar to thase conductad prior to deployment.

» Enferprises ond Government. These Iurgfi Service Provider customers spend significant amounts on networks ond netwtl)rk sevices. They deploy
LANs and WANs thot rival Service: Provider networks in size and complaxity. These: customers use Ivia’s solutions in much the same way as Service
Providers, verifying the capabilities of network equipment ond making sure that new networks, services and opplications|will perform os expected.

Characieristics Demanded of Networkl and Application Test and Measureiment Equipinent
As networks and network devices become more intelligent and service-oware, performance, functionalidy, infaroperabifity, and conformance testing solutions

must reproduce subscriber troffic with increasing fidelity. Network testing solufions must also be highly scolable and copable of genereting and analyzing large
amounts of data ot high speeds over increasingly complex configurations, Comprehensive, infegrated testing must occur throughout nefwork design, development,
production, deployment, und aperation stoges. Becouse this testing and verification must foke place across mulfiple layers of the network infrestructure and for ol
network protacots, network testing slutions are also lequired to be highty flexible, extensible ond modulor. This ropid evohstion of cun%p!ex network technalogies
and protocols, including leading-edge technologies, such as 10 Gigabit Ethemet, Metro Ethernet, Voice over IF. and Video over IP has resulted in the need for an
integrated platform solufion that is easy to use with minjmol troising and setup.

The Ixin Solution
We are a feading provider of fest systems for IPbased infrusnucmre and services that allow our customers fo test end mecsure the performonce, functionality,
service quality and conformance of [nternet Protocol {IP) equipment and networks, and the applicotions thet un over them. Our solutions generate, capture,
characterize, ond analyze high volumes of realistic netwhrk and applicatian traffic, exposing problems, assessing performance, ensuring functionality and interoper-
ability, ond verifying conformance to industry speciﬁcuﬁt{ns. We offer hordware platforms with inteschangeable trafic generation interfces, ufilizing a common

set of applications and Applicotion Programming Intarfoces {APts) that ollow our customers o crente integrated, easy-to-use uuTomuteF test environmens. The
networks our systems analyze inclide Ethernet networks operating at speeds of up to 10 gigabits per second, which carry dato troffic over optical fiber or electrical
coble. Other netwarks include Pocket over SONET neMulfks operafing at speeds of up to 10 gigabits per second, which tronsmit im‘orrpurion over high-speed
opticol links and Asynchranous Tronsfer Mode (ATM) networks, operating af speeds of up to 622 megabits per second. We also offer  telephony fest suite that

is used to test and verify traditional Time-Division Mulfiplexing (TDM) voice bused networks, Voice over IP fechnology, devices, and syr1 tems, 0s well s the interog-
erability, roubleshooting, service optimization and coll troffic monitoring of Video Telephany. Customers also use our performonce nppritntinns to fest and varily
web, intemet, security, and business applications.

Qur test systems provide the foltowing key benefits to our customers;

Versatile High Performante. O systems generate and receive data traffic ot wire speed, which is the maximum rate that datn haffic can be transmitted over
the netwark. Qur systems provide accurote anabysis acrass multiple leyers of the overol netwark and of individval network components in real time, that is, as the
transmissian is actually accurring, Qus systems can be canfigured 1o either generate packets of data, to group those packets into sessipns, or to generate pseude-
random binary sequences.
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When configured to generote packets of data, our systems analyze each discrete pocket of information, thereby ollowing our cuskomers ta precisely measure the
performance of their networks and individual network components. This precision allows customers to accurately measure cifical quality of service porometers such
os throughput, latency, loss, and jitter ond to check data infegrity und packet sequence throughout the network, as well as to locote various network problems.

When configured to group packets of dotu into meaningful application sessions, or conversations between network endpains, ow systems emulote highly complex
ond specialized applicafions such as thase used 16 kansfer electronic mail, browse the intemet, convey voice and video informatien, and monoge databases. This
enulotion allows our customers to accurately mensure critical chorocteristics of their ratworks such as session setup rate, session tear down rate, and session
copocity. By anclyzing the content of these sessions, our customers can also accurately measure Quality of Service and media quality.

When configured to generate psevde-andom bit streoms, our systems analyze each individual bit to measure the bit emor rate of test sequences, therehy allowing
our customers to precisely meosure ertical physick transpart charocreristics of their networks. Our systems olso allow users fo precisely repent complex test
scenerios in order o evaluate the impoct of changes made to network equipment ond systems,

Highly Scalable. Eoch of our interfoce cards provides ane or more parts through which our systems generate and recefve data traffic. Each physical port contoins
its own dedicated Yogic circuits, with no shared resources. Our customers can easity scale the size of their test bed o the omount of doto fraffic generated by in-
serfing additional inferfoce cords. By connacting multiple chassis and synchronizing up to thousands of ports o operate simultaneously, ur customers can simulare
extremely large-scale networks. We believe that our systems offer our customers the highest port density and most scaloble space- and energy-efficient systems
available. In addition, aur client-server architecture allows multiple users in the some or different geographic locatians to simultangousty access and operate differ-
ent ports tontained in the same chassis to run independent tests.

Highly Customizabfe. Each of our curent generation of interface cards includes o microprocessor for each interface port. This microprocessor uses the LINUX
opernfing system, enabling us to rapidly develap test applications and fo recompile code from owr partner companias or acquisitions for use on our platform. In od-
difian, ous users con run their existing softwase opplicotions on their Ixio hardware, o write new software applications for it. We believe that the use o this open
and welknown operating system makes it easy for our customers to customize their performance analysis systems to their specic needs.

Hordware Platform. Qur solutions typically operste on a single hardware platform with interchangeable interfoces, utilizing o common st of applications and
Application Progromming Interfaces (APIs). Qur orchitecture encbles the emulation of millions of retwark users on a single scalable platform, with o mixture of
both network ond application layer traffic, This architecture offers our customers an integroted fest environment that might otherwise require multiple products to
cover the same test scenasios. This decreases overall cost while increasing productivity and reducing training requirements.

Highly Medular. Qur hardware products consist of stackable ond portable chassis, which, depending on the chassis madel, can be configured with any mix of up
to 16 of our intesface cards. This modular design ollows our customers fo quickly and eastly create reatistic, customized test configurations. Our open orchitecture
nccelerates integration of odditional network technologies info existing systems through the addition of new interfuce cards and distributed software.

Flexible, Qur custormers con easity expand the wse of our systems to addsess changing technalogies, protocols and applications without changing system hardware
or replacing interface cords. For exemple, o customer con reconfigure our systems thiough software changes downlonded from our website. A customer might
dowrlond these changes to fest new network protacols or fypes of equipment. This profects and opfimizes the Customers’ investment by eliminating the need for
“forkfift upgrodes” or the purchase of additional niche products,

Open Architecture. Our apen architecture allows our custemess 1o quickly customize, automate and extend our platform. Our customers use our APls and
Software Development Kits (SDKs) to centally manage, protect, automate, and extend their ever-expanding testing environments.

Fasa of Automation. Qut systems make it easier o crente automated tests that can run unattended on nights, weekends, and holidays. We offer our customers a
growing librocy of automated tests that simplify and sreamline the test process. These tests are repeatable ond the results are presenied in o structured format for
easy analysis. Ixio’s Tool Commend Language (Fc) Application Programming Interface (APY) is o comprehensive programming interface to our hardwore, s well
as fo our safrware applications. The T API enables Kbraries of outomated tests fo be quickly built with specificity fo a customer's environment. We also offer o
utility that exports configurations created in our grophical user inferface (GUI) os Tdl scripts.
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tase of Use. We have designed our systems so that users can install and operate them with minime! troining and setup. Ow systems are easy fo use ond offer
our customers o wide range of rendily accessible pre-designed test configurations. These tests include industry standard and use cose-spacific fests. Users can
easily configure and operate our systems to generate and analyze dato roffc over any combination of interface corcs of ports through qur grophical user interfoce

thot features o familiar Microsoft Windows point-and-cick envisonment. Once fests are designed in our GUIs, they can be saved for reus
customization and even greater levels of automation,

Strategy

or in Td! script form for

Our ub|echve is fo be the industry leader in providing perfurmunce functionality, and conformance testing solutions for P networks ond IP-based services. This
includes next generation technologies such as 10 Gigabit Ethernet Metro Ethernet, Voice over i® and Video over IP. Key elements of our strategy to achieve this

objective include the following:

Continue to Expand Our Addressable Markess. We plon to further expand our addressable morkets into oreas of growth for 1P-bosed p
os content-aware routing and switching, secure virual pnvme networks, nefwarks that carry Voice, Video and Dota over [P (or tommonly

oducts and sesvices, such
referred to in the og-

gregate os Triple Play), Wireless and next-gensrtion networkmg technologies. We believe that we con leverage our core competencies in high-speed transmission

miatocols int leadesship positiens as more aetwarks ond dehver\f of services migsate to P

Maintain Focus on Technotogy Leadership. We infend to cunnnue to focus on research end development in order to maintain our techriology leadership position

and to offer pedormonce analysis systems that address ne ond evolving netwark rechnologies. We intend to mointain an active rola in
miftees such as the Internet Engineering Task Force ond to!confinue aur active involvement in industry forums, such os the Meho Etherne

ndustry stondards com-
t Forum, WiFi Alliance,

and WiMAX Forum. We also plan to continue to work closely with customers who are developing emesging network techologies, mdudllng (isco Systems,
Hewdett Packard, NTT, Alcatel, and Nortel Networks, as well 0s leading edge startup companies, to enhance the performance and functianality of our existing

systems and to design future products that specifically uddvrss our customers needs as they evolve.

Expand and Further Penetrate Custamer Base, We plun fo strengthen and further penetrate qur existing customer relationships, pastic

larly those with network

equipment manufocturers, cariers and internet service prov ders ond o pursue sales to new customers, We plan to strengthen our customer relafionships and o

expand aur customer base by:
* (onfinuing fo develop and offer new and inngvative systems that meet our existing and potentiol customers’ needs;
» Expanding our sales ond markefing efforts fo increase penetration in under-represented vertical and geagraophic morket seqn
* Building upon ond further strengthening our erumﬁon ond brand name recognition.

We also plan to continue our focus on customer support by maintaining ond expanding the capobilities of our highly qualified and special

nents; and

red internal personnel.

License and Acquire Key Technologies. We plan fo confinge our strategy of acquiring key technologies that expond our product offerings, address customer
needs, and enhance the breadth of our evolving product por{lolio Any such aequisitions moy be made in the form of parmering with indusiry leaders, acquiring or

licensing technology assets assaciated with product fings, 0

or.ocquiring other companies. In January 2006, we completed the acquisition of the mobile video ond
multimedia test produc fines of privately-held Dilithium Networks. In addition, in June 2006, we completed the acquisition of certain technology fram Bedl Conada,

Expand International Marke! Presence. We plan to pursue sales in key internationad merkets, induding the Furope, Middle Fost ond Afncu region, and the Asia
Pacific region. In arder to pursuz sales in these morkats, welntend to continge fo develop ond expand ow relosionships with key customels and distribastors, 05
well as expand our direct soles and markesing presence within these markets. In 2006, we expanded cur sales and morketing teams in Europe, China, and India

ond plan for further expansion in these arens in 2007.

Products
Cur product ling is primaily mode up of network traffic geneirurion ond perfarmance enolysis systems that simulaze lrge-scole networks apd of stond-tlane
software opplications that allow our customers to verify the performance, funcionality, inferaperability, and conformonce of their products

to industry stondards.
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Qus systems consist lozgely of interchungeable interface cacds which fitinto a muiislot chassis. Qur chossis are metal cases thot incorperate @ computer, a power
supply, and o backplane, which connects the interface cards to the chossis. The interface cards generate, receive and analyze o wide variety of traffic types at
mulfple network layers. The softwore for these systems includes management software and applicafionvspecifc fest suites.

The operator can ufilize our systems in either test labs or within networks. Qur systems are operoted thiough standord computer peripherol devices. These devices
include o monior, keyboard, and mouse. The operator of our systems estoblishes test porameters for the performance onalysis by inputting data using the
keyboard and mouse. The aperator observes the results of the performance analysis using the monitor end moy log resuits to files fox postanalysis or archival. A
operctions that con be done interactively mey olso be automated through a variety of scripting interfuces and automation tools.

The aperator configures our systems based on the specific interfaces of he network equipment being tested. For example, if the operator wants to anclyze the
pesformance of a router with Ethemet inferfaces, the operator would insert Ethernet interfoce cards into our system.

Chassis

Qur primary chassis is the Optixio X16 chassis, which provides o highly flexible, scaloble, and extensible next generafion platform on which 0 fest system can be
built, Each chossis supposts on infeqrated test contraller that manages all system and festing resousces. A wide orray of interfoce cards is ovnitable to populate the
chassis. The 16 slots support densitis of up to 128 Gigabit Eteme ports, up to 16 10 Gigabit Ethernet parts, and up to 32 Pocket over SONET (POS) ports.
These madules provide the network interface and distibuted processing resources nieeded for executing o broad range of dofa, signafing, voice, video, ond applico-
fion testing from Loyers 2-7. The abiliry to monage tesfing down to the port level coupled with the abifity 1o hot-swap intesface cords ensures o highly flexble,
mulfiuser festing emvironment.

Oux newest chassis, the 12-slot Opfixia XM12, provides o high density, ighty Rexible test plotform. Oerating in conjunction with the Aptixia famiy of test
applications, the Optixio XM 12 provides the foundation for o complete, high performance fest enviranment. A wide arroy of interfoce modules ore ovailable for the
Optixio XM12. The chassis supports up fo 144 Gigabit Ethemet ports, 36 — 10 Gigabit Etemet ports, and 24 Packet over SONET (POS) or Asynchronous Trons:
for Mode (ATM) ports. Thesa modules provide the network interfaces and distributed processing resources needed for execufing o brood range of data, signaling,
oice, video, and applcation tesfing from Layers 27, Each chassis supparts an infegroted test controller that manages all system and testing resources. Resource
ownership down to 0 perport level coupled with hot-swappable interfoce modules ensures o highly flexible, mulfruser testing environment, Backward compatibility
is maintained with exisfing lxia inferface modules and test applications fo provide seamless migration from and integration with existing beia test installotions.

Interface Cards

We offer o number of optical and electrical intecface cards. Each one of our interfuce cards contains from one to twenty-four independent traffic generation and
analysis ports. These porfs operate ot wire speed, the maximum rate that dato traffic can be fransmitted over the network. Each port on ench inferface cord has

0 unique fransmit stream enging that is used to generate either packets of informetion or pseudo random it streoms, and a reoktime receive onalysis engine
capable of analyzing the packets or bt streams as they ore being received. The sansmit stream engine generates milions of IP data packets or confinuous test
sequences ot wire speed thot ore fransmitted theough the network and received by the analysis engine. When duta pockets have besn genernted, the analysis
engine then measures throughput, Yafency, loss and jiter, ond checks dato integrity and packet sequence on o packeHby-packet basis. When bit streams hove been
generuted, the analysis engine measures the bit error rate of test sequences. In addition, our systems meosure the effectiveness of netwarks in prioritizing differ-
ent types of naffic. Fach of our current generation interfuce cards olso includes o micraprocessor per port to generate ond analyze sophisticated routing protocols,
such as BGP and OSPF, as well as opplicotion traffic such as TCP/IR, HTTP and SSL

System Management Soltware

Qur systems are manoged through geaphical user intesfaces that allow users to configure our chassis ond interfoce cords to generote and anatyze faffic. Eoch
port can be independently confiqured to meet specific esting requirements, and results can be viewed using both fables ond graphs. We also allow users to
wreate custom ond automated test opplicafions fuilored to meet their spedic requirements with the commonly used Tool Commond Language (Td) programining
environment.
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Application Specific Test Sulies

We hove o comprehansive suite of software applications to address specific merket segments. These applications measure end anolyze lhe performance, funclion-
ality, inferoperability, and conformance of networks, newhik equipment and applications that run on these networks. These meusuremdms enable natwork and
selephony equipment monufacturers, emterprises, internat ond network service providers, and goverments to evoluote the peffﬁrmﬂntelnf ther squipment ond
netwarks during the design, manufocture, ond predeployment stoges, os well as after the equipment are deployed in a network. Our segment-specific fest suites

are torgeted af g wide ronge of popular esting sequirements:

Fideo Testing

Apfixia Ixtood tests the performance of video servers, mul[imsr routers, ond the IP video defivary network. This is accomplished by emulafing video servers and

millians of viden subscribars in Video an Demand ond Malficast Video scenuﬂus._Protoco!s supported include MPEG, IGMP and RESP

[xMobile is ¢ complete 36-3248,/H.324M diognostic taol that provides interoperability testing, troubleshooting, service optimization unF

video telephony call

traffic monitoring copablities, It is essentially a 4 in 1 tool; providing capabilties for emulation, onalysis, monitoring and QoS with call seporting,

IxChariat tests the video ransport network. This is occomplished by emulcfing video trcffic, and measuring end-o-end videa quality. Meds
thraughput, lafency, {itter, ond Media Delivery Index (MDI),

Voice Testing

urements indude

IxVoice tests the functionality of ValP and PSTN devices and services. This is accomplished by emulating end devices and servers, Testing areas supported include

SI2 SCCP (Skinny), H.323, MGCP, H.248 (MEGACD), os \Lell as TDM and analog felephony services,

Aptixia txLoad tests the performance of SIP devices ond inffestructure. This is occomplished by emuloting thausands of SIP callers and caiees in performance

testing scenorios.

IxChoriot tests the vaice transport network. This is accomplished by emulating voice treffic, and measuring end-to-end voice: quality. Measruemems include

throughput, lufency, jitfer, and Mean Opinion Score (MOS)

Intelligent Network Testing
Aprixia 1xLoad tests the performance of content-oware networks and devices ineluding Server Load Boloacers (LB}, Firewalls, Web Serve
is accomplished by emulating millions of clients ead o vurie}v of servers in reelistic performance testing scenarios. Protocols supported in
SHATP POP3, IMAP RTP RSP Telnet, NS, LDAP. DHCP, SIP; MPEG, and IGMP. os well os Distributed Denial Of Service (DDoS} aftacks.

Conformance Testing
IXANVL provides autamaoted network /protacol validation, Developers and manufacurers of networking equipment and Inernet devices ca

rs, oid Mail Servers. This
uda TCP. HTTP. SSL, FTP,

n use IxANVL to validote

profocol complignce ond interoperobility. NV supports o industry standord test interfoces inchuding 10,/100,/16,/100 Etheings, MMi Seniol, Asyne, T1/E1

and POS. It provides conformance, negative, and regressiur‘ festing on g lorge selection of profocols including Bridging, Routing, PPR, TCP,
RMON, YPN, MPLS, Voice over IP. Metro Ethernet ond Multitost.

Security Testing
Aptixia IxLood tests the pedformance of stateful and deep packet inspection security devices, including Firewalls, SSL Gateways, Virus Sco
Intrusion Datection Systems (IDS}. This is accomplishad by {f.muluting clients and servars, as well os Distibuted Denial Of Service (000S)
include the ability to mix valid user troffic with malicious troffic, and attoching viruses to emails.

Application Testing

P [Pvé, IP storage,

nners, Spam Filters, and
attucks, Key copobilities

Aptixia IxLocd tests the performance of enterprise applications. This is accomplished by emulafing a large numbes of real users occessing applications. Technologies

supported include lavaScript, XML, Javo, Document Object Mode! (DOM), and dotabasas (Oracle, SQL, Access).
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9.

Router Testing

Aptixga IxNetwark tests core/edge,/customer routers ond Layer 3 switches. This is occomplished by emulating entire network infrostructures ond generating high
taffic foads ocross thes emuleted ropologies to vesify performance. Pratacols supported include 1GPs (OSPF, ISS, RIP), BGP, MPLS (including L2/3 YPNs), and
[P Muticost.

Aptixia [xAutomate is en automated test hamess that can run turnkey tests using bxia’s underlying APLs. Muliple fumkey test suites ore ovalable to execute
cantrol and data plone pesformance and functionality testing. Tests include raute capacity, route convergence, session scalability, tunnel scalabiity, and doto plane
parformonce,

Layer 2-3 Security Testing
IXVPM fests 1PSac VPN gateways and systems, This is accomplished by establishing and authenticating IPSec tunnels, then generating traffic load over the funnels
to verify performonce. Site-tosite and remote occess VPN testing is supported, as well as DES, 3DES, and AES encryption.

|xAuthenticate tests devices supporting 302.1x cuthentication. This is accompished by high scalable emulation of 802 1x dients (supgliconts). Authentication
modes supported include MDS5, TLS, TILS, and PEAP.

Switch Testing
Aptixia IxNetwork tests Layer 2-3 switches and forwarding devices. This is accomplished by generating troffic lood ocross @ mesh of inierfuces, and then megsuring
resuits down fo o per flow basis, Protocols supported include Spanning Tree, mulficast, and IP routing.

Aptixia fxAutomate tests Loyer 2-3 switches in an automated foshion. A set of predefined test suites is used to execute performance and functionality tests. Tests
include data plane pefarmante, QoS funcionality, address coche tests, eror filtesing, ond VLAN functionality.

IXExplorer tests Layer 2-3 switches and forwarding devices. This is accomplished by generating traffic lood with very granulor control of packet porameters ond
detuiled resufts anclysis. Measurements indude throughput, latency, inter-orrivol fime, data integrity, and sequence checking.

Wirefess Testing
IXWLAN fests B02.11 access points ond wireless switches. This is accomplished by emulating wireless dients, ond then genereting tiaffic through thase dlients
with other lxia applications. Comprehensive security and authentication support inchdes WEF, WPA, 802.11i, and 802.1x.

IxMobile is o complese 36-324M/H.324M dingnostic tool that provides interoperability testing, troubleshooting, service optimizotion and video telephony call
traffic monitaring capabilities. It is essentially a 4 in 1 taok, providing capailities for emulation, analysis, monitoring and QoS with call reporting.

IxChariot tests the wireless transport netwark. This is accomplished by emulating epplication raffic — whether dato, voice, or video — and measuring end-o-
end performance and quoity. Measurements includs throughput, latency, jitter, Mean Opinion Score (MOS), and Medio Defivery Index (MDI),

Broadband Testing
IAccess fests broadband oggregation deviees including B-RAS, DSLAMs, CMTSs, and edge routers. This is accomplished by emulating millions of broodband clients
and generating traffic load oves those connections. Protocol support includes PPPoE, PPPoA, L2TPv2, ond L2TPV3.

IxChariot tests the broadband access transport netwark. This is accomplished by emulating application maffic — whether datn, voice, or video — and meosuting
end-o-end performance ond quality. Measutements incude throughput, lntency, fitter, Mean Opinion Score (MOS), and Media Defivery Index (MDI).

Autornated Testing

Aptixia Iehutomate provides o complets automation environment for testing Layer 2-3 routers, swifches, and similar devices. A set of predefined test suites is
provided to execute performance ond funclionality tests. Multiple tests, whether predefined or custom develaped, con be scheduled for execution together with
configuration of the device under test.
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Agtixia Test Conductor is o comprehensive, highly scalable regression scheduling hamess which is compafible with ather key Ixia test

Is. Aptixia Test Conductor

imparts tests, ossaciates them with o nomed regression, lfmd ollows detailed schedufing attributes to be defined. Tests can be schedule ! in series or in poralfel
based on o Windows ™ Outlook-ke colendor tool. Atrglance logs and summary reports aflow the enginer fo see color-<oded msﬁ?ﬂ triterio, os well as the
progress of the tests within each regression. Autorated Device Under Test (DUT) configuration seripts also ccn be scheduled fo run in synchronization with the

individual tests of with complete regression runs.

Our Tel Automation Envirsnment provides o comprehensive set of tooks and APts for automating testing with our hardware ond softwara applieations. Custom test

a . . . [, L . .
librories covering all of o customes’s Luyer 2-7 testing requirements can be created in o single automation environment,

SciptGen is o tool that automatically generates Td script code from Ixia testing system configurations. This accelemtes the developmen
helps train new users in the Ixia Td APL.

In-Service Diagnostics
s cariers deploy triple ploy services, their existing SUppGH systems are less capable of diagnosing application layer problems. lxia’s RA
tion Engine) system allows corriers and service providers to execute pre-defined tests using any of Ixio's applications from o webrbased
integrated info their existing infroshructure.

Prodnets in Development
We confinue to develop our IP testing capabilities, ond throughout 2007 we intend to remain fecused on improving our position in perl
interopernbility, and confarmance testing in the following technology areas:

® Gigobit Ethemet

* 10 Gigobit Ethernet
» (arrier / Mefro Ethernet
AW

®loyer 4 —7

* MPLS

o yPtS

* Multicost

® |Pvb

= Yoice over [P

» Video over IP

* |PSec

® 551

» Deniok of Service

o WiFi

* WiMaAX

* Mobile Wireless IP

t of qutomation code and

VE (Remote Access Verficor
confrol system that can be

ormange, functional,

= [MS

We mny deloy or concel the infroduction of new product; to the market as o result of a number of factors, some of which are beyond our control. For more
information regarding these factors, see “Business — Research ond Development™ an page 13 ond “Risk Factors — If we ore unub'e 10 successtully introduce
new products to keep pace with the rapid technologicol thanges that chorncterize qur market, our results of operations will be significTnHy harmed” on poge 14.

Technology

The design of all of our systems requires a combination qu sophisticated technical competencias, including design of field pmgrummublia qate arrays, o FPGAs,
which are integrated drcuits that can be repeatedly reprogrommed to perform different sefs of functions os required. The design of oll of qur systems also requires
high-speed digitol hardwore design, software engineering and opfical and mechanical engineering. We have built an orgonization of p‘ofessiunul staff with skills in
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afl o these areos. The integrotion of these technieal competencies enobles us o design ond manufacture performance analysis systems which ore highly scaloble
to mest the needs of our customers,

Complex Logic Design. Ou systems use FPGAs thot are programmed by the host computer and thesefore con be reconfigured for diferent pplications. Our new-
est products hove clock frequencies, which are the fiming signals that syncheonize oll components within our system, of up to 344 megaheriz, and logic densities,
which are the number af individual switching components, o gotes, of mare than four million gates per chip. Our customers can download new features ond

enhancements from our website using o web browser that runs on cur system, thereby allowing rapid updates of the system. Almost all of our logic is designed in
the YHOL hardware description longuoge, which is & wique programming language tailored o the development of logic chips. This language encbles the easy m-
grofion of the hordwore design to application specific integrated circuits as volumes warrani, We develop VHDL code in o modulow fashion for reuse in lagic design,
which compiises o critical partion of our inteflectuol property. This reusable technology allaws us to reduce the time-te-market for our new and enhonced products.

Software Technology. We devote substuntial engineering resources to the development of saftware technology for use in our product lines. We have developed
software to control aur systems, anolyze datu collected by our systems, and manitor, mainiain and selftest our hordwore and field programmabie gute array
subsystemns. & majority of qur software technotogy and expertise is focused on the use of obijectoriented development technigues to design saftware subsystems
that can be reused ocrass multiple producs fines. These abjects are client and server independent allowing for distibuted network applications. This softwere orchi-
tecture olfows oll of the software tools developed for our existing products to be wtilized in oll of our new pradudts with very littie modification. Another impartont
component of our saftware technology is our graphical user interface design. Customer experience with our test products hos enabled us to design o simple yet
effective method fo disploy complex configurations in dear ond concise grephical user interfaces for iniuitive use by engineers.
Customers
During the period from our incorporation in May 1997 through Decembes 31, 2006, we have shipped our systems to over 1,500 customers. No customer other
than Cisco Systems occounted for more than 10% of our tatol revenves in 2006, 2005 or 2004. Cisco Systems accounted for 25.7% of our tatal revenues in
2004, 35.2% of aur tatal revenues in 2005 and 31.6% of our total revenues in 2004,
We do not have loag-term contracts with our customers, ond they may reduce or discontinue their purchoses at any fime,
Compretition
The market for netwark pesformunce measurement and analysis systems for use in the high<peed data communications industry is highly compefitive, and we
expect this competition to increase in the future. We currently compate with test equipment manufacturess such os Agilent Technologies, Spirent Communications,
and Anritsy. We olso compete with @ number of small companies which are focused on network performance measurement, wireless and IMS, ond In-Service Test.
We believe that the principal competitive foctors in our market include:

® price and overoll cost of product ownership;

» timeliness of new product inoductions;

» praduct quality, reliability and pedformance;

« gose of instollation, integration and use;

« breodth of product offerings ond features on o single platform;

» customer service and technical support; and

 company reputation and size.
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W believe that we compete fovorably in the key compesifive factors that impact our markets. We intend fo remain competitive thraugh ongoing research aad
development efforts to enhance existing systems and o d;evelop new systems. We will olso seek to expand our market presence through merkefing and sales
efforts. However, our market is still evolving and we may pot be able to compete successfully agoinst current or future competitors.

We expect compefition to incrensa significantly from exisﬁrg providers of network performance mensurement and anclysis products andjfrom companies thot moy
enter o existing or future markets. And as we mave into.new market segments within the brooder testing arena, we will be challeng ] by new compefitors.
These companies may develop similor or substitute solutions that may be more cost-effective or provide befter peformance or funcﬁunut[ry than our sysiems. Also,
as we brooden our product offerings, we may move info new markets in which we will hove to compete oguinst companies alieady estoblished i those morkets.
Some of our existing and pofential competitors have longer operating historiss, significantly greater financial, marketing, service, suppnr}, techmical and other
resources, significantly greater nome recognition and o Iurgler installed bose of customers than we do. In addition, many of our competitars hove well established
retationships with our current ond potential customers ond rwe extensive knowledge of our indusiry. it is possible that new competitors or lfionces omang
competitors will emerge ond ropidly ocquire market share. Mareaver, our competitors may censolidate with each other, or with ather conlmunies, giving them evan
greater capabilities with which to compete ogoinst us.

To be successtul, we must continug to respond promptly and effectively 1o the challenges of changing customer requirements, 1echno|ogin|ul advonces ond compti-
tors' innovations. Accordingly, we cannat predict whot our selofive competitive position will be as the market evolves for network pedormance measurement and
anglysis systems,

Sales, Marketing and Technical Support
Safes. We use our global divect sales force to market and sell our systems. In addition, we use disbuiors fo complement our direct soles and marketing efforts in
certoin intamational morkets. Our total revenues from interI ational product shipments were $57.3 million in 2006, S40.9 million in 2005, and $29.1 million in
2004. Our ditect sales force maintmins close cantact with ﬂ[:l tustomers and supparts our distrbutars.

Marketing. We have o number of programs fo support the sale ond distribution of our systems ond to inform existing and potentiol customers ond distributors
about the copebilities and benefits of our systems, Qur muri:eting efforts also include pramoting our business in the folfowing ways;

* sponsoring technical seminars that highlight ol solusions;
* narticipating in industry trade shows and technical conferences;
» communicating frough our corporate website] ond

* advertising in trade journals.

Technical Support. We maintoin a technically knowledgeable and responsive ustomer service and support stoff that is eritical to our development of long term
customer selgtionships. This steff can:

» offer solufions for performance validation needs;
* develap custom applications of our company headquarters;
» deploy to customer sites on short nofice; and

® pravide training to opfimally ufifize aur systems.
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Manufacturing

Our manufacturing operotions consist primarily of materials planning and procurement, quality contral, logistics, final essembly and testing and distribution. We
outsource the monufacture and assembly of printed circuit board assemblies, certain interface cards and certain chassis to third party contract manufcturers and
assembly companies. This manufocturing process enables us i opetate without substantiat space and personnel dedicoted to manufacuring operations. As o
result, we can conserve a significant portion of the working capitol and capital expenditures that may be required for other aperating needs.

We ore dependent upon sole o limited spurce suppliers for key components and parts used in our systems, induding field programmable gate arrays, <hips,
oscillators and optical modules. We and our contrack manufachurers purchase components theough purchose orders and have na guaranteed or long-term supply
arrongements with our respective suppliers. In addition, the ovailability of many componients is dependent in part on aur abiliry and the chility of our contract
manufacturers and assembly componies to provide suppliers with accurate foracasts of future requirements, Any extended interruption in the supply of ony of the
key components currenity obttined from o sole or limited source or delay in kansitioning fo o replacement supplier's product or replocement component info our
systems could disrupt our operations and significantly harm our business in any given period,

Leod times for mateioks and components ordered by us and by ous contioet manufcturers vory ond depend on factors such as the specific supplier, contrad terms
ond demand for o companent at a given time. We and our conract manufucturers ocquire materials, complete standard subassemblies and assemble fully-config-
ured syssems based on sales forecasts ond historical purchasing patteens. f orders do not match forecasts or substantially deviote from historical pattems, we and
our contract monufachurers may hiove excess or inadequate inventory of materials and components.

Research and Development

We believe thot research nd development is critical fo our business. Qv development efforts incude anficipafing and addressing the performonce anolysis needs
of network equipment manufacturers, infernat and metwork service providers, communications <hip manufocturers and netwark users, and focusing on emerging
high growth network technologies.

Qur future success depends on our obility to continue to enhance our existing products and to develop produtts that address the needs of our customers. We
closely manitor changing customes needs by communicating and working directty with our customers ond distributars. We also receive input from aciive participa-
tion in industry groups respansible for establishing technica! stondards.

Bevelopment schedules for technology products ore inherently difficult to predict, ond we connot be certoin that we will infroduce ony proposed new products in a
fimely foshicn. Also, we cannot be certain that our product development efforts will result in commercially successful products or that our products will not contain
software ermors or other performance problems or be rendered obsolete by chonging rechnology or new product announcements by other companies.

We plon o continue to make significont investments in research and development, including intermationol investments where we currently aperate development
fagilifies in Buchorest, Romanio ond Kolkato, Indio. Ou reseaich and development expenses wese 543.5 million in 2006, $32.4 million in 2005 and $25.0 mik
fion in 2004. These costs included stack-bosed compensation expense of $6.5 millian in 2006 and $271,000 in 2004. There wos no stock-based compensafion
expense in 2005.

limellectaal Property and Proprictary Righis

Our success and ablity to compete are dependent in part upon our abdity to protect ond meintain our propretary rights fo cur inteflectual property. We currently
rely on o combination of potent, rademark, rade secret ond copyright lows and restrictions on disclosure o estoblish end protect our intellectua property. We
have patent applications and existing potents in the United States ond in other jurisdictions. We connot be cestuin thot those opplications will result in the issuonce
of any patents, or that ony such patens, if they are issued, or our existing patents, will be upheld. We olso connot be certain that such patents, if issued, or our
existing patens, will be effective in protecting our proprietary technotogy. We have registered the txia name, the Ixio lago and certuin other trodemorks in the
United States and in the European Union, and have filed for registration of odditienal trademarks.

We generally enter into confidentiolity agreements with our officers, employees ond consultants. We also generafly fimit eccess to and distribution of our souice
tode ond further limit the disclosure and use of other proprietary information. However, these measures provide only imited pratection of cur intellectual property
rights. tn addition, we may not hove signed ogreements containing edequute pratective provisions in every case, and the conractuol provisions thot e in place
moy not provide us with adequate protection in all circumstonces.
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Despite: our effarts to protect our propriefary rights, unauthorized parties may uitempt fo copy or otherwise obtoin or use technology that we regord os proprietary.
Wa cannot be certain that the steps taken by us to protect our praprietary rights will be adequate fo prevent misoppropriation of our technology or that our conr
petitors wil not independently develop technologies Hrat are similas or superior to our technology. In addition, the laws of some foreign kountries o not protect
our proprietory rights to the same extent as do the lows of the United States. Any infringement of our proprietary rights could result in significant itigation casts,
and any foilure to adequately protect our proprietary rights could result in our competitors offering similar praducts, potentially resulfing n foss of compefitive
adventoge and decreased revenues. Litigation may be fecessory ta enfosce our intellectual property rights or to determine the validity ond scape of the proprigtary
rights of others. Lifigation of this type could resuft in substontialcosts and dversion of resources and could significantty harm our business.

The telecommunication and dato communications industrigs are characterized by the existence of o losge number of patents and frequent litigation bused on
allegations of patent infringement. From time to fime, thind parties may assert patent, copyright, trademark and other inteflectuat propefty rights to technologies
that are important to our business. We hove not conduc!ed a senrch fo defermine whether the technology we have in our products infringes or misoppropriates
infellectual property held by third porties. Any claims nssemng that our systerns infrnge or may infringe proprietory rights of third parfies, if determined odversely
to us, could significantly harm our business.

Einplovees
As of Decernber 31, 2006, we had approximately 750 fullfime employess. We also from fime fo fime hire temporory and portfime en‘ployees and independent
contractors, Our future perfarmance depends, to a significant degres, on our continued obility fo attract and retin highly skilled and quolfied techaical, soles and
marketing, and senior monagement personnel. Qur employees ose not represented by any labor unions. We consider cur relations with qur employees ta be good,

Available Information
Qur website oddress is www.ixiacom.com. We make available free of charge through o link pravided at such website our Forms. 1 K, 10-0 ond 8 as well os any
amendments therefo. Such reports ore cvoiloble os soon g reasonably procticoble after they are filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission,

ltem 1AL Risk Factors
The statements thot are nof historical facts contained in this Farm 10 are forwarHooking statements within the meaning of the Privata Securities Lifigation
Reform Act of 1995. These statements reflect the current hehef expectations or intent of our manogement and are subject to ond mvoiJe certain risks ond uncer
rainties. Many of these risks ond uncertuinties ore outside Eﬂ our control and are dificult for us to forecost or mitigate. In oddition to the nsks described ebsevihere
in this Form 10:K and in certain of our other Securities und Exchangs Act Commissien filings, the following imporfaat factors, omong others could couse our octual
results to differ materially from those expressed or implied by us in ony forwardHooking statements contoined herein or made elsewhere by or on behalf of us,

Because we depend on a limited numbey of cusunners for a majority of our revenes. any capeellation. redue-
tion or delay in purchases by these custpmers could significantly harny our revenues and resplts of aperations
Historically, a small number of customers has accounted fof a significant porfion of our fofal tevenues. Speciically, sales to our largest customer, Cisco Systems,
accounted for 25.7% of our total revenues in 2006, 35.2% of our total revenues in 2005 and 31.6% of ou total revenues in 2004, We expect that significont
customer concentration will continue for the foreseeable futuee and that our operating resulfs will continue to depend o o significant extent upon revenues from o
small number of customers,

Our dependence on lorge orders from a limited number of Customers makes our relotignships with these customers ¢rifical to the success pf our business. We
cannot he certoin that we will be able o retain our lorgest customers, that we will be able to increase our sales to our other existing custﬁmers or that we wil

be able to attroct odditional customers. From time to fime, we have experienced deloys and reductions in orders from some of our major|customers. In addition,
our customers hove sought price concessions from us and may confinue fo do so. We typically do not have long-term contracts with our customers, and our major
customers can stop purchasing our products of any fime without penalty ond ore free to purchose products from our competitors. The lass of ane of more of

our largest custamers, any reduciion or delay in sales to these customers, our inability o successfully develop ond maintain relationships with existing ond new
customers, or requirements that we make price concessions could significantly horm our revenues and results of operations,
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Gur quarterly and annnal operating results may fluciate significamly as a result of new produet introdue-
tions and other factors which could canse onr stock price to decline significantly

Qur quartedy and annua! operoting results have fluctuated and may fluctuate significandly due to o voriety of factors, most of which are outside of our control.
Some of the foctors that could couse our quartedy and annual operating results to Ructuote include the other risks discussed in this “Risk Factors” secfion.

We may experience a shortfall o delary in generating or recognizing revenues for a number of reasons. Orders on hand at the beginning of o quarter and orders
genesated in a quarter do not ahways result in the shipment of products and the recognition of revenues for that quarter. Failure to ship products by the end of the
quarter in which they are ordered may adversely effect our operating sesults for that quorter, Our ogreements with customers typicolly provide thot the customer
may defay scheduled delivery dates and cancel orders prior to shipment without penalty. Becouse we incur aperafing expenses based on anticipated revenues and
2 high percentage of our expenses are fixed in the shert term, any delay in generating of recognizing forecasted revenues could significantly harm our results of
nperations.

AMditionolly, our operating results may vary os o result of the timing of our release of new products. The introduction of a new product in any quorter may couse
an increase in revenues in that quorter that may not be susteinoble in subsequent quorters.

If we are unable 1o successfully introduee new products 1o keep pace with the rapid rechnological changes
that characterize our marker. our results of operations will he significomily harmed
The market for our products is choracterized by:

» rapid technological change such os the recent development of optical fiber and wireless technofogies;

© frequent new product inreductions such s higher speed and more complex routers;

® gvohving industry standards such as new infemet protocols;

» changing customer needs such os the increase in the levels of service ogreed to betwaen netwark service providers and their customers; and

» shart product life cycles as o result of rapid changes in gur customers” producs.
Cur performance will depend en our successful development, introduction and market acceptance of new and enhanced performance anafysis products that
address new technologies and changes in customer requirements. [f we experience any delay irt the develapment or introductian of new products or enhoncements
to our existing products, our operating results may suffer. For instance, undetected software or hardware erars, which frequently occur when new producs are first
irimoduced, could result in the delay or loss of market acceptonce of our products ond the loss of eredibility with our customers. In addition, if we are not able o
davelap, or license or acquire from third parties, the underlying core technologies necessary to crente new products and enhancements, our existing products are
likety to become technologically obsolete over fime and our operating results will suffer. I the rate of development of new technologies and fransmission protacols
by our customers is delyed, the growth of the market for our products ond therefore our soles and operating results may be harmed.
Qur ability to suecesstully intraduce new products in 6 timely foshion will depend on several factors, inchuding aur abiity to:

* onficipate technalogical changes and industry tends;

* propery identify customer needs;

« innovate ond develop new technologies and opplicatians;

© hire and refoin necessary technical personnel;

o successfully commerciolize new technologies in o fimely monner;




16.

Ixia 2006 Annual Report

» timely abtoin key companents for the monufocture of new products;
 monufocture ond deliver our products in sufficient velumes and on time;
= price our products competitively; and
» differentiate our offerings from our competitors” offerings.
The development of new, technologically advanced products is o complex ond uncertain process requiring high levels of innavafion and highly skilled engineering
and development personnel, as well as the accurate anticipation of technology and market rends. We cannot be certain that we willibe ubla to identify, develop,
manufacture, market or support new of enhanced produds successfully, if at ofl, or on o fimely or cost-ffective basis. Further, we cannot be certoin fhat our new

praducts will gain market occeptance or thet we will be able to respond effectively to technologica! changes, emerging industry standards or product onnouncements
by our competitors, If we fail to respond to technologital change and the needs of our morkets, we wil lose revenues and our compafitive pasition will suffer.

We depend on sales of a narrow range of prostucts and if customers do not purchase our products, our rev-
enues al results of operations would be significandy harmed
Our business and products are concentrated in the market for systems that anclyze and measure the performance of network equipment ond systems. This market
is an evolving market and there is uncerfainty regurdii1g its size ond scope. Our performonce will depend on increased soles of our existing systems cnd the suc-

tessful development, introduction ond market acceptance of new and enhanced products. We cannot be certoin that we will be successful in increasing these sales
ot in developing ond iniroduding new products. Our falure fo da so would significanly horm our revenues ond results of operatians.

Competition in ;e markes could significantly harm our results of operations
The market for our products is highty competitive. Wa foce competition primarity from test equipment manufacturers such os Agilent Technologies, Spirent Com-
municotions ond Anditsy, We also compete with o nurpber of smoll componies which are focused on network performance anolysis ?nd megsurement, wireless
and IMS, ond In-Service Test. Additionally, some of our significant customers hove developed, or may develop, inhouse performuncle anatysis products for their
own use o for sale to others. For example, Cisco Systems, our largest customer, hos used intemally developed rest products for & numbes of years. Although Cisca
Systems hos in the past accounted for a significant portion of our revenues, we cannot be certain that it will confinue to do so.

As we bronden our product offerings, we moy move Into new markets and foce edditional competition. Moreover, our competitors may hove mare experience
operating in these new markets and be better established with the customers in these new morkets.

Some of our competitors ond potentiol competitars have greater brund name recognifion ond geeater finandial, technical, markefing, sales tlmd distribution copabilities than
wa do. Moreoves, ous compefitors may consolidate withleach atfier, or with oher componies, giving them even greater copahilifies with which to compete against us.

Increased competition in the netwark performance adalysis and measurement market could result in increased pressure on us to feFuce prices and could result in
o recuction in our revenues and /or o decrease in out margins, each of which could sigrificantly harm our resulfs of aperations. In ?ddiﬁon, increased compefition
could prevent us from increasing out markes shars, of cause us to lose v existing market shore, either of which would herm our revenues and profitability.

We cannot predict whethar our current or future competitors will develop or market technologies and products that offer higher perrormunce or more features or
are moie costeffective thon aur current or future proFucrs. To remain compefitive, we must continue 1o develop costeffective products and product enhancements
which offer higher performance ond mare functionality. Qur fedlure te do so will horm our revenues and results of aperatians.

Our lnrge cistomers have substantipl negotiating leverage, which iy require thar we agree 1o terms and
conditinns that mayv have an aclverJe effect on our business
Lorge network equipment manufoctures have substmitial purchasing power and levesoge in negotiating controctucl rrangements with us. These customers may
requira us o develop odditional features, o provide Extended support and,/or to reduce cur prices. As we seek to sell more products to shese lorge network
equipment monufacturers, we moy be required to uéree o such terms and conditions, which may offect the timing of revenue recognision and omount of deferred
revenves and may adversely offect owr profitcbility and financial condition in the opplicable periods nffected.
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If we do not diversify our customer base, we may not be able 10 grow our business or inerease our profitability
Our growth depends in part on our abilit fo diversify our customer bose by inceeasing sales to enterprises, government departments and ogencies, internet and
network service providers and communications chip manufocturers, To effectively compete for the business of these customers, wa must develap new products ond
enhoncements to existing products ond expand our soles, markefing and customer service copabilities, which will result in increases in opercting costs. It we can-
not offset these inaecses in costs with an increase in our revenues, our net income moy decrense. Some of our existing ond petential compefitors have existing
relafianships with many enterprise, govemment departments and agencies, infernet and nefwork service providers and communicafions chip manufacturers. We
cannot be certuin that we will be successful in increasing our sales presence in these markefs. Any failure by us to increase soles in these markets would odversely
affect our growth.

The restatement in Febeuary 2007 of our consolidated financial staiements for certain prior periods and
refated events could hiave a material adverse effect on us

In February 2007, we restated our consolidated financial statements for certain prior periods to carrect certain ercors in fhose financial statements (the “Restate-
ment”). These errors principally related to our application of Sttement of Positian 97-2 “Softwere Revenue Recognifion” (*SGP 97-2") with respect to the
accounting for implied post contract customer support (“PCS") obligations. In connection with the Restatement, we also corrected certoin additional erors thot
we had previously identified and determined not to be matericl with respect fo our consolidated finandial statements for the affected periods. We corrected ol of
these errors thraugh ¢ restosement of: i) our peeviously issued consolidated financial stotements for the yaors ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003; (i)
our unaudived quarterly financial doto for each of the quorters in the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004; (i) our unoudited quorterly finandial data for
fhe quarter ended March 31, 2006 ond for the querter and sixmonth period ended lune 30, 2006; and (v) certoin selected financial dato for the yeors ended
December 31, 2002 ond 2001. We effected the Restatement on February 23, 2007 by fiing with the Secucifies nd Exchange Commission {the “Commission”)
omendments to our Annual Report on Farm 10 for the year ended December 31, 2005 and to our Quartery Reports on Form 100 for the quarters ended Morch
31, 2006 and lune 30, 2006. The need for the Restatement also resulted in our incbility to timely file our Quorterty Report on Form 1G-Q for the quarter ended
Soptember 30, 2006 (the “2006 Third Quarter Form 10-0°), We clso filed the 2006 Third Quorter Form 100 with the Commission on February 23, 2007.

For udditional infosmation segarding the Restotement, please refer in this Form 10K to () Part |, Item 7, Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations, (b) Part I, Iterm 94, Controls end Procedures and (if) Nate 1 o the Notes to Consolidated Financicl Statements included in
Part I, Item 15.

As 0 result of the Restatement, os well our failure fo timely file our 2006 Thiré Quarter Form 10-0, we hove become subject 1o isks which include the following:

» We could be subject to civl litigution, induding dass action shareholder actions, arising out of or relafing fo the Restatement and,/or the lote filing
of our 2006 Third Quarter Form 10-Q, which lifigation, if decided agains us, could require us to poy substantiol judgments, settlements or other
penalties;

« Negative publicity relating to the Restutement ond /o our faiure to fimely file our 2006 Third Guarter Form 10-Q may ndversely offect our business
and the market price of our Common Stock;

» In connecfion with the Restatement, we hove identified i this Form 10-K o material wenkness related to our infernol control aver finoncial reparfing
with respect fo the complefeness and accurocy of revenue reporting for implied PCS obligations and have conduded, becouse of the effects of this
matericl weakness, that cur infernal control over financial ceporting was ineffective as of December 31, 2006, which conclusion has risks which are
further discussed in the next risk Toctor below;

« Our failure to fimely fle our 2006 Third Quorter Form 10-Q with the Commission currently limits our ability to access the capital markets using
shartform segistration;

« Due o any negotive publicity with respect to the Restatement ond/or our failure to fimely file our 2004 Third Quorter Form 10-0 and the assock
afed uncertinty in the equity markess, we may be unable to attract or retein the personnel necessary o achieve our business objectives,

» Management’s focus on achieving our business objectives has been and may confinue o be diverted to addressing (i) the effects of the Restatement
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and our foiluse to timely file our 200 Third Quarter Form 100, (i} customars’, employess’, investors” and requlators” quastions and concerns
regording the Restatement and our failure to hmely file our 2006 Third Quarter Form 10-Q, (i} any negative impact on Ixul] s public imag with
our customers ond in the finandal market cuused by the Restatement and our foilure o timely fte our 2004 Third Quarter Furm 10, and (v} ony

subsequent litigation that moy result from the/Restatement and /or aur foilure to timely fite our 2006 Third Quarter Form: 100

» The Commissian may review the Restotementiand requise further amandment of cur public Fiings; and

» Vg have incurred and may continue to incur slgnificant expenses ond cests associated with the Restatemnent and our failure fo fimely file cur 2006

Third Quarter Form 10-3.

Eoch of these risks destribed above could hove o material adverse effect on our business, resulrs of operations, finanial condifion and ligui

We have idemified a material weakness iL our internal coutrol over financial reporting and ar

in our disclosure controls amd procedureg, which, if not remediared effectively, could have an

on the trading price of our Common Stogk and otherwise seriously hann our business

iy

v ineffectiveness
adverse effect

In connection with the Restatement and the ossessment of qur intemal control over financial reporting pursuant fo the ules promulgated b
Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Ao of 2002 and Item 308 of Regulation SK, management hos concluded that as of December 31, 2

iy the Comemission under
06, (i} our dislosuse

contrals ond procedures were not effective and (i) we hod limmennl weakness in our internal control over financial reporting ralated to 1I1e comleteness and
eccuraty of revenue raporfing for implied PCS obligations. See Part 11, Item 94, Contrals and Pracedures, of this Form 10 for additional information regarding

the ineffectiveness of and material weakness in our controls*us of December 31, 2006. As disclosed in Amendment No. 2 on Form 10

to our Annual Report

on Form 10K for the year ended December 31, 2005 as fiILd with the Commission on February 23, 2007, management had previously fontluded that os of

December 31, 2005, our disclosure confrols and prucedureslwere ineffective and that we had the same materiol wenkness in our infernal

ontrol gver finanial

reporting. Our inability to remediate the materiol weakness in our intemal control over financial reparting and our ineffective disdosure controls promptty ond effec:
tively could have o matesiol adverse effect on our business, r'esults of aperations ond financiol condition, os well as impair our obiity to meet eur quorterly, onnul
ond other reporting requirements under the Securifies Exchange Act of 1934, os amended, in o timety monner, These effects could in rumwudversely affect the
trading price of our Common Stock and could result in o material misstatement of our firancial position or resuls of aperations and require o further restatement of
our fingnciol statements. In addition, even if we ore suctessful in strengthening our controls and procedures, such controls and procedures may not be adequata fo
prevent or identify imagularities. See *Remediation Efforfs to ! Address Material Weckness” in Por 1, Ttern 9A of this Form 10K,

Our business may be adverscly affected by unfavorable general econamic and market conditions

Qur business is subject o the effects of general economic conditions in the United States and globally and, in porticular, market condifions in the communications
and networking industries. In the past, our eperating results were odversely offected as a result of unfovorable economic conditions ond reduced capital spending
in the United Stotes, Eurape and Asia. tn particular, soles to network equipment manufacturers in North Amesica were significantly ond adversely offected by the

dewnrum in the econormy in the past. If there is a slowdownlin the global economy and market conditions, we moy experience material odverse impacts on our

business, opercting results and financial condision,

The toss of any of our key personnel conld significanty harm our results of operations and comlpetitive position
Qur success depends to g significant degree upon the continuing contributions af our key management, technical, marketing and sales employess. There con be

no assurance: that we will be successful in retaining aur key émpluyees or that we con ottract or retain additionod skilled persannel as requited. Failure fo retain o
atieact key personnel could significantly harm our results of i erqtions ond competitive position,

Continued growth will strain our operatigns and require us (o incur costs to maintain and upgrade our man-

ﬂgﬂ]llﬂlll H] l](l LJ])(}I'EITiUI]ﬂ f resources
We hove experienced and are continuing fo experience growth in our operafions, including number of employees, products, fucitt locations, and customers. Unless we mar
oge oun growh efvl, we moy hove oty noperuing oo busivess. s  resuh, we oy notcurcely foreostsles and moteics reiements, i o rgcte e
personnel o fail to maintain adequate intemal controks, which miay result in fluctuotions in our opermting resulfs ond couse the price of our stack o dedine We plan fo confinue
o expond our aperations which may place o significant strain on dur monogement and operationol resources. In order o manage our growth eﬁemvely we must implement
and improve our operafional systems, procedures and confrols o fimely basis. tf we connat manage growth effectively, our profitabifty could be significontly hormed.
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If we are unable 10 expand our sales and distribution channels or are unable 1o suceessfully manage our
expanded sales organization, our revenues and results of operations will he harmed

Histaricolty, we have relied primarily on o direct soles organization, supported by distributors, to self our products. Qur distribution strategy focuses primarily on
developing and expending our direct sales organizatian ond our network of distributors, We may not be able to successhlly expand our sales and distribution
channels, and the cost of any expansion may exceed the revenues thit we generate. To the extent that we are successful in exponding our soles and distribution
channels, we cannot be certain that we will be able to compete successfully against the significantly larger ond betterfunded sales and marketing opecations of
many of our current or potentiol competitors. In some cases, we hove granfed exclusive rights to our distributors to market our products in their specified temito-
ties. Qur distributors may not market aur products effectively or devote the resources necessary fo provide us with effective sales, marketing and technicol support.
Our inability to effectively manage the expansion of our sales and support staff, or to maintain exisfing or establish new relationships with successful distributors,
would harm our revenues ond results of aperations.

If we are unable to expand our international sales and distribution channels or manage them effectively, our
results of operations would he harmed
Historicolly, o significant portion of our sales have heen made o customers in the United States. Our sales based on product shipments to the United Stutes ac-
counted for 68.2% of our total revenues in 2008, 72.9% of our total revenues in 2005 ond 73.7% of our total revenues in 2004. In the post, distributors have
generoted o significant portion of aw intemntianal sales. i the past, we hove had distibutors enter bankruptey and were therefore erminated as distributors of
our products, Losses of one ar more of aur international distributors or their faflurs to sell our products would imit our ability to sustuin ond grow our revenues in
interational markets. We intend to expand info oddifional intemafianal morkets in Eurape ond in the Asia Pacific region, by odding distributors and internationel
sales ond support pessonnel. Our feilure in these efforts could significantly harm our resulfs of operations and decrease the value of our stock.
International activiry may increase our cost of doing business or disrupt our business
We plan to continue to expand aur intemational aperations ond sales activifies. Expansion of infemational eperations will involve inherent risks that we may aot
be able ta control, including:

& sypporting mulfiple languages;

* recruiting, toining ond refaining international personnel;

« increased complexity and costs of manoging international eperatians;

 growing demand for and cost of fechnical personnel;

* increased exposure to foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations;

* commercial laws ond business practices that fover local competition;

= changing governmentaf (aws and requlafions, including differing labor and employment laws ond longer sales cydles;

# reduced or imited protections of intellectual property rights;

» mare complicated logisticol and distribution ormangements;

* ofifical and economic instability; and

» difficulties in collecting receivables.
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Despite our implementation of network security measures, aur netwark moy be vulnerable to computer viruses, breakns and similor disruptions from unauthorized
fmpeting with our computer syssems. Any such event could hove o material adverse effect on aur business, operating results and finnncitf condition. In addition,
the effects of war or acts of terrorism could have o materiol udverse effect on our business, operating resulfs ond financial condition. The continued threat of terrar-
ism and heightened security and military oetion in response: fo this threot, or any futwe acts of ferrarism, may cause further distuption to the economy end create
further uncertainties in the economy. Energy shortages, such os gus or eleckicity shortages, could hove similr negative impacts. To the exteat that such disruptions
or uncesiainfies result in deloys or concelations of customer prders, or the manufcture or shipment of ow products, our business, opesating results ond finandic)
condifion could be materially and adversely aHected.

To the extent that our customers consolidare, they may reduce purchases of owr produets and demand more
avorable terms and condiions from us, which would Tiarm our revenues and proficabiliny
Consolidation of our customers could reduce the number of customers. to whom our products could be sold. These mesged customers could]obtain products from o

sobice othes than us o demond more favorable terms. and conditions from s, which would harm our revenues and profitability. In oddition, our significant custormr
e1s may merge with or acquire our compefitors ond distontinue their relotionships with us.

Acyuisitions undertaken and anv that we may undertake could he difficul (o integrate, disrupt our business.

dilute shareholder value and significamly harm onr operating results
Acquisitions wwe inherently risky and no assurance can be given thot our previous or future acquisitions will be successful or will not mmerinllly ond adversely
affect our business, operating results or financiol condition. We expect to continue to review opportunities fo acquire other businessas or technologies that would
complement our current products, expond the breadh of our markets, enhance our technical capabifities or otherwise offer growth oppum;iﬁes. While we cre not
cursently o party o any ocquisition agreements, we moy acquire additional businesses, praducts or tecinalagies in the future. If we make any further ocquisitians,
wig could issue stock that would ditute existing shmehulders'| percentage ownership, and we could incur substantial debt or ossume contingent linbilities. We have
timited experience in ocquiring other businesses and technologies. Acquisitions involve numerous risks, incuding the following:

» problems assimilating the cequired operotions, fechnologies or products;

= ynanticipated costs ossociated with the acquisifion;

» diversion of monaogement’s atention from our core business;

» adverse effects on existing business relationships with suppliers, contract manufactusers, customers and industry experts;

» risks associted with entering markets in which we have no or limited prior experience; and

» potential loss of the acquired organization’s or our own key employees.

We caonnot be certain that we would be successfuf in overcoTing problems in connection with our post or future equisitions, and our inabity to do so could
significantly harm our assets acquired in such acquisitions, rebenues and results of operations,

Changes in laws, regulations and financi I;d aceounting standards may affect our reported resudts of operations
Chonges in occounting regulstions and standards can have o significant effect on our reported results. New pronouncements ond varying inferpretofions of
pronouncements have occurred in the post and are likely to decur in the future as o result of recent {ongressiongl and requlatory octions. New |ows, regulations
and accounting standards, as well as the questioning of, or clmnges t, currently necapted eccaunting peactices in the technology indusiry may adversely offect our
reported financiol results, which could hove on odverse effect on our stack price.
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For example, effective Jonuary 1, 2006, we adopted the provisions of, and account for stock-based compensatior: in accordance with, SFAS No. 123 (revised
2004), *Share-Basad Payment,” or SFAS 123R. As o result, our operating results for periods subsequent fo December 31, 2005 confoin chargs for stock-based
compensation expense related o employee shore-hosed awards issued uader our equity incensive plans. Prior to the adoption of SFAS 123R, we accounted for our
stock-hosed compensation using the intringic volue methad prescribed by APB No. 25 “Accounfing for Stock Issued fo Employees” ond related Interpretations ond
provided the pro forma disclosures requited by SFAS 123. Applying the intrinsic value method generally resulted in no compensation expense being recognized re-
luted to owr share-bosed awards in periods prior to our adaption of SFAS 123R. The adoption of SFAS 123R has hed o materiol impoct on our consolidated financiol
position and results of operctions and will continue fo hove o material impoct in future periods os o result of our cantinuing recognition of expense for stack-based
compensation. We connot predict the effect that this impact on our eamings will have on the price of our Common Stock, but such impact could be adverse.

Our business is subject o changing regulation of corporate governance and public disclosure that has resulied
ininereased costs and may continue 1o result in additional costs in the future

We cre subject to rules and regulations of faderal and stote sregulatory cuthoritias, The Nosdog Stock Marker ond financial market entifies chorged with the
pratection of investors and the oversight of companies whose secuities are publicly troded. During the past few years, these entiies, including the Public Company
Accounting Ovessight Board, the SEC and Nosdag, have issued new requirements and regulations and confinue to develop odditional reguiations and requirements
portly in response fo lows enocted by Congress, most natobly the Sorbanes-Oudey Act of 2002 (*S0X"). Our efforts 1o comply with these requirements ond
requlations have resulted in, and are fkely fo confinue to resultin, increased general and administrative expenses and o diversion of substantiol menogement fime
and aftention from revenue-generating activifies to compliance ncfivities,

In particutor, our effors to comply with Section 404 of SOX and the reloted regulations regarding our requited ossessment of our internal control over financial
reporting ond our external ouditors” oudit of our essessment and the intemal control over financial reporting, has required, ond confinues fo tequire, the com-
mitment of significont financial and monagerial resources. Moreaver, because these laws, regulations ond stendards are subject to varying interpretations, their
application in practice may evolve over time os new guidance becomes ovailoble, This evolution moy result in continuing uncertainty regarding complionce matters
ond addifional costs necessitated by ongaing revisians fo our disclosure and govemance proctices.

Some key componems in our products come lrom sole or limited sources of supply, which exposes us to po-
tential supply shortages that condd disrupt the manofacture and sale of our products

We ond our controct monufacturers currently puschase o nomber of key components used to monufacture our products from sele or limited saurces of supply for
which alternative sources may not be available. From fime fo time, we have experienced shortoges of key components, including chips, oscillotors ond optical
modules. We and our controct manufocturers have no quaranteed or long-term supply amangements for these or other companents, including field programmable
gate ormays, or FPGAs, which are integrated circuits that can be repeatedly reprogrommed to perform different sefs of functions s required. Financial or other dit-
ficulties faced by aur suppliers or significont changes in morket demand for necessary components could limit the evailability to us and eur contract manufocturers
of these components. Any inferruption or delay in the supply of any of these components <ould significantty harm our cbility to meet scheduled product deliveries
to our customers and cause us 1o lose sales.

in addition, the purchase of these components on o sole source basis subjects us to risks of price increases and potentiol quality assurance problems. Consofidation
invalving suppliers could further reduce the numbes of aiternatives availoble to us and offect the cost of componants. An increase in the cost of compenents could
make our products less competitive and result in lower morgins.

There ore limited substitute supplies available for many of these components, induding field programmehle qate anrays. All of these components are criticad to the
production: of owr products, and competition exists with other manufocturers for these key companents. In the event that we can no longer obitain moteriats from a
sale source supplier, we might not be able to qualify or identify alternative suppliers in o timely fashion, or ot all
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If we Tail 10 accurately forecast our manqifacruring requirements. we could incur additional cpsts and
CX])CI'i Cree nanun fﬂ(ll 1] I'i llg dl:lii _\'S
We provide our confract manfocturers with rolfing forecusts,based on anficipated produet arders to defermine our monutacturing requirements. Some of the com+
ponents used in our products have siguificont lead fimes or lead fimes which may unexpectedly increasa depending on factors such os the/specific supplies, confract
terms ond the demand for components ot a given time, Be&luse of these long lead times, we ore aften required to forecost and order products before we know
whot our specific monufcturing requirements will be. If we :overestimute aur product orders, our contract manufacturers moy have excess'inventory of completed
products which we wauld be obligated to purchase. This will lead to incrensed costs and the risk of absolescence. If we underestimate our product arders, our
confract manufacturers may hove inodequate inventary, which could result in delays in shipments, the loss or deferral of revenues and higher costs of sales, It moy
also add costs to our products to expedite delivery of our products to customers or those components with leng lead fimes to our contract monufacturers. We can-
not be certain that we will be able to accurately forecast ol product orders and may in the future carry excess or obsolete inventory, be unable to fulfil customer
demand, o both, thereby harming our revenues, results of operations and customer relatipnships.

Failure by our contract manufacturers tf provide us with adequate supplies of high quality jiroduets could
harn our revenues. results of operations. competitive position and reputation

We cumently rely an o limited number of contract monufocturers to manufacture ond ossemble our products, We may experience delays in receiving product ship-
ments from controct monufacturers or other problems, suchias infeir quality and insufficient quantity of product. We cannot be certain 1;[m we will be chle to ef
feciively monage our controct manufocturers or that these manufocturers will meet our future requirements for timely delfvery of praductsl of sufficient quality ond
quantity, We intend to infroduce new products ond product enhancements, which will requite that we rapidly achieve adequate prmrlucﬁcm| volumes by effectively
coardinafing with eur suppliers and centract manufacturers.;We do nat have any long-term contracts with our confract manufocturers, lheEnubiIih,' of our contract
manufacturers to provide us with odequate supplies of high-quality products or the loss of any of our contract monufacturers would couse b delay in our abifty to

[}
fulill customer orders while we obtain o replacement manufacturer and would horm our revenues, resuits of operations, compefitive position and reputation.

We may not be able o expand our contract manufacturing capacity or our intemal testing or quality assurance functions os required to keep up with demand

for our products, Any such failure woutd in turn hinder our drowth. IF we do not expand these capacifies and funcrions effectively orin o imely manner, we may
experience disruptions in product flow which could limit our revenues, adversely offect our competitive position and reputation ond result In additonl cost, concet
latian of orders or both.

Because of intense competition lor technical personnel. we may not be able to recruit or retain necessury

persunnel on a cosi-effective hasis
Qur success wil depend in large part upon our ability 1o idantify, hire, reinin and mofivate highly skilled employees. We plan to increase the number of our
research and development, markefing, scles, customer senfice and oparations employees, Competition for highly skifled employees in nurindusrry is intense. In
addition, employaes may leave our company and subsequantly compete against us. Our faifure to oftvact ond refain these qualified emplovees could signficandy
harm our ability to develop new products ond maintain cusfomer relationships. Volorility or lock of positive performance in our stack price| may also adversely
affect our ability 1o athact and eetain highly skilled employees who may look to stock aptions s a key component of their cnmpensuﬁunf. The loss of the services
of any of our qualified employees, the inability to attract of retain qualified personnel in the future or delays in hiring required personne! tould hinder the develop-
ment ond introduction of new and enhanced products and homm our obility to sell our products. Mareover, companies in our industry whqse employees occept
pasitions with competitors frequently daim that those caneﬁrms hove engaged in unfair hiring practices. We moy be subject to such dqims 15 we seek to retain
o hire qualified persannel, some of whom may currently be working for our compefitors. Some of these cloims may resultin material lifjgution. We could incur
substantial costs in defending ourselves against these duin‘s, regardless of thair merits. Such claims could also discourage potential employees whe curently wark
for our competitors from joining us.

Our products may contain defects which may cause vs 1o incur significant costs, divert onr guention from
produet development efforts and resultjin a loss of customers

Our existing products and any new or enhanced products Wo inroduce may contain undetected software or hardware defects when they are first introduced or os
new versions are released. These problems may couse us to incur significont demages or warranty ond repoir costs, divert the attenfion of our engineering persar-
nel from our product development efforts and cause significant customer relotion problems or loss of customers and reputation, all of which would harm our results
of operotions. A successful cloim against us for an amount|exceading the limit on our product libility insurance policy would force us to {2 our own resources, to
the extant gvailable, to pay the cloim, which cauld sesult in an inciease in our expenses ond o reduction of our working copital ovailable for other uses, thereby
harming our profitability and capitol resources.
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Our failure 10 protect our intellectual property way signilicantly harm our results of operations and reputation
Our sucess and ability to compete is dependent in part on ous ability to profect and maintain our proprietary rights fo our inteflectua) property. We curmently iely
o0 a combinotion of patent, trade secret, rademark ond copyright laws to establish and protect our intellectual prapesty. To date, we have relied primarity on frade
secet laws to protect our propriatary processes and know-how. We have patent applications and existing patents in the United States and ather jucisdictions. We
cannot be certain that any of hese applications will ssue into patents of that any such patens, if issued, or our existing paients, will be upheld. We also cannod
be certain that our exisfing patents and any such additioncl patents, i issued, will be effective in protecting our proprietary fechaology.

We generally enter into confidentiality agreements with our officess, employees and consultonts. We also genealy limit access to ond distribution of our source
code and furthes limi the disclosure and use of our other propretary information. However, these measures provide oty limited protection of cur intellectual
property rights. In addition, we may not have signed agreements contoining adequate profective provisions in every case, and the contractual provisions that are
in place may not provide us with adequate protection in ol ccumstances. Any infringement of ou proprietary rights could result in significont ftigation costs, and
any failure to odequotely protect our proprietary rights could result in our competitors offering similar products, potentially resulting in foss of one or more compett-
five odvantages and decreased revenes. '

Despite our efforts to profect our proprietary rights, exisfing frade secret, copyright, potent and trademark lows afford us anly limited profection. n addition, the
laws of some foreign counires do not profect aur proprietary rights to the some extent as do the lows of the United Stutes. Accordingly, we miay not be able to
prevent misappropriation of our technologies or fo deter others from developing similor technologies. Others moy attempt to copy o reverse enginees aspects of
our products or to obtain and use information that we regard s proprietory. Further, manitoring the unauthorized use of our products and our propriatary fights is
difficut. Lifigation may be necessory to enforce our intellactual property rights or to defermine the validity and scope f the proprietory rights of others. Litigation
of this type could result in substontial costs and diversion of resources and could significantly harm our resuls of operotions and repuinion.

Claims that we infringe third-party intelleciual property rights conld resultin significant expenses or restrice-
tions o our ahility to sell vur produas

From fime o fime, other parfies muy assert patent, copyright, rademark and ofher intellectucl property rights to technologies that are important fa our business.
We cannot provide assurance thot others wil not cloim that we are infringing thein inellectual property rights or that we do not in foct infringe those intellectua!
property rights. We hove not conducted a search to determine whether the technology we have in our products infringes or misappropriotes intellectual property
ield by third perties.

Any cloims asserting thot our products infringe or may infringe proprietary rights of third porties, if determined odversey to us, could significantly hom our resuls
of apesations. Any dlaims, with or without merit, could:

» b fime<onsuming;

« tesult in costly litigation;

» divert the efforts of cur technical and management personnel;

« requite us to develop ohtemative technology, thereby cousing product shipment delays and the loss or defema! of revenues;

« require Us 1o cease sefling the praducts containing the intellectual property at issue;

* requie us to poy substantiol domage awards;

» domoge our reputation; or

» fequire us to enter into rayalty or licensing agreements which, if required, may not be avadlable on terms acteptable to us, if of oll.

In the event o cliim against us wese successful and we could not obtuin @ license to the relevant technology on acceptable ferms or ficense o substitute technology
o redesign ous products to ovoid infringement, our revenues, results of operafions and compefitive position could be hormed,
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If we fuil 10 maintain our relationships with industry experts. our producs may lose industey|and marke
vecognition and sales could decline
{hur relationships with industry experts in the field of performonce onalysis and measurement of networks and network equipment are witical for meintaining owr
industry credibifity and for developing new produtts and testing methodologies in a timely fashion. These experts hove estoblished standord festing methodslogies
that evaluate new network equipment preducts ond tachnoldgies, We provide these experts and their festing labs with our products and engineering assistonce fo
perform tests on these new network equipment products ond techaclogies. These industry experts refer to our products in their publications which has given our
produts industry recognition. in addition, these labs offer uslhe opportunity to test our products on the newest nefwork equipment and Ia'chnologies, thereby
assisting us in developing new products that ore designed fo Jweer evolving tachnological needs. We cannot be cerfoin that we wifl be able|to maintain our

|

selationships with indusiry axperts of that our competitors wil not obiin similos or superies relationships with industry experts. f we tie ugoble to meiatuin out
selationships with industry experts, our products may lose industry and market recognition which could harm our reputation and compefitive position and couse our
sales to dedine.

Our headquarters, many of onr customers and some of our contract manufacturers and suppliers are locared
in California where natural disasters have oceurred and may oceur in the futare
Curcently, our corporate headguarters, meny of our customers and some of aur controct monufacturers and suppliers re Jocated in Celitorni. California historically
hos been vuinessbls 1o noturol disastess ond other risks, suth's sorthquakes, fires and floods, which ot fimes have disiupted the Yocol etur{omv ond posed
physical risks fo our property. We ond some of our customers, contract manufocturers and suppliers do not hove redundant, multple site cu'puci:y. in the event of 0
nutural disaster, our ability to conduct business could be significantly disrupted, thereby horming our results of operations.

Provisions of our articles of incorporationfand hivlaws mav make it difficult for a third pany o acquire ns,
despite the possible benefits to our shareholders

Our boord of directors has the autharity to issie up o ane milion shotes of preferred stack and to determine the price, righs, preferences, privileges and reskric
tions, inchuding voting rights, of those shares without any further vote or aciion by the shoreholders. The rights of the holders of ow Comm B Stock ore swhiet
o, and may be adversely affected by, the dights of the hokders of any preferred stock that we moy issue. The issuonce of preferred stock could have the efiect of
making it mare difficult for a third party to acquire o majority b our oufstanding voting stock. Furthermare, some provisions of our articles of incorporation and
bylaws could delay or make more difficult o mesger, tender of‘er or proxy contest involving us,

These provisions of our orticles of incorporation ond bylrws may hove the effect of deloying, deferring of preventing a change in our controf despite possible
benefits to our shoreholders, moy discourage bids o1 a premiurr'l over the marker price of our Common Stock ond may harm the market price of our Comman

Stock and the voting and other rights of our shareholders.

ltean 1B, Unresolved Stafl Commments

Not opplicable.

ltem 20 Properties

Our corporate headquorters are kocated in Catabesas, California) where we currently lease approximately 84,100 square feer of spoce which houses aur reseosch
ond development, sales and marketing, finance ond administafion and manufacturing operations. The leose expires in May 2008, if not renewed. We olso legse
office space for our sales offices in Santa Clorg, California, North Caralina, Virginio, Massachusetts, the United Kingdom, fapan, China and Eubgolore, indig.
Additionally, we have feased fucilifies in Bucharest, Romanic and Kolkoto, India used primarily for research ond development octivities. We believe that our current
facififies will be adequate to meet our needs for the next 12 mtlmths, or that we will be able to obtnin odditional spoce when and os needed bn accepinble ferms.

flem 3. Legal Proceedings
From time fo fime, certain [egok octians moy orise in the ordinory course of our business. To date, such lega! nctions have nat hod o materiol adverse effect on our
cansoliduted financiad posifion, resulks of operotions or cash flaws.

Brern 4. Submission of Marters o a Voie of Secarity Holders
No matters were submitied to a vote of our security holders during the fourth quarter of 2006.
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Part 11

bern 5. Market for Registrants Common Equity, Related Sharcholder Matters and Lssier Purchases
2] fraty
of Registered Seeurities

(a} Market Price, Dividends ond Reloted Matters

Txia’s Comemon Stock is traded on the Nosdag Global Select Market under the symbol “XXIA.” Until uly 3, 2006, Ixia’s Comman Stack wos fraded on the Nasdag

National Market, The following toble sets farth the high ond low closing sales prices of our Comman Stock os reported on The Nosdag Stack Marke for the

following fime periods.

High Low
2006
First quorter § 1504 § 11.62
Second quarter 1391 8.68
Third quarter 10.28 7.3
Fourth quorter 10.26 8.70
2005
First quarter b) 1936 S 1346
Second quarfer’ na 13.96
Third quarfer 20.00 4.7
Fourth quorter 15.20 10.25

On March 1, 2007 the closing sales price reported for our Common Stock wos $11.23 per share, and os of that dote there were approximotely 33
shareholders of record.

We have never declosed or paid cash dividends on our Common Stock ond do not anticipate paying any dividends in the foreseecble future.

o
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The folowing graph compares the cumulative total retum on the Company’s Common Stock with the comulative totol retum of the Kosdaq Composife Index, the
Nasdag Computer Menufacturers tndex and the Nosdoq Telecommunications Index for the five-year period commencing Jonuary 1, 2002, I:xiu i one of the com
panies that mokes up the Nasdag Telecommunications Index| Alihough the Company has used the Nasdag Computer Monufocturers Index for peer (omparisons

in prior yeors, the Company believes that its peer compunsorls are best done ogainst the Nasdug Telecommunications Index rather thon Iha Nasdog Computer
Manufocturers Index. The Company will therefore use the Nusduq Telecommunications Index for benchmark comporisons in the future. The stock price performance

shown on the groph belaw is not necessarily indicative of fute price performance,

CUII][)«‘U‘ESUII of Five-Year Cunwlative To
Computer Mannfacturers Index and the

al Return® among [xia, the Nasdag Composite Index, the Nasdag

Nasdaq Telecommunications Ilex

5300
Wi A Nasdog Composite @ Nasdag Lomputer L 4 Nasdag Telecommunications
Index Mfrs. Index Index
5200
10
12/31/01 12/31/02 12/3i/03 12/31,/04 12/31/05 12/31/06
12/0/00 /0401 /N30 1040 123050 12/31/08
Ixin S 100 § 2840 S 91.05 13082 & 1 IIS.IB 5 N
Nasdag Compasite Index 100 69.66 99.1 113.79 114.47 124.20
Hosdoq Computer Mirs. Index 100 6748 109.37 115.04 107.28 134.84
Hosdog Telecommunications tdex 100 61.62 10.79 106,14 190.63 IYIRL]

*Assumes (i) $100 invested on Decerber 31, 2001 in Ixia Common Stock, the Nasdag Composite index, the Nasdag Computer Manufacturers Index ond the

Nosdag Telecommunications Index and (1) immediote reinvestment of ofl dividends.
(b Use of Proceeds
None.
{c) lssuer Repurchases of Equity Securifies
No securities were repuechased by us during any month during the fourth quarter of 2006.

[tem 6. Selected Financial Data

The following selected consoliduted financial data should be:read i conjunction with *Monngement's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results

of Operations™ und our consolidated financial stotements and the nofes to thase consolidated finoncial stotements. The consolidated stute}nem of income data set
forth below for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 ond 2004 and the consolidated balance shest data os of December 31, 20(]6 ond 2005 ars derived
from, and ore qualified in their entirety by reference to, the Cnmpanys audited consolidoted finandial statements included eksewhese in Ihus Form 10, The con-
solidated statements of income dota set forth below for the, year ended December 31, 2003 and the consalidated balance sheet dota as of December 31, 2004
ove derived from the oudited consolidated finartcial statements not included herein, but which were previously filed with the SEC. The tonsohdu:ed stotemant of
income data for the yeor ended December 31, 2002 ond Ie consoldated bolance sheet data os of December 31,2003 and 2002 confbrm fo the consalidoted

finoncial starements induded in this Ferm 10K end arg presented hersi on an unoudited basss.
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Yeor Ended Becember 31,
2004 2005 2004 2003 2002
Conscfidated Statement of income Data
{in thousands, except per share data):
Revenues:
Products § 155388 S 130,045 & 97200 S 72674 & 55499
Services 24,744 20,808 13,464 7,400 5,861
Totol revenues 180,132 150,853 110,664 80,074 61,560
{osts and operoting expenses: ™
Cost of revenues — products 29437 24,239 20,592 15,661 13,310
Cast of revenues — amartization
of purchased technology 4705 3,891 3044 1,183 —
Cost of revenues — services 2,681 2216 1423 1,208 843
Research and development 43,450 32,404 24,960 21,980 20,384
Sales and markefing 59,020 39,359 30,566 23,942 19,974
General and adminisiative 23,800 16,438 12,479 8179 7852
Amortization of infangible assets 1,745 1,278 1,532 1,070 vL)|
Impairment of goodwill and other infongible assefs — — - 410 1,677
Total costs and operating expenses 144,838 119,825 94,594 74,633 64,783
Income (loss) from operations 15,294 31,028 16,068 5,441 (3,423)
Interest ond other income, net 9,409 5,055 2940 3062 2,743
Income: (lass) before income taxes 24,703 36,083 19,028 8,503 (480
Incame tox expense (henefit) 11,222 7593 4007 1,912 (403
Net income {loss) S 13481 S A0S 15001 8 859 5 2m
Earnings (loss) per share:
Basic ) 020 S 044 5 025 $ [IRTAR (0.00)
Diyted 5 020 § 041 § 023§ 011 % (0.00)
Weighted average number of common ond
commaon equivalent shares outstanding:
Basic 67,005 65,168 40,687 58,344 56,902
Diluted 68,797 §9.227 64,745 62,227 56,902
M Stock-based compensation included in:
Cost of revenues — products § 590 $ — 5 S 157 S 398
Cost of revenues — services 224 —_ 3 7 56
Reseorch and development 6,481 — 7 1316 2,864
Sales ond marketing 7 838 — n 159 1,329
General ond adminishotive 2,890 - 38 280 658

™ Due to the adoption of SFAS 123R effective Janvary 1, 2006, our results of operations for 2006 include $18.0 million of pre-tax stock-based compensation
expense (appreximately $13.9 million or on ofter fox basis).
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December 31,
2006 2005 2604 2003 2002
Consofidated Bolance Sheet Data fin thousands):

Cash end cosh equivlents S Hp44 S 51837 S 15383 5 (21,133 5 45245
Short-erm invesiments in marketuble securities 152 703 124,456 81,757 4278 25,650
Warking capital 235,168 191,176 104,515 74,032 30,210
Long-term investments in markefable securifies 4,354 25,392 49015 58,072 31,304
Total assets 349,059 37214 241,451 21,115 162,413
Total shareholders” equity 300,789 263,480 193,491 57477 141,703

ltem 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conddition and Results of Opegations

The following discussian contains forward-ooking staterpents that involve risks and uncertainties. Our octual results could differ muteriolly from those onticipated

in these forward-ooking statements os o result of many: foctors. The consolidoted results of operations for the years ended December B1, 2006, 2005 and 2004
are net necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for ony future peried, The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the tonsolidated
financial stotements and the notes thereta included in le {1, tem 15 of this Form 10K and in conjunction with the “Risk Factors” inlluded in Part |, Item 14 of
this Form 10K,

Restatement of Previously Issued Fingneial Statements
& discussed further in Note 1 of the “Netes to Canmlidgted Finencial Statements” contoined in Port U, ltem 15 of this Form 104, inlFebruory 2007 we testated:
(i) aur pravigushy issved consolidoted financial statemens for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 ond 2003; {ii} our unuudijed quarterly financiol data for
such of the quarters in the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004; (i) our unaudited quarterly financial data for the quarter ended Morch 31, 2006 and for
the quarter end six-month period ended June 30, 2006 and (iv) certain selected finonciol data for the years ended December 31, 2002 oad 2001. We effacted
the restotement an Febrory 23, 2007 by filing with the Commission amendments to our Annual Report on Form 10 for the yeor ehded December 31, 2005 and
to our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for the quarters énded Morch 31, 2006 and June 30, 2006, We restated our consolidated findicial statements os th resul
of certain ertors thot existed in our previously issued finqnciul statements, principolly related to our opplication of Statement of Positon 97-2 *Saftware Revenue
Recognition” (*SOP 97-2") with respect to the accounting for implied post contract customes support (“PCS”) obligations. Al :eferenéed amounts in this Form

10-K with respect to prior periods and all prior period comparisans reflect the holances ond amounts an o restated hasis whers upplicui)le. As a resulr of the issues
identified during the Company’s review which resulted in the need to restate previously issued financial statements, the Compony has implemenred changes fo ifs
interaal control aver financial reporting ond hos also commenced further improvement initiatives in its finondial reporfing systems. Far p discussion of thase changes
and initiotives, see Port i, em 94, Controls and Procemlres of this Form 15X,

BIISiI]I:SS O\'E:l'\'if!\\'
We are o Jending provider of test systems for |Phased infrastructure and services that allow our customers fo test and measure the performonce, functionality,
service quolity and conformance of Intemet Protocol (IP)' equipment and networks, ond the epplicaticns that rua over them. Our solutipns generate, capture,
charocterize, ond analyze high valumes of reclistic network and application traffic, exposing problems, assessing performance, ensuring functionality and interoper-
ability, ond verifying conformance to industry speciﬁcuﬁo’ns. We offer herdware plotforms with interchongeable raffic generation interfaces, utilizing ¢ commen

set of applicotions ond Application Programming Inrerfucfs (APls) that cllow our customers to creqte integrated, easy-to-use uurumuteé] test environments. The
netwarks our systems andlyze include Etheret netwarks aperafing at speeds of up to 10 gigobits per second, which casry deto traffic Fver opfical fiber or electrical
cable. Other networks include Packet over SONET netwotks operating at speeds of up to 10 gigahits per second, which fransmit information over high-speed optical
links and Asynchronous Transfer Mode (ATM) networks, operating of speeds of up fo 622 megaifs per second. We also offer o telegl%ny test suite thot is used fo
test ond verify traditional TimeDivisicn Multiplexing (TDM) voice bosed networks, Voice over |P technology, davices, and systems, as well as the inferoparability,
troubleshaating, service aptimization and call fraffic monitoring of Video Telephony. Custemers also use our performonce applications té: test and verify web,
internat, security, and business applications,

products. Qur service revenues primarity consist of the provision of post controct customer support and maintenance {“PCS”) reloted to the jnifial free 12-month and

Revenues. Our revenuas are prncipally derived from the sale and support of our test systerms. Product revenues primarily consist of sales of; our hardwore ond software
separately purchased extended PCS controcts and to our imjplied PCS obligations. Service revenues also include seperntely purchased exTenjed hardware woranty support
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(genendlly offered for 12 manth periods). PCS on our software products inchudes unspecied software upgrodes and customes techmical stpport senvices. Our hardware
products prmarity consist of chassis and interface cards, and during the three years ended December 31, 2006, our Ethemet interfoce cards have represented the major-
ity of our product shipments. In general, our Ethernet interfoce cards ore used o fest equiprment and odvanced IP services ot the edge of the intemet ond in enterprise
applicaiions, where demand hos increased during the three years ended December 31, 2006. Over the same fime period, product shipments for our SONET interface
cards have niot been significont. Looking forward, we expect demand for our Ethernet interfoce cards ko remain strong and we expect demand for our SONET inferfoce
cards fo dedline or remain consistent with our historical experience. Our growth over the post three years has also been driven by increasing shipments of our software
products, including our IxChariet ond txtoad products. The increase in softwore shipments is the result of our strategy to use specifized software applications o drive
demand for our proprietary hordware platform, Looking forword, we expect demand for our software products fo ramain strang,

Sales to our fargest customer accounted fos approximately $46.3 milkion or 25.7% of aur totol revenves in 2006, $53.0 milfion or 35.2% of our total revenues in
2005 ond $34.9 million or 31.6% of aur total revenues in 2004. In addition, to date, we have sold our products primarily to network equipment manufociurers.
While we expect that we will continue to have customer concenfration for the foreseeoble future, we continue to sell our products to  wide variety of customers
and, to the extent we develop a broader ond more diverse customer base, aur reliance on ony one customer or customer type moy diminish.

In some instances our software products may be installed and operated independently from our hardware products. At other imes, our software products ore
installed en and work with our hordware products to enhance the functionality of the overall test system. In oddiion, our chassis is generally shipped with our core
operafing system software installeg, which is on integrol part of the chassis” functionality. As our software is generolly more thon incidental fo the sale of our test
systems, we recognize revenue by applying the provisions of the American Insfitute of Certified Pubtic Accountants (*AICPA™) Statement of Position (*SO0P") 97-2,
“Software Revenue Recognition” as omended by SOP 98-9, "Software Revenue Recognifion with Respect to Certuin Arrangements” (collectively, “SOF 97-27).

Our test systems are generclly fully functional ot the fime of shipment and do not require us o perform any significont production, modification, customization or
installation after shipment. As such, revenue frem hardware and software praduct soles is recognized upon shipment pravidd that (i) an ormangement exists, which
is typically in the form of ¢ custemer purchase order; (il defivery has occurred, including the transfer of fitle and risk of loss to the customer; (i) the sales price is
fixed or determingble; and (iv) collectibility is deemed probable.

When o sale invoives multiple elements, or multiple products, and we hove vendorspecific objective evidence {*VSOE") of foir volue for each element in the
Arangement, we recognize revenue based on the relative fair volue of all elements within the arsongement. We determing VSOE based on sales prices charged to
tustomers when the some element is sold seporotely or based upan renewad pricing for PCS. Mony of our products, such os aur sofiwore ond chassis preducfs, are
not sold separately os these products indude 12 manths of free PCS, and accordingly we are unable to esfablish VSQE for these products.

In coses where YSOE only exists for the undefivered elements such as PCS, we apply the residual method to recagnize revenue. Under the residual methed, the
tatal arrangement fes is allccated first to the undelivered elements, typically PCS, based on their VSOE, and the residual portion of the fee is otlocated to the
delivered elements, typically our hardware and software products, and is recognized os revenug ossuming all ather revenue recognition criterio as described obave
have been met.

IF VSOF cannot be determined for oll undelivered elements of an grrongement, we defer revenue untl the earier of (i) the defivery of oll elements or (i) the estab-
lishment of ¥SOE for oll undelivered elements, provided that if the only undelivered element is PCS or o service, the total fee of the arangement is recogrized os
revenue over the PCS or service term,

Services revenues from our initiol and separotely purchosed extended conractual PCS arrangements (generally offered for 12 month periods) are recognized
rcfably over the contractual toverage period. I addition, for implied PCS obligafions we defer revenues from product soles and aflocate these amounts to PCS
revenues fo account for the circumstances in which we provide PCS after the expiration of the customers contractual PCS pericd. Defarred revenues for these
implied PCS abligations are recognized ratably over the implied PCS period, which is typically based on the expected economic life of our software products of
four yeors. To the extent we determine that implied PCS is no fonger being provided cfter the expiration of the customer's contiactual PCS period, the remining
defesred ravanue holance reloted to the implied PCS obligation is seversed ond recognized as revenue in the period of cessation of the implied PCS obligation. The
implied PCS obligation for our software products censes upon (i) the license managemen? of our software upgrades and (i} our determination ot to provide PCS
after the expiration of the contractua! PCS period. Our license management system locks a software license to a specific computer or bxia hardware chassis on
which our software sesides. The system then menages and controls the pravision of software upgrades to ensure that the upgrodes are only provided fo customers
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that are entitled to receive such upgrades during an inifiol or e}dended PCS period. !n connection with the restotement described in Amendment No, 2 on Form
10-K/A to ous Annwal Repart on Form 10K for the year ended December 3%, 2005, in cur Amendments en Form 10-0/A 1o our Quarterly Reports on Form 100
for the quarters ended Morch 31, 2006 and June 30, 2006 dnd in certain of gur other filings with the Securities end Exchange Commissiod (the “Commission”},
in December 2006 we completed the implementotion of o lcense manogement system for all of our significont software products. For software products that ate
not controdled under o license management system and for (eFuin customers where we expect o continue fo provide implied PCS outsida of the contractual PCS
periad, we will ontinue to allocate and defer revenue for these implied PCS obligations and to recognize this ravenue ratobly over the implied PCS pesiods as
described nbove, For the yeors ended December 31, 2008, 2005 and 2004, services revenues related to aur implied PCS obligatians appraximated 8.4 million,
8.3 million and $6.3 million, respectively. For the years endd December 31, 2006, 2005 oad 2004, approximately $25.9 million, 1.1 millien and 50, re-
spectively, of deferred revenue relating fo implied PCS wos rexersed and recognized os product revenue os a result of the license management of certoin products
ond our determination nat fo provide PCS ofter the expiration of the contractual PCS period. Future raversals of implied PCS deferrad fevenu ore not expected to
be significant over the neor term as a result of the license muﬁugemem of additional products and our determination not to provide PCS uﬁér the expiration of the
contractual PCS period.

Revenues from our sepacately purchased extended hardwore vimonty arrangements are recognized ratably over the contractual covernge period.

We use distibutors o complement our direct seles and markefing efforts in cestain international morkets. Oue to the broad range of feature$ and options available
with our hardware and software products, distibutors generally do not stock our products and typically place orders with us after receiving op order from on end
customer. These distributors receive business ferms of sale geterolly similas to thse received by our other customess.

Cost of Revenves. Our cost of revenues related to the sale of ur hardware and software products inchudes materials, payments to dhird perty contract manufactur-
ers, foyalties, ond salaries and other expenses relafed to oyr Tunufncmring ond operalions persornel, We outscurce the mojority of our mu?ufuduring operations,
and we coniduet final ossembly, supply chain management, quality ossurance, documentation control and shipping ot our facility in Calabasas, California.
Accordingly, a significant portion of our cost of revenues related to our products consists of payments to our contract manufacturers. Cost of fevenues reloied to

the provision of services includes solaries and other expenses associated with customer ond technical stppost services and the warranty cosfiof hordware fo be
teploced or repaired during the warranty coverage period. Cosj of revenues also includes the omortization of purchased invangible assets in connection with our
acquisitions of certain product fines ond technologies.

Qur cost of revenues s a percentage of fotal ravenuas is primrily affected by the following factors:

# changes in our pricing policies and those of our competitors;

» the pricing we are able to obtain from our component suppliers and contract manufacturers;

» the mix of our products seld, such s the mix ofysoftwore versus hardwase product sales, including the effects of any related deferrl, reversal and
recognition of revenues for implied PCS uhliguﬁlns;

= rigw product introductions by us and by our competiters;
# demand for our products;
* expenses feloted to acquired technologies, suchias royofties and amortization of intungible ossas;
* production volume; and

« the mix of sales channels thraugh which our products are sold.
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In the near fesm, we anticipate that our cost of revenues os o percentage of tatal revenues may increase, excluding the effects of any reversels of impliad PCS
chligofions, due to lower sales prices cn larger transactions us a result of increased competition,

Operating Expenses. Our aperafing expenses ore generally recognized when incurred and consist of research ond development, sales and markefing, general and
administrative, ond amortizofion of intangible assets. In the near term, we expect total operating expenses to modestly increase in dollar terms as we seek fo
attain our strategic product development ohijactives, meet changing customer requirements and technological advances, grow and maintain our direct sales force,
and expand our administrative infrastructure.

Research and development expenses consist primorily of salaries and ofher personnel costs related to the design, development, testing and enhancements of our
products. We expense our research and development costs as they are incurred. We also capitalize and depreciote over a five-year period costs of our products
used for internal purpases.

Sales ond marketing expenses consist primarily of compensation and reloted casts for personnel engaged in direct sales, sales suppert and markeing functions,
o5 well os promational and advertising expenditures. We also capitalize and depreciote over e two-yeor period costs of our prodicts used for sales and markefing
activities, induding product demansirations for potentiol customers.

Generol end administrative expenses consist primarily of solories and related expenses for execufive, finance, human resources, information technolagy and
admicistrafive personne), as well as recruiting and professianal fees, insurance costs and ather generol corporate expenses,

Amorfization of intungible assets consists of the omartization of the purchase price of the various imtungible assets over their useful fives. Periodically we review
goodwill and other intongible assets for impairment. An impairment charge would be recorded to the extent that the carrying value exceeds the fair value in the
period thot the impoirment circurnstances occurred.

Interest and Other income, Net. Interest and other income, net represents interest an cash and a variety of securities, including commercial paper, morey
market funds, ond government, federa! agency and corparate debt securities, and certain foreign currency guins and losses.

Incorne Tax. Income tax expense is determined bosed on the amount of earnings and enacted federal, state and foreign tox rates, adjusted for allowable credits
ond the effects of equity compensation plans.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Manggement’s discussien and analysis of financial condition and results of oparafions is based upan our consolidated financial statements which have been
mrepared i accordance with acceunting peinciples generally accepted in the United States of America. The preparation of these finoncial statements requires

us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liobilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets
and liabilities. On on angoing basis, we evaluate our estimates, induding those related to revenue recognition, allowance for doubtful accounts, write-downs for
chsolete inventory, income faxes, acquisition purchase price allocation, impaiment of longHived assets, stock-based compensation expense, and contingencies and
lifigntion. We base our esfimates on historical experience and on various other essumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results
of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying volues of nssets and liabilities that are not readily pparent from other sources. Actunl results
may differ from these estimates.

We opply the following critical accounting policies in the preparation of our consolidated finoncial statements;
* Revenue Recognition Policy, Wa recognize revenue os discussed in “Revenues” in the “Business Overview” section of ftem 7.

» Altowance for Doubtul Accounts. Trade accounts receivable are recorded af the invoiced omount and do not bear interest. The allowance for doubiful
occounts is based on our best estimnte of the nmount of probable credit fosses in existing accounts receivable. The allowance for doubtful accounts is
determined bosed on historical write-cff experience, current customer information and ather relevant dota. We review the allowance for doubtful aceounts
monthly. Past due bolonces of 40 days and aver are reviewad individually for callachbility, Account balances ure charged off ogeinst the allowance when
we helieve it is proboble the receivable will not be recovered. We do not hove any offbalance-shees credit exposure relafed to our customets.
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# Write-Down of Obsolefe Inventary, We write-down inventory for estimated obsolescence or unmarketeble inventory equal to the difference
betwaen the cost of inventory and the estimated market value bosed upan assumptions abaut future demand and market conditions, IF actual future
demand i less fovorable than our initicl estimate, additional inventory wiite-downs moy be required.

© income Toxes. We determine defermed toses based o the differences hetween the financial statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities, using
enacted tox rates in effect for the year in which the differences are expected to reverse. Valuation allowances are estobished when necessary to
reduce net deferred tux assets to the amonts expected fo be renlized. In assessing the need for o valuation allowance we consider estimates of
future toxable income and ongoing prudent and feasible tax planning shategies. We nlso nssess the likelihood of the ultjmote determination of
various income tax positions that may orise in different tax jurisdictions. These tax matters can be complex in nature and uncertain as to the ultimote
gutcome. We establish reserves for these fax positions, or contingencies, when we believe an unfovorable outcome is likety to occur and the linhility
ton be reasonably estimated. Athough we befieve these positions are fully supporiable, we consider the likelihood of pqrenﬁul challenges and
sustainability of such challenges upen exufninurion. Changes in our tax confingency reservas have occurred and are likely to confinue to occur os
our assessments change based on cument facts and circumstences such os further developmests ard progress of fox exutninurions. A revisfon in our
estimates of our reserves for tax contingencies, which would include the resolution of an applicable contingency, will be keﬂected as an adjusiment
to our income tax expense at the fima of the change in cur estimates. Such revisions could materially impact our effective tax rafe, income fax
expense and nef income,

» Acquisition Purchase Price Aflocation. When we ocquire o business, product line or rights to a product or technalogy, we allocate the purchase
price, including related transaction costs, 1 the various tangible and infongible assets nequired and the liohilifies ossuméd, based an their estimated
fair values. Deterining the foir volue of certain assets ond liobilities acquired is subjective in natura and often involves the use of significant
estimates and ossumptions. To assist in this process, we may obfoin appeaisals from valuation specialists for cerfain of these items. Most of the
assumptions used fo determine foir value fre made hosed on forecasted information. The useful lives of omortizable intangible ossets are reviewed
for reasonableness periodically by munng]mem in light of curzent conditions.

o Impairment of Long-Lived Assets. We eveluate the recaverability of our identifiable definite life intongible assets and ather longived assefs in
accordonce with Stasement of Financial Accounting Standards {“SFAS”) 144 which generally requires that we assess these assets for recoverability
when events or droumstonces indicate @ p! tentiol impairment by estimafing the undiscounted cash flows to be generated from the use and ultimate
disposition of these assefs, To the extent Pfut the estimated undiscounted cash flows foll below the corrying volue of the intangible or other long
lived assets we write-down the nssets to fair volue, Foir volue is generally determined hosed on discounted cash flows. Deterrmining the Fair volue
based on discounted cosh flows is subjective in noture and often invalves the use of significant estimates and assumptiops chout future results and
discount rates. We evoluate the secoverability of our goodwill in accardance with SFAS 142 which requires us to assess our goodwill annually for
impairment. Impairment losses are recarded to the extent that the carrying value of the goodwill exceeds the fair value.

* Stock-Bosed (ompensation Expense. Effective Jonuory ¥, 2004, we ndopted SFAS 123R. SFAS 123R eequires ol share-bosed payments, induding
grants of stock options, restricted stock unfrs and employee stock purchase rights, to e recognized in the financial statements based on their
respectiva fair volues for accounting purpo%es on the grant date. Under this standard, the foir volue of ecch share-based awerd is estimated on the
date of grant using an aption-pricing modl that meets certain requirements, We cumently use the Block-Scholes madel 4 estimate the fair value of
our shore-based awards which meets the quirements of SFAS 123R. The determination of the fair value of shnre-buseJ]uwurds utilizing the Block-
Stholes mode! is affected by aur stock price and o number of assumptions, including expacted volatility, expected life and risk-free inferest rate. The
expected life and expected volatiity are based on historical and other data trended into the future. The risk-free interest sote assumption is based
on observad interest rates appropriate for the terms of our stock aptions and stock purchase rights. Stock-based compensation expense recognized
in our consolidated financiol stotements in}2004 and thereatter will be based on awords that ore uliimately expected toivest, The amount of
stack-based compensation expense in 2004 and therectter will be reduced for estimated forfeitures based on historical experience us well as future
expectotions. Forfeitures are required fo bé estimated at the ime of gront ond revised, f necessary, in subsequent periojis if actual forfeitures differ
from those estimates. We will evaluate I'hé gssumptians used to value stoc awards on o periodic bosis. If foctors chung}a and we employ different
assumptions, sfock-based compensation expense may differ significantly from what we have recorded in the past. If thete ore any modifications or
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cancellafions of the underlying unvested shore-based owards, we may be required to accelerate, increase or cancel any remeining uneomed stack:
based compensction expense. To the extent thot we grant additional share-based awards to emplayees, our stock-hased compensation expense moy
increase by the odditional unearned compensction resulting from those grants. Hod we odopted SFAS 123R in grior periods, the impact would have
been similar to the current pro forma disclosures raquired under SFAS 123 (sea Nates 1 and 8 to our Consolidated Financial Statements).

» (antingencies and Litigotion. We evalucte contingent liabilities, including threatened or pending liigation, in Gecordance with SFAS 5, “Accounting
far Contingencies,” and we record accruals when the loss is deemed probable and the liobility can reasonably be estimated. We make these assess:
ments bosed on the facts ond circumstonces of each sifuotion and in some instonces bosed in port on the advice of outside legal counsal,

Results of Operations
The following table sets forth certain stotement of income dafa as o percentage of tofal revenues for the periods indicated:

Year Ended December 31,
2006 2005 2004
Revenues:
Products 86.3% 86.2% 67.8%
Services 13.7 13.8 12.2
Total revenues 100.0 100.0 1000
Costs and operating expenses; ™
Cost of revenues — produdts 16.3 16.1 18.
Cost of revenues — omortization of purchosad technalogy 26 25 28
(ost of revenues — services 1.5 1.5 13
Research ond development 4. 214 25
Sales ond markefing 318 260 274
General and odministrative 13.2 10.9 113
Amartization of intongible assets 10 09 14
Total costs and operating expenses 91.5 794 85.5
Income from aperations 8% 206 145
Interest and othar income, ner 5.2 33 27
Incame before income taxes 13.7 239 17.2
Income tax expense 6.2 50 3.6
Net income 7.5% 18.9% 13.6%
N Stock-hosed compensation included in:
Cost of revenues — products 0.3% 0.0% 0.0%
Cast of revenues — services IR 0.0 00
Research and development 34 00 0.2
Soles and marketing 44 0.0 0.1

Generol and edministrative 1.4 0.0 0.0
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Gomparison of the Years Ended December 31, 20006 and 2005
Revenues. In 2004, total revenues increosed 19.4% to $180.1 million from the $150.9 million recorded in 2005. This averall increase primarily relotes to the
$25.3 million increase in product revenves in 2006 over the same perind in 2005 due fo the $25.9 million of implied PCS defered reveque that was reversed
and recognized as revenug during the yeor ended Decemberi31, 2008, as compared 1o reversals of $1.1 million during the yeor ended December 31, 2005, ¢s a
sesult of the license managemant of certain products and ouf determination not to provide PCS after the expiration of the confrachual PCS |'Je!iod. Services revenves
in 2006 grew by $3.9 million over 2005 primarily due to the ratoble recognition of revenues related to our initial and extended contrectunl PCS obligations which
directly relates to the significant sequential increases in Shl'pl%ems of our software products during the preceding years. In 2006, total levénues from Cisco Systems,
ous Yargest occount, decrensed to $46.3 million from the $53.0 milkion in 2005,

Cost of Revenues. A n percentoge of tofal revenues, our fgtal cost of revenues increased o 20.4% in 2006 from 20.1% in 2005. Excluding the reversals of im-
glied PCS deferred revenue of $25.9 million and $1.1 rilibn from fotol revenues in 2006 and 7005, respectively, totol cost of revenues‘I 05 0 percentoge of totol
revenues wos 23.9% and 20.3%, respectively, This incrensé in the fotal cost of revenues percentage for the year ended December 31, 2006 waos due in part to
compelitive pricing pressures on certain larger deals during ﬁ[}Ob and the impact of stock-based compensation expense of $814,000 ;ec(lagnized during 2006 es 0
result of the adoption of SFAS 123R effective Jonuary 1, 2006. Cur cost of product revenues in 2006, excluding stock-based compensuﬁlon expense of $590,000,
increased 19.0% to $28.8 million fram the $24.2 million in 2005. This increose wos primarity due to some increases in component andjather inventory related
tosts. Amortization of purchased technology increased o $4.7 million in 2006 from the $3.9 million in 2005. This increase related to the higher amortization of
infangible asset charges ossociared with the July 2005 purchese of Communication Machinery Corporation, the Januory 2006 purchese df certain product lines from
Difthium Netwotks and the June 2008 acquisition of certain technology from Befl Canado. In 2006, our cost af providing services inaessed by 5465,000 10 $2.7
million from the 52.2 million in 2005 due fo the adoption fof SFAS 123R effective Jonuary 1, 2006 which resulted in the recognition of Stockbased compensation

expense of $224,000 in 2004 end due to costs associoted with certain initictives releted to cur professional services busingss.

Research and Developmen? Expenses. In 2006, research and development expenses increased 34.1% to $43.5 million from the 532l4 million recorded in
2005. This increase was due in part fo the adoption of SFAS 123R effective Januery 1, 2006 which resulted in stock-based compensation expense of $4.5 milkon
recarded during the year ended December 31, 2006. The Inctease in reseqich and development expenses in 2006 compared 1o 2005 v%os also due to higher
compensation and related employee costs of approvimately $2.3 million, an increase in facilities costs of approximetely $1.1 milkon unF higher depretiation
expense of $1.2 million. The increases in compensofion, foilities tosts and depreciation in 2006 as compared to 2005 were due in pari to the expansion of ur
intemnational development operations in India and Romanid.

Sales and Marketing Expenses. In 2008, sales ond murjeﬁng expenses increased 50.0% to $59.0 million from the $39.4 milion rel:rded in 2005. This
increase was due in part to the adoption of SFAS 123R effective January 1, 2006 which resulted in stock-basad compensation expense of $7.8 million recorded
during the year ended December 31, 2006. The increase |n soles ond marketing expenses in 2006 compared to 2005 ws akso due toja higher number of direct
sales and markefing personnel and their ussociated benefit costs and travel expenses, which resulted in an increase of opproximotely 58.4 million. Additionally,
depreciation expense increased by approximately 1.1 miffion and fucikty expenses increased by approximately $1.2 million in 2006 : compared to 2005. These
increases were due in part fo the incrensed use of our products by sales and marketing personnel and our new fadility in the United Kingdom.

General and Administrative Expenses. In 2006, generdl end adminishafive expenses increased 44.8% o $23.8 millon fiom the $16.4 million recorded in
2003. This increase was due in part to the odeption of SFIAS 123R effective Jonuary 1, 2006 which resulted in stock-bosed compensuljlion expense of 52.5 million
recordedd during the year ended December 31, 2006. Tha increose in general and administrative expenses in 2006 compared to 2005 also related fo the restate-
ment of certain of our previously filed financial stnremenrlg as more fully descrbed in our Amended 2005 Form 10K, in our Amendments an Form 100/ to our
Quorterly Reports on Form 104 for the quarters ended March 31, 2006 and June 30, 2006 and in certain of our ofher filings with the Securtes and Exchange
Commission (the “Commission"). The incremental costs tefuted to the restutement approximated $1.3 million during 2006 and relted primarily to oddifional
legal and accounting fees. The increase in genersl and adminisiative expenses in 2006 compored fo 2005 was olso due fo the expansion of our administrative
infrastructure in 2006, which resulted in an increase in f |cility expenses, induding certain internal system suppart costs, of $834,000, e increase in salery ond
benefit costs of just over $750,000 ond on incrense in dlp:eciuﬁun expense of approximately $630,000 in 2004 as compared to 2005.

Amortization of Infangible Assess. In 2006, omortizotion of intangible ossefs increased to $1.7 million from the $1.3 million recorded in 2005. This incraose in
2006 as compared to 2005 was primarily the result of increnses in infangible ossets resulting from the July 2005 purchase of (ommlJFnicuﬁon Mochinery Corpara-
tion, the January 2006 purchase of certoin product fines from Dilithium Nesworks and the June 2006 acquisition of certoin technalogy/from Belf Canado.
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Interest and Other Income, Net. Inferest and ather income, net increased to $9.4 million in 2006 from the $5.1 million recorded in 2005. This increase was
lrgely attributable to higher interest rotes and larger cash and investment balances in the aggregate during 2006 os compared fo 2005.

Income Tax Expense. Income tux expense increased to $11.2 million, or an effective rote of 45.4%, in 2006 from S7.6 million, or en effective rate of 21.0%,
in 2005, The effective tax rate in 2006 differs kom the effective tox rate in 2005 primarily due to the impoct of stock-bosed compensation s recognized pursu-
ant o SFAS 123R, o5 certain stock-hased compensafion chorges, such os thase nssoiated with incentive stock aptions, may not be tax deductible. The effective
tax rate for 2006 os compored ta the effective tax rate for 2005 wos also adversely impacted by lower research and development tux credits in 2006 ond due
tn 0 decrensed amaunt of tox benefits in 2004 relnted to the disqualifying disposition of incentive stock options fo the extent that stock-based compensation
expense had previously been reflected in our consolidated financial statements.

Comparisen of the Years Ended December 31, 2005 and 2004

Revenves. In 2005, total revenues incrensed 36.3% to $150.9 millian from the $110.7 million recorded in 2004. This overall growth in 2005 compared to
2004 principally related to our produet revenues driven by an increase of epproximately $27.0 million in shipments of our Ethemet hordware products, espediclly
our Gigabit TXS end 10 Gigahit Ethemet inferface cards. Services revenues in 2005 grew by $7.3 million over 2004 primarily due to the ratable recogeifion of
revenues reloted to our contractual and implied PCS obligations which directly reletes to the significant sequential increases in shipments of our softwose products
during the preceding years. In 2005, total revenues from Cisco Systems, our krgest account, grew by $18.1 miflion, or 51.8%, 1o $53.0 milliea.

Cost of Revenues. Our tota) cost of revenues increosed 21.1% to $30.3 million in 2005 from $25.1 million in 2004. As o percentage of total revenues, our
total cost of revenues decreased to 20.1% in 2005 frem 22.6% in 2004. Cost of product revenues increased 17.7% to $24.2 million in 2005 from $20.6
million in 2004 primarily due to the increase in product shipments in 2005 compored to 2004, The incraase in our cost of product revenues wos partiofly offset
by the elimination of the $500,000 minimum quarterly Chariot rayalty that endad in the fourth quarter of 2004, which resulted in a $2.0 million decrease in our
cast of product revenues in 2005 when compared to 2004. Amortization of purchased technology increased to $3.9 million in 2005 from $3.0 million in 2004,
The increase related ko, among other irems, the amorfization of infangible assets associated with the January 2005 purchase of the remaining essets of the
Chariot business from NetlQ. In 2005, our cost of providing services increased by $793,000 to $2.2 million from the $1.4 million in 2004 primarily dus to the
$657,000 incranse in costs associoted with our technical support group.

Research and Development Expenses. In 2005, research and development expenses increased 29.8% to $32.4 million from the $25.0 millien recorded in
2004. This increase primarily related fo higher compensation and related benefit costs of $4.4 million in 2005 os compared to 2004, due in port fo the expan-
sion of our infernational development operatians, This incrense in 2004 as campared to 2004 was also due to incrensed deprediation expense of $392,000,
higher travel costs of $843,000 and higher rent expense of $541,000, due in part fo the expansion of ou infemazional development operations, ond higher
prototype costs of $345,000 associated with new product development,

Sales ond Marketing Expenses. In 2005, soles and marketing expenses increosed 28.8% to $39.4 million from the $30.6 million recorded in 2004, This
increase was primarly due fa the oddition of direct sales and markefing personnel and their assaciated beefit costs and fravel expenses, which resulted in on
increase of $5.7 million in sales and markefing expenses in 2005 as compared fo 2004, Additionally, depreciotion expense increased by $1.0 million and
trodeshow, odvertising and marketing communications expenses increased by $868,000 in 2005 as compared fo 2004.

General and Administrative Expenses. In 2005, general and edministrative expenses increased 31.7% to $16.4 million from the $12.5 million recorded in
2004, This increase was primorily due fo the expansion of our administrative infrosteucture o support our growth and legal expenses primarly related to general
business issues and ongoing lifigntion, Administrative expansion efforts resulted in an increase in salary and benefit costs of $1.2 million and en increase in
reciuifing costs of approximatefy $832,000 in 2005 as compared to 2004. Additionally, legal costs increased by approximately $717,000 in 2005 as compred
10 2004, largely refated to general business issues and ongoing lifigation.

Amortization of Intangible Assets. In 2005, amortization of intangible assets decreased to $1.3 million from the $1.5 million recorded in 2004. This decrense
wos largely o result of the completion of the amartization of cerfain intongible ossets.

Interest and Other Income, Net. Interest und other income, net increased to $5.1 million in 2005 from the $3.0 milfion recorded in 2004. This increase wos
lorgely ottributable o higher interest rates and lorger <osh and investment balances in the aggregate during 2005.
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Income Tax Expense. Income fux expense increosed to $7.6 milion, or on effactive rate of 21.0%, in 2005 from 4.0 million, or an effective rate of 21.1%,

in 2004. The effective tox rate differs from the statutory ran

primarily due to research and development tax credits and the tox benefits h!om the disqualifying

isposition of incentive stock options o the extent that stack-based compensation expense had previously heen reflected in our consofidated fnonie! stotements.

Liguidity and Capital Resources

As of December 31, 2006, we had cash and cash equivalents of S64.6 millian compared to 5518 million o5 of December 31, 2005, Qur cash, cosh

equivolents and short and long-term investments, when vi
as of December 31, 2005.

Net cash provided by operating activities wos $33.9 million

in 2004, 2005 and 2004 was primasily provided by net mcl]

s!wed as 0 whole, totaled $221.7 million a5 of December 31, 2004 compared to $201.7 million

n 2006, $50.0 million in 2005 and $29.4 millien in 2004. Net cosh generated from operations
me of $13.5 million, $28.5 millien and $15.0 million, respectively, ud|usfeé for non<cash items

and chonges in working capital components, In 2006, 2005 ond 2004, norcash items includzd $16.5 million, $11.1 million and $8.0 rplllmn respectively, for

depreciation ond amartization of fixed and intangible assets,

I 2006, nan-cash items also included stock-hosed compensation charges of ElB .0 million related to

the odoption of SFAS 123R effective Jonuary 1, 2006. ln 2|005 and 2004, noa-ash items included $14.9 million and $4.5 millian, respectively, related to cor
tain fax benefits of stock option ransactions, which were partinlly offset by the S8.1 milkon and $1.7 million increases in net deferred rmi assefs, fespectively. In
2006, net deferred tax assets decreased by $5.7 millian due in port 1o the increase in reversals of implied PCS deferred revenue in 2006 ns compared to 2005.

In 2006, 2005 ond 2004, changes in working capita! incuded a reduction of $5.0 million, $9.4 million ond $5.1 milion, respectively, h{r increoses in occounts

receivable due in part to the liming of shipments to customel
related 4o additional deferrals of revenue for implied and con

5. In 2005 ond 2004, defecred revenues incregsed by $10.3 million ond $7! 4 million, respectively,
actul PCS obligations, wheregs in 2006, deferred revenues decrensed by $15.0 milion primarily

due to reversals of implied PCS deferred revenue os a result of the license management of certain products and our detsrmination nat to provide PCS ofter the

expiration of the contractual PCS period,

Cash used in investing activities was $27.0 million in 2008,
peincipally consisted of 572 million refated fo the net purch

S41.2 million in 2005 and 546.5 million in 2004. In 2004, cosh used in initesﬁng netivities
ses of morketnble securities, $172.3 millian for the purchase of property and equipment, $5.7 million

reloted to the lonuary 2004 purchase of tertain product lines from Dilithium Networks and $2.1 milkon related to the June 2004 ucqmsmon of certain technology

million for the purchase of property ond equipment, $4.2 milion reluted fo the July 2005 acquisition of Communicotion Machinery Curpuruhon $2.5 million

from Befl Canado. In 2005, cosh used in investing octivities j:nnclpully consisted of $19.1 million related to the net purchases of murkeruble securities, $13.4

related to the fanuary 2005 purchase of the remaining asse

of the Chariot business from NetiQ, and $1.9 million related to the Jonuory|2005 poyment of the

remainder of the G3 Nova contingent eamout. in 2004, cusﬂ used in investing octivities principally consisted of $30.0 million relared to tfge ned purchoses of

marketoble securities, $8.7 million used for the purchase of

subsequently earned contingent poyments bosed upan sales of 63 Nova produsts.

In 2008, Einancing octivities provided 5.9 million and consi:
thraugh the employee siock purchase plan, and $255,000 f

roperty and equipment, and $6.4 million related to the Fehruory 2004 acquisition of G3 Nova and

sted of $5.6 million from the procesds sefuted to the exercise of stock options and stock purchases
om the excess tox benefits from stock-bosed compensation pursuant to the guidance of SFAS 123,

which was adapted Jonuary 1, 2006, Finoncing activities provided $24.6 million in 2005 ond $12.3 million in 2004 ond consisted exclusively of proceeds from

the exercise of stock opfions and stock purchases through the employee stock puschase plan.,

As of Becember 31, 2006, we hod no material cummitmentls for capitod expenditures. We believe that our existing balances of cash and cosh equivalents, invest-
ments and cash Aows expected to be generated from our operations will be sufficient o satisfy our operoting requirements for t least the next twelve months.
Nonetheless, we may seek odditional sources of copital as necessary or appropriate to fund acquisitions or to atherwise finance our growth. or operafions; however,

there con be no ossurance thot such funds, i needed, will be|

sale of equity or debt sequrities, is subject to various factors,

avoloble on fovorable terms, if ot oll. Qur occess to the copital markets o ruilse funds, through the
including the fimey fifing of our periodic reparts with the Commission, and ouf fuiure to timely fle

our Quarterly Repart on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2006 with the Commission currently limits our ability fo access the capitol markets using

shorrorm regisiation.
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Financial Conunitimertts
QOur significent fingncial commitments at December 31, 2004 cre os follows {in thousands):

Yeor Ending December 31,

Total 2007 2008 7009 2010 2001 Thereofter

Openating leases S 9879 S 4059 S 2286 S 980 S 81 § 544 5 1049
Purchase obligafions™ 7,280 1,280 — — — — —
Totol S 1759 % 11,339 S 2286 S 980 S 841§ 544 5 1149

" In the nermal course of business we issue purchase orders fo certain of our coniract manufacturers o produce specified quantities of cernin interface cards and
chassis. It is not our intent, nor is it reasonobly kel tht we would cancel these exeruted purchase ordars.

Recenm Accoumting Pronouncenients

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, “The Fair Value Option for Fingnciol Assefs ond Finonciad Linbiities — including an amendment of FASB Stote-
ment No. 115" {"SFAS 159", which permits entities o choose to mensure many finoncial instruments and certain other assets and liabilities at fair value on an
inskument-by-instrument basis (the fair volue aption). Unrealized gains and losses on items for which the foir value option hos been elected ore to be recognized
es eamings ot eoch subsequent reporting date. SFAS 159 is effective fiscal yeors beginning after November 15, 2007. We believe that the adoption of SFAS 159
will not have a sigaificant impoct on our consolidated financial position, results of operations or cush flows.

In September 2006, the SEC issued Staff Accounting Bullstin No. 108 (“SAB 108"}, which estoblishes o dual approach thet requires the quontification of financiol
statement errors on 0 single quantification framework ta be used by all public companies. Under SAB 108, financial stotement ermors will be quontified based on
the effects of the error on eath of o company's financia! staterients and the reloted disclosures. This dual approach requires that erors be quantitied under both
the iron-curtain method, which focuses primarly on the effect of correcting the period-end batance sheet, and the roll-over mathod, which facuses pimarily on

the impact of on error on the income stefement. SAB 108 is effective for fiscal years ending after November 15, 2004. We adopted SAB 108 on December 31,
2006. The adoption of SAB 108 did not hove o significant impoct on our consolidated financial posifion, results of operations or cash flows.

In September 2006, the FASB issued Statement of Financiol Accounting Standards No. 157 “Fair Value Measurements” (“SFAS 157%), which defines fair vaue,
estohlishes o fromework for meosuring foir value in generolly accepted occounting principles (“GAAP™), and expands disclosures about foir value megsurements. This
Statement is applied under other accounting pronouncements that require or permit fair value measwrements, the FASB having previausly conduded in thase accounting
peonouncernents that faie value is the relevont megswrement aitribute. SFAS 157 is effective for financial stotements issued for fiscal years beginning fter November 15,
7007, and interim periods within those fiscal yeors. We are curentty evalunting the impact on our finoncial statements of odapting SFAS 157

1n June 2006, the FASB issued FAS Interpratation No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Toxes — An Inferpretation of FASB Statement No. 109” (“FIN
48", FIN 48 clarifies the occounting for uncertainty in income toxes secognized in fingnciol stotements in accordance with FASB Statement No. 109, “Accounting
for Income Taxes.”™ FIN 48 afso prescribes e recognition threshold and measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition cnd measurement of o tox
pasition taken or expected o be taken in o tox return. FIN 48 also provides quidonce on derecognifion, dossification, interest and penulties, eccounting in interim
periads, disclasure, and transifion. The provisions cf FIN 48 ore effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2006. Only tax positions thot meet the
moredikely-than-not recognition threshold at the effective dote may be recognized or confinue to be racognized upon adoption of FIN 48. The cumulative effect of
applying the provisions of FIN 48 should be reported os on adjustment to the apening balonce of retained eamings (or other oppropriate companents of equity or
ne! assets in the statement of financial position) for that fiscal yeor. We wili cdapt FIN 48 effecive Junuory 1, 2007. The adoption of FIN 48 is not anticiputed to
have o significont impact on our consalidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

[n June 2006, the FASB rafified EITF lssue No. 06-03, “How Sales Tox Cellected from Customers and Remitted so Governmental Authorities Should be Presented
in the Income Statement (Fhat is, Gross Versus Net Presentaion) (“ENTF 04-03"). EITF 06-03 provides that any tox assessed by o governmental authority that is
directly imposed on o revenue-producing fransaction between o seller ond o customer may includs, but is not limited to, sales, vse, volue added, ond some excise
taes. EITF 08-03 also grovides thot the presentation of such faxes on either o gross (included in revenue and costs) or o nat (excluded from revanues) basis is
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an accounting policy decision that a company should make and disclase in its financiol stoterments, and disclose any such toxes that are rep!orted on a gross basis,
if materinl, for each period for which an income statement is 1 resented, EITF 0403 is effective or finoncial statements for interim and annual ceporting periods
beginning after December 15, 2006. We will odopt EITF 06-93 effective Jonuary 1, 2007. The adoption of EXTF 06-03 is not enticipated to have o significont
impact on owr consolidoted financial position, results of operations or cash fows, !

Itemn 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures Abaut Market Risk

Interest Rate Sensitivity

The primary obiective of our investment activities is fo rnuimgin the sofety of principal and preserve liguidity while maximizing yields without significantly
increasing risk. Some of the securities that we have invested in may be subject o market risk. This means that o change in prevailing inferest rates moy couse
the principal omount of the invesiment to fluctuate. To minimize this risk, we maintain our portfolia of cosh equivalents ond investments ir] 0 variety of securities,
induding commercial paper, govemment debt securifies, mrplorme debt securities, ouction rate securities and money market funds. We do ot use ony dedvatives
or similor instruments to manage our interest rafe risk. We ir’rend and hove the ability o hald these securifies fo moturity and, therefore, \Le would not expect our
consolidated aperating results or cash flows to be offected to ony significont degree by o sudden change in market interest rates. Currenrlﬂ the carrying amount
of these securities opproximates foir market value. However! the fair market value of these securities is sublect fo interest rate risk and wauld decline in value if
market interest rotes increased. If market inferest rates were fo increose immediately and uriformly by 10 percent from the levels as of Décember 31, 2006, the
dedine in the fair market value of the portfolic would not bel matesi to our consolidated finoncial position, results of operations or cash fiows.

Exchange Rate Sensitivity
The majority of our revenue ond expenses are denominated in U.S. dollors. However, since we hove sales ond development operations outside of the United
Stotes, we do have some tansactions that are denuminuterl in foreign currencies, primarily the Japanese Yen, Romanian Lei, lndian Rupeé, (Chinese Yuon ond
British Pound. We utiize foreign currency forward controcts to hedge certain sceounts receivoble amounts that are denominated in Jupunelfe Yen. These controts
are used 1o reduce our risk ossociated with exchange rafe n]ovemenls, as goins and losses on these contracts are infendad to offset exchange losses and gains on
underlying exposures. Changes in the fair volue of these forward contracts are recorded immediately in earnings. We do not enter info for*aign exchonge forword
contracts for speculotive or troding purpeses and we do not expect net gains of losses on these derivative instuments fo hove o material mpoct on our results of
opertions o7 cash flows.

[rem 8. Financial Statements and Supplpmentary Data
Qur financiol statements and supplementary data required by this Item ore provided in the consolidoted financial statements of the Compony included in this Form
10 us fisted in Item 15{a) of this Form F0-K.

ltem 9. Changes in and Disagrecments with Aceountants on Accounting and Financial Dis(:h1 shre
None.

lrem 9A. Controls and Procedures

Restatement
In Febirvory 2007, we restated: (i) our previousy issued consolidated finoncial statements for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 end 2003; (i

eur unaudited quartedly financial data for each of the quorfers in the yeors ended Dacember 31, 2005 ond 2004; (@) our unudited qu‘merlv finoncial doto

for the quarter ended March 31, 2006 ond for the quunerlund sixmonth period ended June 30, 2006 and (iv) certoin selected ﬁnunciixl datn for the years
ended December 31, 2002 and 2001. The Restatement Jlt]S principally related o the correction of esrars in our recognition of ravenue for implied post contract
customer support (*PCS™) obligations in aceardonce with ﬂi[PA Statement of Position (*SOP") 97-2 “Software Revenue Recognition,” ns amended by SOP 989,
"Software Revenue Recognition with Respect to Cerfain Arrungements” {collectively, "SOP 97-27).

In October 2004, we announced that the Company’s menpgement, under the direction of the Audit Commitiee of our Board of Direm}rsI {the “Audit Committee”),
waos conducting an accounting review reloted to revenue recognition with respect to-our softwore upgrode and support proctices and the potentiol impact of such
practices on our praviously reported finondial results.
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Undes our standard PCS palicies and conrachual agreements, we provide oll customers with 12 months of PCS aiter the inifial sole of o software praduct, end we
provide them with extended PCS for subsequent 12-month periods anly if they purchase such extended PCS. Based on thess stundard PCS policies and ogree-
ments, our accounting practice has historicolly been to defer o portion of the product revenue ot the fime of tha inifial sole ond shipment of the product for the
inifil contractual 12 manths of PCS provided with each software peoduct. In the course of the accounting review, we determined thot we had o business practice
in certain situations of providing unspecified softwore upgrodes and support for products for which the contractua! PCS period had expived.

In November 2006 ond s a result of the findings during the accounting review, management recommended to the Audit Commitice, and e Audit Committee
concurred with the recommendation, that we restate our consolidated financial stutements for certain prior periods to corret our recognition of revenue relofed to
the provision of unspecified software upgrades and support for products for which the controctual PCS period hod expired, which upgrades and support hod created
implied PCS obligations for thase products that extended beyond the contractual PCS periods. The implied PCS obligations should have resulted in on odditianal de-
ferral of revenue when the products were inifially shipped. Specifically, SOP 97-2 requised that we re-allocate certuin previously reported product revenues, which
revenues hod generally been recognized of the fime of product shipment, to implied PCS revenues, which revenves are required to be recognized oves the mult
yeor period during which the implied PCS obligations are in effect {such multiyear period would typically begin 12 months ufter the dote of product shipment). As
nated abave, our previaus proctice af the fime of sale of  software product was fo allocate revenue fo PCS anly for the initio! contractual 12 months of PCS.

As disclosed in Part il Item 94 of Amendment No. 2 on Form 10-K/A to aur Arnual Report on Form 10K for the year ended December 31, 2005 os filed with
the Commission on February 23, 2007 (the “Amended 2005 Fore 10K}, our Chiaf Exacutive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that os of December
31, 2005, the Company did not maintuin effective intemol control over financiol seporting becouse of o material weakness in the Compony's controls over the
completeness and accurocy of revenue reporting for implied PCS obfigations. Qur Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer also concluded that, in light of
the materiol weakness, the Company’s disclosure controls ond procedures were ineffective os of December 31, 2005.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Attoched s Exhibits 31.1, 317 and 32.1 to this Form 10K are certifications by our Chisf Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer. The cerfifications attuched
os Exhitits 31.1 and 31.2 ore requited under Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Adt of 2002 (the "Section 302 Certfications”). The information contuined be-
low relates to the “Controls Evalution” refirred ta in the Section 302 Certficotions, ond should be read with the Section 302 Certifications for @ more complefs
understanding of the fopics presented.

ks of December 31, 2006, we coried out on evaluation under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Exerutive -
Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and aperation of our disclosure controls and procedures. The term *disclasure cantrols and
procedures,” as defined in Rules 13e-15(e) and #5d-15(e) under the Securifies Exchangs Act of 1934, os omended (the “Exchange Act”), means controls and
other procedures of o company thot are designed to ensure thot information required to be disclosed by o company in the reports thot it iles or submits under the
Exchange At is secorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time pesiods specified in the SEC's rules and forms. Disclosure controks and procedures
inckade, without imitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by o company in the reports that it files or submits
under the Exchange Act is accumulnted and communicated to the company's management, including ts principot exacutive and principal financial officers, ar
persans performing simifar functions, o5 appropriate, to cllow fimely decisions regording required disclosures.

Qur Chief Executive Offices and Chief Finoncial Officer have evoluated our disdosure controls ond procedures as of December 31, 2004 ond have determined that,
because of the material weakness in our intermal contiol over finoncial reporting described below that existed os of December 31, 2005 and that continued to
exist as of December 31, 2006, our disdosure controls and procedures were not effective os of December 31, 2004.

Notwithstonding the ineffectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2006 ond the motesial weakness in our intemal confrol over
financial reparfing that existed as of that date as destribed below, manogement believes that (i} this Form 10K does net cantain any untrue stafement of o mote-
tial fact or omit to stafe o materiol fact necessary to make the stotements made, in light of tha circumstances under which they were made, nat misleading with
respect to the periods covered by this Report and (i the consolidoted finoncial staements, and other financial information, included in this Report fairy present in
oll material respects in occordance with generally accepted accounting principles ("GAAP*) our finandial condition, results of operotions ond cash flows as of, ond
for, the dates and periods presented.
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Management’s Report on Internal Conregl aver Finaneial Reporting
Qur monogement, induding our Chief Executive Officer ond 03. Chief Fiaoncial Office, s responsibte for establishing ad maintoining adequate intemal control over
finoncial reporting, us such term is defined in Rutes 13&15(9: and 15¢115(f} under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, os amended {the "Exdmnge A", Qur
internal conirol over financial repaerting is o process designed kb ovide reasonable assurance regarding the refiability of financial reporting ond e preparation of our
finoncial statements for extemal purposes in accardance with L.S. generdlly accepted occounting principles (“GASP). Because of is inherent bmitations, our intemal
control over finandial reporfing moy not prevent or detect mtsstutemems Also, projactions of ony evotuation of effectiveness to future periods are subject o the risk that

controls may become inadeguate becouse of changes and condmons or that the degree of compliance with policies or procedures moy deferalgte.

As of December 31, 2006, our manogement assessed the tlaﬂecﬁveness of our intemal control over financiol reporfing using the citeria @i forth in
Intermof Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission {*(0S0")

A material weakness is a control deficiency, or combination Inf control deficiencies, that results in more than a remote ikelihood that o matericl misstatement of
the anrval or interim finncial statements will not be prevented or detected.

ks of December 31, 7006 we did not maintain effective co(muls over the completeness and oecuracy of revenue reporfing for imsplied PCS obligations. Specifically,
we did not maintoin effective controls fo ensure that (i) we, did not provide sofiware upgrades ond support fo customers afer the expiration of the contractual PCS
periods ond (ii} the circumstances under which our sales un!i support personnel provided software vpgrodgs and support beyond the con netool periods were od-
equately identified, communicated to, and reviewed by our finance personnel ta ensure the proper recognition of revenue for implied PC;T bligations in cccordnce
with genernlly occepted occounting principles. This conirol dehuency resulted in the restotement of our 2005, 2004 ond 2003 annuad consohdured financial
stoternends, all of our inferim condensed consoliduted finongial statements for 2005 and 2004 as well as the first two intesim periods of 005, Additionalty, this
control defiriency could result in o misstatement of revenuejond deferred revenue that would result in ¢ material misstoternant of our annbal and intesim consolk
doted financial statements that would not be prevented or defected. Accordingly, we have determined that this control deficiency constitules a moteriol weakness.

Because of the material weakness described above, monagement has concluded that she Company did not maintain effective intemal coqhol over financial report
ing gs of December 31, 2006 hosed on caterio estoblished!in infemal Control — Infagrated Framework issued by the Committee of Spansoring Organizations of
the Treadway Commission ("C0S07).

Manngement's assessment of our infemal control over financiol reparting as of December 31, 2006 has been audited by PricewateshouseCoopers LLP our
independent registered public occounting firm, os stoted in fhei report which is included elewhere herein.

Remediation Efforts to Address Materia] Weakness
Our management hos warked, and confinues to wark, o strengthen both our disclasure controls and procedures and ou intemal conirol oves finandial reporting.
We are committad to ensuring thet such controls are operating effectively. Since identiying in 2004 the material weckness in our intetnal constot over finoncil
reparting that existed s of December 31, 2005 ond the rglated ineffectiveness of our disclasure cortrals and procedures and intemal control over financial repor-
ing, we have taken, and hove committed 1o take, o nunher of actions in on effort o uddress such ineffectiveness and o remediate the moteriol weokness ihot
existed of December 31, 2005 and that confinued fo st December 31, 2006. The actions that we have taken and thot we will toke in order to prevent the
recurrence of circumstances such os those that resulted in e Restatersent indlude, withaut limitation, the fallowing:

# license Manogemen! System { “LMS”) — [n December 2004, we completed the implemeniution of a license management system, or LMS, for
all of our significont software products. This system locks o softwore Ecense to a specific computer or Ixia hardware chossis lon which our software
resides and menages the provision of sofiwme upgrades to ensure that the upgrades are only provided to customers thet ate entitled fo receive
such upgrodes during on inifial or extended P[S period. The use of the LMS to control our sofiware upgrades is o significant impravement over the
use of our legocy possward system that did ot sufficiently control the circomstonces under which upgrodes were provided for many of our seftware
products. Undes awr legacy password system the software upgrode files ware protected with posswords thot were readily accassible to sales and
support personnel. These passwaords were nof frequentty changed and were not provided under ony system of ficense manggement. During the
accounting teview, management determined that, for a variety of reasons, including to (i) provide bug fixes, (i) faciltote the sefe of new products
that did not function with a customer’s exising Ixia products, and {iii) meet competitive pressures, our sales ond support personnel used such reodily
nccessible posswords and,/or disseminated fiem to customers to provide software upgrades at  time when the cusromersrwere not contactually
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antitled to receive such PCS. The proctices were not documented (for example, on sales quotations or customer purchase orders) in @ monner ok
identified them to our managemerst and finance personnel to enable them 1o review and account for them in accrdance with SOP 97-2. As o
result, we did not, os required by SOP 97-2, defer revenue for these implied PCS obligations. Qur completion during the fourth quarter of 2006 of
a licanse management system for cll of our significant software products now provides us with an effective preventativa control in thet the icense
mancgement system restricts the provision of software upgrades fo anty those customers thot are enfitled to such upgrades. This system should
eliminate the possibility of customers receiving free PCS without the knowledge of our finance persannel. For cartoin software praducts fhet are nos
subject to license management and for certain customners for which free extended PCS periods are to be provided, we will defer revenue for implied
PCS obligations irs accordance with SOP 97-2.

o Enhanced Revenue Recognition Policies and Practices — During the querter ended Dacember 31, 2006 and in light of the Company’s account-
ing review cnd Restatement, we Horaughly reviewed, supplemented and clerified our written revenue recognition policies and prattices in an effort
to ensure that our sales, support and other personnel are aware of ond clearly understand these policies. The Audit Committee has reviewed, and
we cre curently in the process of finclizing, the enhanced documentafion for oux revenue recognition policies and proctices. By the end of the firs!
quarter of 2007, members of senior management and finance will distribute the revised ond enhonced revenue recognition poliies and practices to
all Company pezsonnel. We wil also post o copy of the pokcies and practices on our Infranet site for easy reference.

o Communication and Training Regarding PCS and Revenue Recognition Policies — Subsequent to the determination that we had a practice of
providing software upgrodes and support to certain customess that differed from our standard PCS policies and confractuol agreements beginning in
the quarter ended December 31, 2006, we have expressly and repeatedly communicated and reinforced, both orally cnd in writing, o our sales,
support, management and finance personnel, aur policy with respect fo the provision of PCS services (i.e., no unouthorized “outofmaintenance”
services should be provided). We have also begun to create additional troining matesiols regarding our PCS ond revenue recognition policies, which
matarials will be disfributed to our sales, support, product management and order monagement personnel {os well as to new hires in those groups)
iin arder to ensure that such personnel oppropriately understand and consider these policies in the cowrse of their emplayment with the Company.
These materials will include copies of the policies and en exploncion of the rale that sales and support persannel play in ensuring that we comply
with thase policies. In 2007, we plan ta cantinue to enhance our communication and training program regarding PCS and revenug recognitian
policies by conducting o number of revenue recognifion raining sessions that wil be presented by persons hoving expertise in SOP 97-2 and in-
depth knowledge ragarding our business, our PCS palicies and aur sevenue recogaition policies and practices. The frcining program induded training
provided ot our lonuary 2007 internationat sales conference for all sales personnel ond will include new tire taining, os well as enual, mandatary
fraining sessions and reqular refresher sessions. To the extent practicable, we will conduct training in person and in small group sessions to enhance
the effectiveness of the kaining. In 2006, wa olso communicated to our sates and customer support personnal fiat we will take oppropricte
disciptiaary actions, up to and including termination of employment, if they do not comply with aur PCS poliies and aur policies and procedures thet
offect our occounting for matters relating to revenus tecognition.

o (ommunication among Fundional Groups within the Company — The proctices and errors that resulted in the Restatement occurred in part
because of a lack of effective communication among various xja depariments and specifically between our finance group, on the one hand, and our
sales and customer support parsonnel, on the other, The Company is in the process of implementing mare formalized and regular communications
among the vorious funclional groups within the Company, inchuding finanee, seles, customer suppart, product monagement and order management
personnel, with respect to matters that may affect the Company’s accounting cnd finanial reporting. The Company plans, amang other things, to
arronge fos requlor meetings between members of these depariments and finance and for discussions ceross departments regarding field-evel and
other practices that may affect the Cormpany’s accounting ead financic! stotements.

* finance Group — The Company hos token and is continuing fo take staps to ensure that the Company’s finance group receives adequate resources
and is effectively staffed and osganized. The Company is also requiring that ifs finonice personnel regufarly attend continuing education fraining
courses in accounting and finance to erhance their knowledge of and expertise in the accounting principles opplicable to the Company’s business and
particularly SOP 97-2.
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* Revenue Recognition Senior Manager — In lote Febryary 2007, we further strengthened our control environment with respect to revenue
recognition by hiring o Senior Manages, Revenuie Recognition who has technical understanding and experience in this highly complex area. This
individual, who is a cerfified public accountant is responsible for manitaring and helping ensure compliance with our revenue recognifion poficies,
including iraining our intemnal personnel (e.g., sales, finance, customer suppart, product manogement and order management personnel} with reqord
o the policies, participating in reviewing contragt provisions and sales and other business proctices, including our PCS policiesiand proctices, that o
fect revenue recognition ond overseeing the implementation of and monitoring controls designed to ensure compliance with ol revenue recognition
policies and GAAR

» Quarterly Certification Letters — We have also revised, supplemented and clarified the cerffication letters that certain soles personnel are
required o execute on a quortery basis regurdi{tg the absence of side letter ogreements and concessions and regarding ol’ner!muh‘ers that affect our
accounting for sales fransoctions. We hove rewied these certificatians to ensuie thot the persons signing them clearly uudersr?nd the meaning of the
representations that they are making in the cerfifications, including representations that would require them to identify any drcumstances that might
give rise to implied PCS obligations, and that Ih‘ev clearly understand the PCS practices that ae prohibited, s well as the consequences to the indi
vidua! and to the Company of violating those pl'uhibiﬁons. W first presented the revised certification form to certain sales employees with respect o
the quarter ended September 30, 2006. We h&ve also created o similor certification letter thet certain support personnel will be required fo execute
on o quorterly basis. We first presented this ne y ceriication form o those employees with respect to the quorter ended Decamber 31, 2006, In
trder to promate substantive understanding of and communication about the certifications generaly and about any trunsucliohs that ore potentily
exceptions to the cerfifications, we also plan ta ‘mndify, beginning with the quorter ending March 31, 2007, the processes by which personnel
tomplere and retum their certification lefters. ﬂlese revised processes will impress upon Company personnel the need for accurate representations,
the Company’s refiance on these representations, and the potentially severe consequences of inaccurate or impraper certficatims.

ks noted above under “Monagement's Report on Intemal [onhil over Financial Reporting,” notwithstanding the remediation measures that, s described above, were
completed by the Company prior to December 31, 2008, mun&gement has concluded that the Company did not maintain effective intemal cum}nl over financial
reporting as of Dacember 31, 2006. Management believes that while we had mode substurstiol progeass prior to Becember 31, 2006 in implementing he remediation
measures thot are outlined above, the completion of certuin megsures, such os the formal communication of our revenue recognifion policies and practices fo all Comr
pany personnel end the hiring of our Revenue Recognition Senitfr Monoger, was necessary in arder to fully remediate the material weokness. As jndicated abave, we will
continue to work to complete the implementation of these mw%r% and we will carefully monitor the improvements in our controls over the complefeness and accuracy
of revenue reporting for implied PCS obligations in order o ensule ramediation of the materiol wedkness. We will dso conince fo seek fo ucﬁve‘y identify, develop ond
implement additionel measures that are reasanably [ikely fo majerially improve and strengthen our intemal cantrol over financil reporting.

Changes in Internal Control over Financigl Reporting
As described obove under “Remediation Efforis fo Address Materiol Weakness,” there were changes in intemal contiol over financiol reporting that otcurred during
the quarter ended December 31, 2006 that have materially offected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, aur internal control aver financial reparting

reloted to the License Management System.

[uherent Limirarions on Effectiveness of Gontrols
Our manogement, inuding our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, does not expect that our disclosure controls ond procedures of our infemal
control over financial reporting are or will be capable of prevet%ﬁng or detecting all errors and all fraud. Any controf system, no mofter how el designed ond oper-
oted, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the control systern's objectives will be met. The design of a control system rpust reflect the fact
that there are resource constraints, ond the benefits of controls must be considered reluive to ther costs. Further, because of the inherent limitations in oll control
systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurdce that misstotements due o error f fraud will no occur or that all cotrol issues and insfances
: of froud, if any, within the Company hove been detected. Thes:e inhesent limétations include the reclities that judgments in decision4naking u:un be foutty ond that
| breakdawns ¢on occur because of simple error or mistake. Cur’ﬂols can ofso be drcumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by callusion of twa ar mare
| paopl, or by management override of the controls. The design of any system of controls is based in part on certoin assumptions about the fkelihood of future
yceed in achieving its stated goots under fl potential future conditions.

events, ond there con be no asswonce that any design will su

Item 9B. Other Information
None.
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Part 11

liem 10. Directors. Exceutive Officers and Corporate Governance

Certein mformation required by this Item is incorparated herein by reference to informotion appearing in owr definitive Proxy Stotement for aur Annual Meeting of
Shareholders fo be held on Moy 25, 2007, which information will appeas under the coptions entitled “Proposal 1 — Election of Directors,” *Executive Officers”
and “Section 14 {a) Beneficial Cwnership Reporting Compliance.” The Proxy Statement will be fited with the Commission within 120 days offer our lust fiscal
year-end which was December 31, 2004,

The Registrant hos odopted o Code of Ethics for its Chief Fxecutive and Senior Finenciol Officers, o copy of which is included os Exhibit 14.1 o this Annual Report
on Form 10K,

ftem 11, Executive Compensation

The information requived by this tem & incorporated hesein by reference to information appearing in aur definitive Proxy Statement for our Annual Meefing of
Shareholders fo be held on Moy 25, 2007, which information will appear under the captions “Proposal 1 — Election of Directors - Compensation of Directors,”
“Executive Compensation and Other Information,” “Compensation Discussion and Analysis” ond “Compensation Committes Report on Executive Compensaiion.”
The Proxy Statement will be filed with the Commission within 120 days after our lost fiscal yearend which was December 31, 2008,

liem 120 Seeurity Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management

The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference fo informotion appearing in our definitive Proxy Statement for our Annual Meeting of
Shareholders ta be held on Moy 25, 2007, which information will appear under the captions “Commin Stock Ownership of Principal Shoreholders and Manoge-
ment” and “Executive Compensation and gther Information — Equity Compensation Flan Information.” The Proxy Statement will be filed with the Commission
within 120 days ofter our lust fiscal year-end which was December 31, 2006

hem 13, Certain Relutionships and Related Transactions and Director ndependence

Any information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to information appeoring in our definitive Proxy Statement for our Annuol Meeting

of Sharcholders to be held on May 25, 2007, which information will appeor under the caption entitled “Certoin Relationships and Related Tronsactions” and
“Proposal | — Election of Dizectors.” The Proxy Statement will be filed with the Commission within 120 days after our lost fiscal yearend which wos December
31, 2006.

ltem 14 Principal Accountant Fees and Serviees

The information required by this ltem is incorporoted herein by refesence to information appearing in cur definitive Proxy Statement for our Annuol Meefing
of Shareholders o be held on May 25, 2007, which information will appear under the caption “Rafification of Appointment of Independent Registered Public
Accounting Fiem — Fees Poid to PricewgterhouseCoopers LLP”
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Part IV

lten 15, Exhibits and Financial Stateméent Schedules

(a) The following dociments are filed ag part of 1his Report:

(1) Consofiduted Financial Statements

The conselidated financial stotemens listed in the accompanying Index to Consolidated Financial Stotements are Fled os pert of this 1eporf.

(2} Finonciol Statement Schedule

The financial stotement schedutes I]uve been omitted becouse they are nat applicable or the information requirad]to be set forth therein is
included in the conselidated financinl statements or notes thereto.

(3)  Exhibis
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10.1*
10.2*
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10.3.1*
1032
10.4*
10.5*
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10.6.1
10.6.2
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109~
10.10
16.12
10.12.1

10.12.2

10.13*
10.14
10.15*
10.18
10.17
141
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3
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3.2

321

Amended and Restated Aticles of Incorporation, as amended™
Bylows, as amended"
Amended and Restated 1997 Equity Incentive Plon

Amended and Resrurei Nor-Employee Director Stock Opfion Plan®

Employee Stack Purchise Plan®

Amendment No. 1, duted May 9, 2003, to Ixia Employee Stock Purchase Plan®
Supplemental Pruwuurs affectiva April 14, 2006, 1o o Employee Stock Purchase Plan™
Officer Severance Plon®

Form of Indemnity Agreemem between Ixia ond its direciors and executive officers™

Office Lease Agreemem dated November 5, 1999 betwesn Maliby Conyon Office Partners, LLC ondilxia First Amendment to
Office Leose dated a5 uf March 22, 2000 and Second Amendment fo Office Laase dated May 8, 2003 1

Third Amendment to Ufflte Leose dated September 2004 betwaen Maliby Conyon Office Portners,

LIL( and lxig""

Fourth Amendment to OfF ice Lease, effactive October 27, 2005, between Maliby Canyon Office Pur}mers L1C and fxia ¥2
Worrants dated August 2, 2000 to Purchase 80,000 Shores of Common Stack issued to Robert W, Bass"™
Regisiration Rights unF Stock Transfer Restriction Agreement dated as of September 1, 2000 amonp Ixia, Technology Capite!

Group S.A. and Stéphune Ratel 010
Employment offer Ierter ugreement dated October 27, 2001 between Ixia ond Dovid Anderson®!®

Employment offer Iehel agreement dated os of Februory 27, 2003 between Ixio and Robert W, Bass®#
License, Distribution dnd Qption Agreement, dated July 7, 2003, between NetlQ Corporation and IJ#(:“”
First Amendment to tlcense, Distribution and Option Agreement dated os of January 8, 2005 between the Registrent and

NetiQ Corporation 1%

Second Amendment 1o License, Distribution ond Option Agreement duted os of June 16, 2005 between the Registrant and

NetiQ Corporation U920

2005 Employee Bants Plan™*

2006 Employee Bonbs Plan®®

Summary of 2005 CBmpensuhon for the Registrant's Nomed Executive Officers'™®

Summary of 2006 Enmpensuﬂon for the Registrant’s Named Executive Cfficers

Summary of Compen'suhun for the Registant’s Non-Employee Directors

Code of Ethics for (hief Executive and Senior Financial Officers®®

Subsidiaries of the Registrant

{onsent of Prlcewmelihuusetoopers (LP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Cerfificate of Chief Execunve Officer of [xio pursuant o Rule 13¢-14 () under the Exchonge Act, o
Section 302 of the Sorbunesﬂxley Act of 2002.

Certficate of Chief Financiol Offce of o pursuani to Rule 13c-14(a} under the Exchange Ad), os
Section 302 of the darbunes{]xley Act of 2002.

Certificate of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financiol Officer of fxia pursuant to Rule 13a-14(b)
Section 904 of the lurbones-Oxley Act of 2002.

adapted pursuant fo
adopted pursuant fo

under the Exchonge Act and
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Constitutes o manngement contract o compensasory plan of orrongement required to be filed os an exhibit 1o this Annual Report on Form T0-K.
Incorporated by refesence to Exhibit No. 3.1 to Amendment No. 1 to the Registant’s Registrafion Statement on Form S-1 (Reg. No. 333-42678) filed
with the Commission on Sepfember 5, 2000.

Incorparated by refesence to Exhibit No. 3.2 to Amendment No. 2 to the Registrant's Registiation Statement on Form S-] (Reg. No. 333-42678) fled
with the Commissian on September 19, 2000.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Regisont's Regiskation Statement on Fom S8 (Reg. No. 333-117969) filed with the Commission an
August 5, 2004,

Incorporated by reference to Exbibit 4.2 to the Regisoat's Registrotion Statement on Form -8 (Reg. Ho. 333-117969) filed with the Commission an
August 5, 2004,

Incorporoted by reference o Exhibit No. 103 ta Amendment No. 1 1o the Registiont's Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Reg. No. 333-42678) filed
with the Commission on September 5, 2000.

Incorporated by reference 1o Exhibit 4.2 to the Registrant's Regisration Statement an Farm S8 (Regishration No. 333-107818) filed with the Commission
on August 8, 2003.

Incorporated by reference fo Exhibit 10.% to the Registnts Current Report on Form 8 (File Mo. 000-31523) filed with the Cammission on Apeil 20, 2006.
tncorporated by reference to Extibit Mo_ 10.4 to Amendment No. 1 to the Registrant’s Regishtation Satement on Farm S-1 (Reg. No. 333-42678) filed
with the Commission on September 5, 2000.

Incorporeted by teference to Extibit No. 10.5 to Amendment No. 1 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Reg. No. 333-42678) filed
with the Comemission on Septerber 5, 2000.

Incorparated by refesence to Exhibit No. 10.14 to the Registrant’s Registration Stotement on Form S-1 {Reg. No. 333-42478) filed with the Commission
on July 31, 2000.

Incorporcted by reference to Exhibit 10.6.1 to the Registrant’s Annual Report ant Ferm 10K (File No. 000-31523} for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2004.
fncorporcted by reference fo Exhibit 10.1 to the Registront's Curant Report an Form 8 (File No. 000-31523) fied with the Cammission on December 4, 2005.

) Incorporated by refesence to Exhibit No. 10.15 to Amendment 8o, 1 10 the Regishant's Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Reg. No. 333-42678) filed

with the Commission on September 5, 2000.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit No. 10.17 to Amendment No. 3 o the Registiant's Registration Stofement on Form S-1 (Reg. No. 333-42678) filed
with the Commissian on September 27, 2000,

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit No, 10.13 to the Regiskant's Annual Report on Form 10K (File No. 000-31523) for the fiscal year ended
Dacember 31, 2001.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit No. 10.14 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10 (File No. 000-31523) for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2002.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 ta the Registrant’s Quartedy Report on Form 1040 (File No. 000-31523) for the fiscel quorter ended
Septernber 30, 2003.

Incorporated by reference ta Exhilit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Quartesly Report on Farm 1040 (File No. 000-31523) for the fisco! quarter ended
June 30, 2005.

tacorporoted by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 1040 (File No, 000-31523) for the fiscol quarter ended
lung 30, 2005.

Confidential treatment has been requested with respect fo o partion of this exhibit, which portion has besn omisted and filed separntely with the
Commission.

Incorporated by seference to Exhibis 10.1 to the Registont's Cursent Report on Form 8K (File No. 000-31523) fifed with the Commission on
May 19, 2005.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 o the Registrant®s Current Report on Form B-K (File No. 000-31523) fited with the Commission on
July 12, 2004

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 100 (File No. 000-31523) for the fiscal quarter ended
lne 30, 2005.

Incorporated by reference to Fxhibit 14.1 to the Registrant’s Annuck Report an Form 10K {File No. 000-31523) for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2003,
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(b) Exhibits
See the list of Exhibits undet Item 15(o}(3) of this Annual Report an Form 10,

¢} Financial Statement Schedules
(e} 1 Stat t Schedul

See the Schedule under Item 15¢0)(2) of this Annual Report on Form 10

Signatures
Pursuant to the requirements of Secvion 13 or 15(d} of the Securifies Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant hes duly caused this report o be signed on ifs beholf
by the undersigned, thereunta duly authorized.

Dated: March 14, 2007 [XI&
/s/ Frrol Ginshe
Erol Ginsberg
President and Chief Executive Officer

!

Pursuant o the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and
in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Nome Title Date

/s/ ERROL GINSBERG President, (IhiJI Executive Officer and Director Moxch 16, 2007
Errl Ginsberg (Principat Exerutive Officer)

/s/ THOMAS B. MILLER (Chief Finoncial Pﬁicer March 16, 2007
Thomas B. Miller {Principal Financial and Accounting Officen)

/3/ JEAN-CLAUDE ASSCHER Chairman of the Board March 16, 2007
JeaneCloude Asscher

/s/ JON F. RAGER Director torch 15, 2007
Jon F. Rager

/s/ MASSOUD ENTEKHAB! Director Morch 16, 2007
Massoud Entekhabi

/'s/ GAIL HAMILTON Director March 14, 2007
Gail Homilton

/s/ JONATHAN FRAM Director March 16, 2007

Jonathon Fram
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Report of Independent R

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Ixia:

egistered Public Accounting Firin

We have completed integrated audits of xia's mnsolldmed financial statements and of its intemal contral over financiol seporting as of December 31, 2006, in

accardonce with the standards of the Public Company

Consolidated financial statements

Accounhng Oversight Board (Unéted States). Qur apinions, based on our audits, are presented below.

In our opinion, the consolidated batance sheets and the reloted consolidated statements of income, shareholders” equity and cosh fiows present fairy, in ol mate-
rial respects, the finoncial positian of lxia and its subsuhunes at December 31, 2006 and 2003, and the results of their operations and their cosh flows for each
of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2006 n conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United $tofes of America. These

financiol statements are the responsibility of the Comp
audits. We conducted our audits of these statements i
standards require thet we plon and parform the oudit

any’s management. Qur responsibility is 1o express an opinion on these finongial statements based on awr
n accordance with e standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those
0 obtain seasoncble ossurance about whether the finoncial statements ore freg of material misstaiement.

An audit of financial statements includes exomining, on o test basis, evidence supporting the amounts ond disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates mode by management, ard evaluating the averall finarcial statement presentatjon. We believe that our oudits

provid o reasoanble bosis for our opinion.
As discussed in Note ¥ to the consolidated finondal st

Internal controf over financiof reporting
Also, we hove audited management’s assessment, in

fements, the Company changed the manner in which it accounts for stodc-hesed compensation in 2006.

uded in Management's Report on Intemal Contral over Financial Reparting appearing under ltem 94, thot

bxia did ot maintein effective infemal control over finoncial reporting as of December 31, 2008, because of the effect of the materjol weakness caused by
inadequate controls over the completeness and accuracy of revenue reporting for implied PCS abligarions, based an criteria established in Intemal Contrel — In-
tegrated Fromework issued by the Committee of Sporfsuring Organizctions of the Treadwoy Commissien (C050). The Company's management is respansible for
mainteining effective infernal control over financiok re;inrﬁng and for its assessment of the effectiveness of intemal control aver finaricial reparting. Qur respansibit
ity is to express opinions on management’s assessment ond on the effeciiveness of the Company’s infernal confral over financiol reporfing bosed on our oudt,

We conducted our audit of internal control over financ
Stotes). Those stondards require that we plan and per
reparfing was mointained in ol matericl respects. An

ol reparting in accordonce with the standords of the Public Compony Accounting Oversight Board (United
orm the audit ta obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial
udit of intemal contral over financial reporting includes obtuining an understunding of intemal control over

financiol reporting, evaluating management's ossessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of intemal tontrol, and perfarming such

ather pracadures as we consider necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinidn

=
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A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the refiohilty of financiol reparfing and the
preparation of finoncial statements for externo! purposes in accordance with generafly accepted occounting principles. A company’s internal control oves financiol
reporting includas those policies und procedures that (i) periain to the maintenance of records thet, in reasanoble detail, accurately and fuiry reftect the transac
fions and dispositions of the ossefs of the company; {i) provide reasonable nssuraace that fransactions ore recorded os necessory to permit preparation of finonciol
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, ond that receipts and expenditures of the campany are being mode only in accordonce
with autherizotians of management and directors of the company; end (i) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unouthorized
acquisition, use, or dispasition of the company’s assefs that could have o materiat effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inhesent limirations, internol conrol over financiaf reporting moy not prevent or detect misstofements. Also, projections of any evaluotion of ef
fectiveness to future pariods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in condifions, or that the degree of complince with
the palicies or procedures may deteriorae.

A materigl wegkness is o confrol deficiency, or combination of control deficiendies, that results in more than a remote likelihood that o material misstatement of
the annut or interim fincacial statements wil not be prevented or detetted. The following material weakness hos been identified and induded in manogement's
assessment. As of December 31, 2006, the Company did not maintain effective controls over the completeness and nccuracy of revenue reparing for implied

PCS obligations. Specifically, she Company did not maintain effective contrals to ensure that (i} the Company did net provide software upgrades and support to
customers after the expiration of the contractual PCS periods and (i) the circumstances under whith the Company’s soles ond support pecsonnel provided software
upgrades and support beyond the conmractual periods were adequately idenfified, communicated to, and reviewed by the Company’s finance personnel fo ensuse
the proper recognition of revenue for implied PCS obligations in accordance with genexally accepted uccaunting principles.

This materio! wenkness wos considesed in defermining the nature, fiming, and extent of audit fests applied in our audit of the 2006 consolidated financial state-
meats, and our opinion reqarding the efectivencss of the Compony's inernol canfral aves financial reporfing does not affect our opinion on those consofidated
finoncial statements. .

{n our apinicn, menagement's assessment that bxia did not mointain effective internol control over finanial reporting os of December 31, 2006, is fairly stated, in
oll matesial respects, based on criteria established in Infernal Confrol — Integrated Framework issusd by the COS0. Also, in our opinion, because of the effects of
the materiol weakness described obave on the achievement of the objectives of the cantrol criterio, [xia hos not maintuined effective intemal control over financial
reporfing os of December 31, 2006, based on citeria esioblished in lnternal Conirol - Intagroted Fromework issued by C0SO.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Los Angeles, Californio
March 15, 2007
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Consolidated Balance Shee

fin thousands)

Assets
Curcent assets:
(ash and cash equivalents
Shart-term investments in marketable securities
Accounts receivable, net
Inventories
Deferred income taxes
Prepaid expenses and other cument assets
Totol cument nssets

Investments in marketable securities
Property ond equipment, net
Deferred income toxes
Intangible essets, net
Goodwill
(ther assefs

Totol assets

Liabilities and Shaveholders” Equity
Cument bahilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued expensas
Deferred revenues
Income toxes payable
Total current liobilities

Deferved revenues ond ather lihiliies
Totol liabities

Commitments and contingencies (Note 7)

Shareholders” equity;

Preferved stack, without par valug; 1,000 shores outharized ||1nd none outstanding
Common stock, without por vatue; 200,000 shares authorized of Decamber 31, 2008
and December 31, 2005; 67,351 ond 68,580 shares ‘ssﬁed and outstanding os of

ts

December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005, respectiveh,

Additional paidin capital
Retained eamings
Total shareholders” equity
Total fiobififies ond shareholders” equity

The Gecompanying notes are on integral part of these consolidated finonciol stotements

De(embqr 31, December 31,
2006 2005

S b4 S 5183
152,703 124 454
% 31,565
11,604 9 844
6,382 8,538
4,82 3519
275,136 729,811
4354 25,392
2044 19,750
9,486 13,018
020 20,442
16,728 13,468

487 315

S 349059 S 322214
§ 5 281
15873 12,399
17,346 19,233
5,154 4131
40,568 38,635
7,102 20,101
48,270 58,736
132413 126,792
8305 68098
82,071 68,590
300,789 263,480

S 9059 § 322214




Consolidated Statements of Income

{in thousands, except per share dota)

Revenues:
Products
Senvices

Toto! revenues

{osts and operating expenses; ¥
{ost of revenues — products
Cost of revenues — omartization of purchased techrotogy
Cost of revenues — services
Research ond development
Sales ond morketing
General and odministrative
Amortizotion of infongible ossafs
Total costs and operating expenses

Income from operations
Intesest and ather income, net

Income before income toxes
Income tox expense

Net income

taraings per shore:
Baosic
Oiluted

Weighted averoge numbes of commen ond common equivalent shares outstonding:

Basic
Difutad

1 Stock-bosed compensation induded in:
Cost of revenues — produdts
Cost of revenues — services
Research and development
Sales and marketing
Generol and administrotive

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these cansofidoter financial statements
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Year Ended December 31,

2004 2005 2004

S 155388 & 130045 & 97200
24,744 20,808 13,464
180,132 150,853 110,664
29,437 24,239 20,592
4,705 389 3,044

2,681 2,216 1,423
43,450 32,404 24,960
59,020 39,359 30,564
23,800 16,438 12,479
1,745 1,278 1,532
164,838 119,825 94,596
15,294 31,028 16,068

9,409 5,055 2,960
24,703 36,083 19,028

11,222 7593 4,007

S 13481 S 18490 S 150N
$ 020 § 044 S 0.25
) 020 S 041 § 0.3
67,005 65,148 60,687
48792 69,227 64,745

5 590 S — 95 30
24 —_ 3

6,481 — m

7,838 — 17

2,890 - 38

o1.
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Consolidated Statements of Sharcholders” Equity

(in thousands)
Additional Deferred
Comman Stack Poidin  Stock-bosed Retuined
Shares Amount (cpitol ~ Compensation Edmings Total
Balonce os of December 31, 2003 59642 5 84048 & 48749 {19 S i25,079 S 157477
Net income 15,021 15021
Exercise of stock oplions ond employes
stock purchase plan opfions 7510 12,333 12,333
Issuance of comman stock in connection
with acquisition 307 3763 3,763
Amortization of deferred stock-based
compensation 419 419
Stock option tax benefit 4478 L 478
Bolance as of December 31, 2004 62,459 100,144 53,247 — 40,100 193,491
Net income 28,490 28,490
*  Exexcise of stock options and employee
sinck purchase plan opfiens 4121 26,648 26,648
Stack optian tox henefit 14,851 14,851
Balonce os of December 31, 2005 66,5680 126,192 68,098 — 68,550 263,480
Ret income 13,481 13,481
Exercise of stock options and employee
stack purchase plon options m 560 5,621
Stack-bosed compensation expense 18,023 18,023
Stock opfion fax benefit 184 184
Balance s of December 31, 2006 67,3510 § 132413 86305 § — 5 82071 S 300789

The aecompanying notes are on integrol part of these consofidoted financio! statements




Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

{in thousonds)

Cash flows from operaring activities:
Net income
Adjustments fo reconcile net income 1o net cash provided by
aperating activities, net of effect of acquisitions:
Dapreciotion and amorfizofion
Amortization of infangible assets
Mowance for doubtful cecounts
Stock-bosed compensation
Deferred income taxes
Tox benefit from stock option tronsactions
Excess tax benefits fram stack-bosed compensetion
Changss in operating cssets and liabiliies, net of effect of ocquisitions:
Accounts receivehle
Inventaries
Income toxes feceivable
Prepaid expenses and ofher coment assefs
Other ssets
Accaunts payoble
Accrued expensas
Deferred revenues
Income taxes payable
Net cosh provided by opecating acfivities

Cash flows from invesiing activities:
Purchases of property and equipment
Purchases of ovailable-for-sale securities
Proceeds from availoble-for<ale securities
Purchases of held-fo-maturity securities
Proceeds from held-to-maturity securities
Purchases of technology and other intargible assets
Payments in connection with acquisitions
Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities:
Exercise of stock optians and employes sfock purchase plon opfions
Excess tax henefits from stock-based compansation
Net cash provided by financing ockivities
Net increase {decrease) in cash and ¢ash equivalents
Cash ond cash equivalents ot beginning of year
Cosh and cosh equivalents a1 end of year

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid during the year for:
Incomne toxes
Hon-cash activifies:
Common stock issued in connection with ocquisition

The accompanying nofes are on integral part of these consofidated firanciol stafernents
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Yeor Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
13,481 % 28,490 S 15,021
10,038 5,925 3418
6,450 5,169 4576
320 12 432
18,023 — 419
5,73% (8,141 {1,737)
184 14,851 4478
(253) — —
(4,976} (9,369) (5,130)
(1,758) (3,156) {1,00)
— 1,687 315
(663) (629) (696)
(73 97 6
(677) 1,312 432
2,168 3,339 (89
(15,014) 10,29% 7634
1,023 a7 1,365
33.m 49994 29,442
(12,332 (13,394) {8,707
(153,400 (143,336) (82,551}
114,225 109,186 47,750
(7,978) {22,030) (24,181)
39,944 37,104 29.000
(165) (180) {1.447)
{7,274) (8,536 (6,389)
{26,980) {41,188) (46,525}
5,621 26,648 12,333
255 — —
5876 26,648 12,333
12,807 35,454 (4,750
51,837 14,383 21,133
64,644 S 51,837 § 16,383
4291 % 853 S 7,10%
— 5 — 95 3,763
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Business aud Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Business
We were incorporated on May 27, 1997 us a Califamia carporafion. We ere a leading provider of st systems for IPbased infrostructurg and services thot allow
our customars fc test and measure te performance, functinnlity, service quality and conformance of Internat Protocol (IP) equipment and netwerks, and the
applications that run over them, Qur solutions generote, capture, charoctarize, and anolyze high volumes of realistic network and pplication taffc, exposing
prablems, assessing performance, ensuring functionality and interoperability, and verifying conformance fo industry specifications. We offer herdware platforms
with interchangeable traffic generation interfaces, utlizing i common set of applications and Appécation Progromming Interfaces (APIs) that ollow our customers
to cregte infegrated, easy-to-use cutomated fest enviranments. The networks our systems analyze include Ethemet networks operating af speeds of up to 10
gigabits per second, which corry data raffic over optical fber or electical cable, Other nehwarks indude Pecket over SONET nefworks opérating ot speeds of up fo
10 gigabits per second, which fransmit information over hi(r;hspeed optical finks and Asynchronous Transfer Mods (ATM) networks, eperqfing at speeds of up fo
622 megobits per second. We olso offer o tefephony test suite that is used to test and verfy woditionh Time-Division Muipiexing (TOM) voice bused networks,
Voice over IP techrology, devices, ond systems, os well os Phe intesoperability, troubleshovting, service aptimization end call traffic monitoring of Video Telephany.
Customers also use our performance applications to test and verify web, intemet, security, and business applications,

Use of Estimates
In the noma! course of preparing financial statements in cqnformisy with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, n]unngement is required
fo make estimates and assumptions tat affect the repune;i amyunts of assets and liabilties ond disclosure of contingent assefs and Iiob1|in'es at the dote of te
financiol statements end the reported amounts of revenuesland expenses during the reporting perfod. Actual resulfs coutd differ from thase estimates.

Consolidation
Al subsidiaries ore consolidated as they are 100% owned by us. Al significant intercompany fransactions and occounts are eliminated in torsolidatior.

Restated Financial Information
Subsequent to the issuonce of our 2005 consolidated financial statements, we determined that we hod not properly applied Statement of Position 97-2 “Software
Revenue Recagnition” (“SOP 97-2°) with respect fo the uc‘munﬁng for implied post confract customer support {“PCS™) obigations, and ps a result wa determined
that we had incorectly offocated revenue hetween product fevenue and PCS revenue. &s such, the fiming of when we recegnized sevenue in the consolidated
financial statements wos incorrect. Specifically, in Nuvembe; 2006 ond as ¢ result of the findings during an occounting review related to fevenue recogniion with
respett fo our software upgrade ond support practices and the potential impact of these practices on our previously reported financiol reselts, menagement recomm-
mended to the Audit Committee, and the Audit Committee concurred with the recommendation, that we restate our consolidated ﬁnun{i:Lstutemems for cerfain
prior periods o correct our recognition of revenue reloted 16 the provision of unspecified software upgrades and support for products for which the contractual PCS
period had expired, which upgrades and support hod created implied PCS obligations for those products that extended beyond the cuntruiml PCS periods.

The implied PCS obligations should have resulted in an cdditional deferral of revenue when the products were initially shipped. SOP 97-2 required thot we re-alle-
(ote certoin previously reported product revanues, which redenues hod generally been recognized af the fime of product shipment, to implied PCS revenues, which
ievenues are required o he recognized over the multivear 5erind during which the implied PCS obligations ure in effect (such multi-ysar ;fen'od would typically
begin 12 months fter the date of product shipment}. Our previous practice af the time of sale of o sofrware product was to allacate revenve fo PCS only for the
initiol contractual 12 months of PCS.

In connection with the restatement discussed above, we alsb comected certain errors that we hod previously identified and determired nof to be material with
respect to aur consolidted financial stutements for the offefted periods ond that related fo (i} our clossification of certain customer suppalt costs s sales and

mackefing expenses raother than as cost of revenues in our clonsoliduled statements of income, and (ii} our presentation of certain deferre
tax liobilities on a gross bosis rather than on a net basis in Qur consolidated balance sheets. These addifional odjustments had no impact
tevenues, income from operations, net income or the reloted eamings per share amounts.

tax ossets and deferred
n our previously reported

In February 2007, we restated: (i our previously issued copsofidoted financicl statements for the years ended Becember 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003; (i) o

unaudited quarterly finonciol data for each of the quarters i the years ended Dacermber 31, 2005 and 2004; (i) cur unoudited quarterl

y fingnciol deta for

the quarter ended March 31, 2006 and for the quarter and]six-month period ended June 30, 2004; and (iv) certain selected finoncial data for the years ended
December 31, 2002 ond 2001, We effected the restatement on February 23, 2007 by filing with the {ommission omendments fo our Annual Report on Form
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10K for the year ended December 31, 2005 and to our Quorkerly Reports on Form 10-Q for the quarters ended March 31, 2006 and lune 30, 2006.
AN referenced amounts in this Form 10K raloted to the restatement periods described above reflect belances and amounts on o restoted basis where applicable.

Cash and Cash Fquivalents

We consider all highly liquid investments with o maturity of shree months of less ot the date of purchase fo be cash equivalents. Cosh and cash equivalents are cor-
fied ot cost, which approximates fair value. We genesolly ploce funds that ore in excess of cument needs in high credit quality instruments such os maney market
accounts, There tre na restrictions on the use of cash ond investments.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments
Our financiol instruments, inchuding cosh and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable and other liabilities are comied ot cost, which approximates
their fair values because of the shortterm maturity of these instruments and the relative stabiity of inferest rates.

We utize foreign currency forward confracts to hedge cestoin accounts receivable amounts that are denominoted in Jopanese Yen. These conracts ore used to
reduce the risk associated with exchange rote movements, as guins and losses on these contracts ore intended fo offset exchange losses and goins on underlying
exposures. Changes in the fair volue of Hhese forward controcts are recorded immediately in eamings. We do not entes into foreign exchange forward contracts for
speculative or trading purpases. To date, net gins and losses on the ahove fransactions have nat been significant. As of December 31, 2006, we did not have
any significant foreign currency forward coniracts outstanding.

Investments in Marketable Securifies

Manogement determines the approprinte classificotion of marketable securiies af the ime of purchase and reevaluates such designation os of each balance sheet
date. Held4o-maturity securities ore corred of amortized cast, which approximates foir value. Amrtizatian of the putchiuse discounts ond premiusms i included in
interest and other income, net. Available-forsale securities are stoted at foir value os determined by the most recently troded market price of each secuity a the
balonce sheet date. The net unrealized gains or losses on ovailableforsale securities are reported as o separate component of accurmulated other comprehensive
income, net of tox. The specific identificotion method is used to compute realized gains and losses on our marketoble securities. To date, realized gains and losses
on our marketable secuities and unredlized goins and losses on our availoble-forsale secuities have nat baen significant.

Qur held-tematurity securiies as of December 31, 2006 and 2005 consisted primary of U.S. government, federal agency and corporate deb secuities. As of
December 31, 2006 and 2005, our availableforsale securities consisted primarily of high-grode auction rote securifies with reset periods of generally 35 days or
less. We regularly monitor and evaluate the realizable value of ous marketuble securifies. Declines in volug judged to be osher than temporary were not material to
our resulfs of opesgtions in any period presented.

Atcounts Receivable and Alfowance for Doubtful Accounts

Trode ccounts receivable are recorded ot the invoiced amount and do not bear interest. The ollowance for doubtful accounts is based on the best estimate of the
amount of probable ¢redit losses in existing accounts receivable. The allowance for doubtful accounts is determined based on historical write-off experience, current
customer information and other relevant dato, We review the allowance for doubthl accounts monthly. Past dus bolances of 40 doys ond over are reviewed
indhviducly for collectibility. Account bolances are chaurged off against the ofowonce when management believes it is probable the receivable will not be recovered.
We do not hove any cffbalonce-sheet credit exposure related 1o owr customers.

Inventories

Inventories are goods held for sale in the normal course of business. Inventories are stated af the lower of ost (fistin, firstout) o market. The inventory bolance
is segregated between row materials, work in process {*WIP*) and finished goods. Row materials are low level components, many of which ore purchosed from
vendors, WIP is partially assembled products and finished goods are products that ore ready to be shipped to end customers. Considerafion is given to inventory
shinped and received near the end of o period ond the ansaction is recorded when transfer of itle occurs. We regulorly evaluate inventory for obsolescence and
adjust to net rentizable volue based on inventory that is obsolete or in excess of current demand.
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Praperty and Equipment
Property and equipment are stated af cost less cecumulgted depreciation. Depreciation is computed using the straight4ine methad busgd upon the estimased useful
lives of the assets, ranging from two ta seven years. Usbfulives are evoluated iequlorly by monogement in order to determine recove chility in fight of cwrent
technalagical conditions. Praperty and equipment also in'dudes the cost of our praducts used for resenrch ond developmens and soles Jnd marketing activities,
including product demonstrations for potentiol customers. Repairs and maintenance are chorged fo expense gs incurred while renewals and improvements are
copitalized. Upan the sale or retirement of property ond quuipmem, the accounts ore relieved of the cost and the reloted accumulated depreciation, with ony result
ing gain or loss included in the stotement of income.

Amortization of Intangible Assets and Goodwill Impalrment

Wa apply Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (*SFAS™) 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” to purchasad infongible ossess, which ore cartied
ot cost less occumuloted omortization. Cost or purchase price s determined based on amounts paid to the sefler (both in cash and the value of our stack), ligbili
tigs ossumed and fransaction costs. The value of imunnge assets is defermined using valuation techniques such as the discounted cash flow method. In the case
of a purchose of o business, the purchase price is ollocated to the various identificble asses, induding intongibles, based on their resp'ecﬁve fair values, with any
remaining amount being assigned fo goodwil. In the case of on sset purchase, any excess purchose price is altocoted ratably based on the respective fail volues
of the ossets. Amortizotion of purchased fechnology is chmputed using the greater of (a) the sotio of cuirent revenues to the total of current and anficipatad future
revenues of (b) the straighttine method over the remuirlflng estimated economic fife. Amortization of other intangible assafs is compuled using the straight4ine
method aver the economic lives of the respective ussets. The economic useful lives are determined based on comparison of similar Te!hnoiogles in the industry,
historical experience and manggement expectations. Goodvl is caried of cost and is tested for impairment annuoly or whenever events or dircumstances occur
indicafing that goodwill might be impeired in uccordun{é with SFAS 142, Impoirment losses are recorded to the extent that the corrying volue of the goodwill
exceeds the implied fair value of goodwill. Other intangible assets ere tested far impairment as circumstances arise in accordonce wiﬂl SFAS 144, “Accounting for
the Impairment or Dispesal of Long-tived Assets.” An impairment loss is recorded to the extent that the carrying vofue of on intangible osset excaeds its fir value.

Litigation
We are currently involved in certain legal proceedings. We accrue for losses when the loss is deemed probable ond the liabilizy cco retlusonuhly he estimated.
Where o liobility is probeble end thers is a range of esn;nmed loss with no best esfimate in the range, we record the minimurm estimated liabiliry relofed 1o the
dloim. As additionol information becomes ovailable, welassess the potentiol liobility rekated fo our pending litigation and revise our estimotes.

Product Warranty Costs
We generalty provide o 12-month initiod stondard warsanty on our hordwore products after product shipment and accrue for estimoted future waranty costs of the
firme product revenue is racognized. Accrued product wdrrumy costs are included os @ component of accrued expenses in the accompanying consolidated holance

sheets and gpprovimated 344,000 ond $230,000 o5 of December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively,

Revenue Recognition
Qur revenues are principalty derived from the sole ond fuppon of our test systems. Product revenues primarily consist of sales of our hardwara and software prod-
ucts. Qur service revenues primority consist of the provision of post contract customer support and mointenance ("PCS™) reluted to the inifial free 12-month and
sepurately purchased extended PCS contracts and to our implied PCS obligations. Service revenues also include separately purchused extended hordware warranty
support {generally offered for 12 month periods). P(S onour software products includes unspecified software upgrodes and customey technical support services,

In some instonces our software products moy be instolod and operoted independently from our hardware products. &¢ other tines, olr saftware products ore
installed or and work with our hordware products to enhance the functionality of the averall test system. (n addition, our chassis is generally shipped with our core
operating system software installed, which is an integral port of the chassis’ functionality. As our software is generally more than inrcritenml o the sala of our test
systems, we recagnize revenue by applying the provisi!ms of the Americon Institute of Certified Public Accountants {"AICPA") Statement of Position (“SOP”) 97-2,
“Software Revenua Recognition” s amended by SOP 389, “Software Revenue Recognition with Respect ta Certain Arrangements” |(coflectively, “SOP 97-27.

Qur test systams are generally fully functionaf af the fime of shipment ond do not require us to perform any significant production, modification, customizetion

o installation after shipment. A such, revense from hirdwore and software pioduct sales is recogrized wpon shipment provided thod () an arongement exists,
which is typicofly in the form of o customer purchse o'[der (i) delivery has occurved, including the ransfer of fitle and risk of loss f0 the customer; (i} the sales
price is fixed or detesminable; ond (iv) collectiblity is ceemed probable,
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When  sale invalves multiple etements, or muttiple products, ond we have vendorspecific objective evidence ("VSOE) of fair value for ench element in the
arrangement, we recognize revenue bosed on the relotive fair value of all elements within the gmangement. We derermine YSOE based on soles prices charged fo
customers when the same element is sold separately or based upon renewal pricing for PCS. Many of our products, such s our software and chassis progucts, are
ot sold separately os these products include 12 months of free PCS and occordingly we are uncble to estoblish VSOE for these products.

In cases where VSO anly exists for the undelivered elements such us PCS, we apply the cesidual method to recognize revenue. Under the residuel method, the
fotol arongement fee is allocated first to the undelivered elernents, typically PCS, bosed on their VSOE, ond the residual portian of the fee is ellocated to the
delivered elements, typically our hardware and software products, and i recognized ns revenue assusming all athe revenue recognifion criteria os described obove
have been met.

{f VSOE cannot be determined for oll undelivered elements of an omangemen, we defer revenue until the earlier of G} the defivery of all eements ar (i) the es
tublishment of VSO for all undeliverad elements, provided that if the only undelivered element is PCS or a senvice, the total fee of the arangement is recognized
as revenue over the PCS or service tem.

Services revenues from our inifial and separately purchased extended controctuol PCS amangements (geserally offered fos 12 month periods) are recognized
ratably over the contractuch coveroge period. In addifion, for implied PCS obligations we defer revenues from product sales ané allocete these omounts fo PCS rew
enues 1o occount for the circumstonces in which we provide PCS ofter the expiraticn of the customes's contractual PCS period. Deferred revenues for these implied
PCS abligosions ore recognized rotably over he impfied PCS period, which is typically based on the expected economic lfe of our safiwore products of four years.
To the extent we detesmine that implied PCS is no longes being provided after the expiration of the customer's contractual PCS period, the remining deferred
revenue balance related to the implied PCS abligation s reversed and recognized os revenue in the period of cessation of the implied PCS obligation. The implied
PCS obligation for aur sftware products ceases upon (i) the license manogement of our softwore upgrades and (i) our determinatian not o provide PCS ofter the
expiration of the contractual PCS period. Our ficense management system locks o software license to ¢ spectic computer or bin hosdware chassis on which our
software resides. The system then manages and controls the provision of software upgrodss to ensure that the upgrodes ore only provided fo custormers that are
entitled to receive such upgrades during an initiol or extended PCS period. For saftware products that are not controlled nder o license monagement system and
for certain customess where we expect fo confinue o provide impliad PCS outside of the contractual PCS period, we will confinue to allocate and defer revenue for
these implied PCS obligations and to recogpize this revenue ratobly over the implied PCS periods us described obove. For the years ended December 31, 2006,
2005 and 2004, approximately 25.9 milion, $1.1 million and S0, respectively, of deferred revenue relating to implied PCS was reversed and recognized os
product revenue os a resul of the license manogement of certoin groducts and ow determination not fo provide PCS ofter the expirafion of the controctual PCS
period. Future reversals of implied PCS deferred revenue are not expected to be significant oves the neor term os a result of the ficense manogemest of odditional
products and our determination not o provide PCS after the expiration of the contractual PCS period.

Revenues from our separately purchased extended hardwore worranty arrangements are recognized ratably over the conractuol coverage period.

We use distibutors to complement out direct soles and morkefing efforts in certain internationol markets. Due to the braod range of features and opfions availoble
with our hardwore and software products, distributors generolty do ot stock our products and typically ploce orders with us ofter receiving an osder from on end
customer, These distributars receive business terms of sofe generally similar to those received by cur cther customers.

(ost of Revenues

Our cost of revenues related fo the sale of our hardware and software products includes materials, payments to third porty confract manufocturers, royaltes, ond
selaries ond other expenses related to our manufocturing end operations personnel. We outsource the majority of our monufacturing operatians, and we conduct
final assembly, supply thain management, quality ossurance, decumentation contiol and shipping at our facility in Calobasos, Californic. Aceordingly, o signdicant
portion of our cast of revenves related to our products consists of payments fo our contract manutacturers. Cost of revenues relcted fo the provision of services
includes salories and other expenses ossaciated with customer ond technical support services and the warranty cost of hardware to be replaced or repaired during
the warranty coverage pesiod. Cost of revenues afso indludes the amortization of purchased intongible ossets in connection with our acquisifions of cerfain product
lines and technologies.
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Research and Development
Research and development expenses cansist primarily of selaries and other personnel costs refated to the design, developmen, tesfing and enhancements of our
products. Costs refated to research and development ucﬁviﬁe's, inchyding those incurred to estoblish the technologicol fensibility of o softwabe product, are expensed
as incurred. If technological feasibility is established, ol devélopment costs incurred until general product release are subject to cupirulizmién. To date, the estob-
fishment of technologica! feasibifity of our products and genelml telense have substontiolly coincided. As o result, we hove not copidlized uhy development costs.

Software Developed for Internof Use
We capitalize costs of softwore, consulting services, hardwere and peyroltrelated costs incurred to purchase or develop intemakuse softwore. We expense costs
incurred during preliminary project assessment, research and|development, re-engineering, raining and opplication maintenance phases. Tg date, intemal costs
incureed to develop saftwore for internal use have not been significont.

Advertising
Advertising costs are expensed os incurred. Adverfising costs were $822,000, $1.5 million and $918,000 for the yeors ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and
2004, respectively. |

Stock-Based Compensation
On loavary 1, 2006, we odopted Staternent of Financial Accounting Stendords No. 123 (revised 2004}, *Share-Based Peyment™ ("SFAS{123R"), which
requires the measurement and recognition of compensation expense for ofl share-based payment owards made o employees and directors jncluding stock options,
restricted stock units and employee stock purchase rights boséd on the esfimated foir valus for accounting purposes on the grant date. Priar to the odoption of
SFAS 123R, we occounted for our share-based owards in uccérdonce with the provisians of Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Atcounting for Stack
Issued to Employees” (*APB 257), and the related interpretafions of FASB Interpretation (“FIN"} No. 44, “Accounting for Certoin Transactions involving Stock
{ompensation.” Accardingly, compensation expense reloted 1 employee stock opfions was recorded anly i, on the dote of the grant, the fir morket value of

the underlying stock exteeded the exerdise price. We accounted for shore-bosed owards issued to non-employees in accordance with the pravisions of SFAS 123,
“hecounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” and Emexging Isues Tosk Farce (“EIF") 96-18, “Accounting for Equity Insiruments that ore lssued to Other Than
Employees.”

We adopted SFAS 123R using the modified prospective ransision method, which requires the application of the occounting stondard as of lonuary 1, 2006, the
first day of our fiscal year 2006. Qur consodidated financinl stitements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2004 reflect the impucﬂof SFAS 123R. 1n
gccordonce with the modifred prospective transifion method, ulur consolidated finandiof statements for prior periods have not been restated fo reflect, ond do nat
indude, the impact of SFAS 123R. Under SFAS 123R, actual Jox benefit recognized in excess of tox benefits previously recognized, if any, :me reporfed as o
finoncing cash inflow. Prior te adeption of SFAS 123R, such excess tax henefits were reported s an increase to apernting cash flows. Stock-bosed compensation
expense recognized under SFAS 123R for the yeor ended Dec'gmber 31, 2006 was $18.9 million, Stack-based compensation expense recognized in the consolr
dated finoncial statements for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 was $0 ond $419,000, respectively. See Note 8 for uddih’opul information.
SFAS 123R requires companies fo estimate the fair value of shore-based poyment awasds on the date of grant using an option-pricing mode!. We will continue fo
use the Block-Scholes model to estimate the fair volua for ucc&unﬁng purposes of share-based awards. The determination of the fair value of share-based owords
utilizing the Block-Scholes model is affected by our stock price:und o numbser of assumptions, including expected volatility, expected life and Visk feg interest .
The expected life and expected volafility are based on historical and other data trended into the future. The riskree interest rate assumptionlis besed on observed
intesest rates appropriate for the terms of our share-bosed awavds, We will evaluate the assumptions used to velue share-based awards on ulpe:iodit bosis. If foc-
tors change and we emplay different assumptions, stockbased compensation expense may differ significantly from what we have recorded in the past. If there are
any medffications or concellations of the underying unvested Shrebased awaids, we may be required fo occelerate, incraose or cancel any femaining unearmed
stock-hased compensation expense. Stack-hased cnmpensutiori expense recognized in our consolidated stoternent of income for the yeor ent]ed December 31,
2006 induded (o) compensation expense for sharebased awards granted prior o, but not yet vested, as of Januory 1, 2006, based on the,gront-date fuir value
estimatad in accordance with the provisions of SFAS 123, and :(b) compensaiion expense for the shore-based awards granted subsequent to{lanuary 1, 2006
based on the gront-date foir volue estimated in occordance with the provisions of SFAS 123R. Consistent with ous gast practice under SFAS 123, we attrbute the
value of stock-bused compensation 1o expense based an the grluded, or accelernted mulsiple-option, approach. Stock-based compensation expense is recorded over
the requisite service periods for owards ultimately expacted to vest bsed an estimated future forfeitures. The omount of stork-based cornper!suh'on expense to be
recogrized in pericds after the gront dates will be adusted for the impact of nctual forfeitures, or vesting, compored fo the estimated fofeitures used to expense
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the fair vetue of the owards. In our pro forma information required under SFAS 123 for periods prior to fiscol 2006, we accounted for octual forfeitures in the
periods in which they occurred.

The balance of gross uneamed stockbased compensation to be expensed in the periods 2006 through 2010 reloted to unvested shore-bosed awards as of Decerr
ber 31, 2006 wos approximately $19.6 million. To the extent that we grant additional shase-bosed awards 5o employess, future expense moy incregse by the
odditional uneamed cormpensatian resulting from those grants. We onticipate that we will continue to grant additional sharebosed awards in the future os part of
our long-term incentive compensafion programs. The impact of these future grants cannot be estimated o this fime because it will depend on o number of factors,
incheding the omount of share-based awards gronted and the then curent fuir values for occounting purposes.

Income Joxes

Wa account for income faxes using the liobiity method. Deferred tuxes ore determined bosed on the differences between the financiol statement and tux bases
of ussefs and liobifities, using enocted tax rates in effect for the yeor in which the differences are expected to reverse. Valuation alowances are established when
necessary to reduce deferred fox ossets o the amounts expected fo be realized.

Farnings Per Share

Bosic eamings per shore is computed using the weighted-average number of common shores outstanding during the periad. Diksted ecrings per share is computed
using the weighted-average number of comman shares and diutive potential common shares outstanding during the period. Dilutive potential comman shaves
primeaily consist of employee stock optians.

Foreign Currency Translation

Assets and liobilifies of non-\.S. subsidiaries thot operate in o locol currency envirenment ore hanslated to U.S. dollars of exchonga rates in effect o the balance
sheet date, with the resulting translation adjustments induded s e seporate companent in occumulated othes comprehensive incom, which have not been
significant to date. Income and expense accounts are translated ot avesuge exchange rates during the year. Where the LS, dollar is the hunctional cumrency,
certain balance sheet and income stotemant accounts are remeasured af historical exchange rafes ond translation adjustments from the remeasurement of the
locat currency amounts fo U.S. dallars ore induded in intesest and other income, net. Gains and losses resulfing from foreign currency transactions, the omounts of
which hove not been significant to date, are included in interest and other income, net.

Comprehensive Income

We have odopted the provisions of SFAS 130, “Reporting Comprehensive Income.” SFAS 130 estoblishes stondards for reporfing comprehensive income and its
components in financial statements. Comprehensive income, as defined, includes all changes in equity {net assets} during a period from non-owner sources. To
date, there have been ro significant fransactions that ore required 1o be reported in comprehensive income, other than net income.

Segments

We have adopied the provisions of SFAS 131, “Disclosures abowt Segments of an Enterprise and Reloted Information.” SFAS 131 establishes standards for the

way campanies report information ahout eperating segments in annual financial statements. It also establishes stondords for related disclosures about products
- and services, geographic areas and major customers. We hove defermined that we did not hove any separately reportable business segments as of, and for the

yeors ended, December 31, 2006, 2005 ond 2004,

Retlossifications and Presentation
Certuin prior year smounts have been redssified to conform to the curent year presentution.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, “The Fair Yatue Qption for Financial Assets and Financiol Libifities — inchuding on omendment of FASB State-
ment No. 1157 {"SFAS 159"}, which permits entities 1o choose to measure many financial instruments and certoin other assets and liobilities ot foir volue on on
instrumenthy-instrument basis (the fair value apfion). Unrealized gains and losses on items for which the fair value option hos been elected are to be recognized
0s eamings of each subsequent reporting date. SFAS 159 is effective fiscol yeors beginaing after November 15, 2007. We believe that the adoption of SFAS 159
will not hove a significont impact on our constlidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
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In September 2006, the SEC issued Stoff Accounting Bulletin No. 108 (“SAB 108", which establishes o dual approach that requires the quontification of finan-
cial statement errors on 4 single quantification frumewélk to be used by ol public companes. Under SAB 108, finarcial statement ervors will be quantified bosed
on the effects of the error on ench of o company’s finatcial statements and the related disclosures. This duol opproach requires that eerors be quontified under
both the iron-curtoin method, which focuses primorily an the effect of correcting the period-end belance sheet, ond the rol-over metht%d, which focuses primarily on
the impoct of an esror on the income statement. SAB 108 is effeciive for fiscol years ending ofter Noverber 15, 2006, We adopted SAB 108 on December 31,
2006. The odoption of SAB 108 did not have o significlnm impoct on our consofidated financiol position, results of operations or cashiflows,

In Seprember 2006, the FASB issued Statement of Finlnciul Accounting Standards No. 157 “Fair Value Measurements” (“SFAS 157[), which defines fair volue,
estublishes o framework for megsuring fair value in genlem!fy occepted occounting principles {“GAAP), and expands disclosuies about foir volue meosurements.
This Stotement is applied under other accounting pronodacements thot require or permit fair value measurements, the FASB having pﬂevinusry conduded i1 those
gccounting pronouncements that fair value is the relevalt megsurement attibute. SFAS 157 is effective for financia statements issue! fo fiscal yeors beginning
after Noverber 15, 2007, and interite periods within hose fiscal years. We are currently evaluating the impoct on ou financial Stuiements of odopting SFAS
157,

In Juns 2008, the FASB issued FAS Interpratation Na. 4B, *Accounting for Uncertainty in ncome Toxes — An nterpretation of FASB Ptutemem No. 109" (“FIN
487). FIN 48 dlorifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in financial statements in accordance with FAS Stofament No. 109, “Accounting
for Income Taxes,” FIN 48 olsa prascribes a recognition thresheld and measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition m&d measurement of o tox
position fuken of expected to be faken in o fx return. FIN 48 olso provides guidunce on derecogaifion, classfication, intesest ond penolies, accouning in interm
periods, disclosure, and transition. The provisions of FIN 48 are effective for fistol years beginning ofter December 15, 2006. Only ta positions that meet the
more-ikely-tharnot recognition threshold at the effective date may be recognized or confinue to be recognized upan odoption of FIN 48. The cumulctive effect of
applying the provisions of FIN 48 should be reparted os i adjustment o the opening bolance of retained earnings (os othes appropriaje components of eguity or
net assefs in the statement of finoncic! pasition) for rhnt!fiscul year. Wa will odopt FIN 48 effective January 1, 2007. The odoption of FIN 48 is not anficipeted fo
heve a significont impact on our consolidated financiol pu]siﬁon, results of operations or cosh flows.

In lune 2006, the FASB tified EITF kssue No. 08-03, “How Soles Tox Collected from Customers and Remirted to Govemmental Authorities Should be Presented
in the Income Statement {That is, Gross Versus Net Prese| tetion)” (“EITF 0&-03"). EITF 0603 provides that any fox cssessed by o gdvemmen'ml outhority that is
directly impased on o revenueprogucing fransaction between o seller and a customer may include, but is not limited fo, soles, use, valve added, ond some excise
tmxes. EITF 06-03 also provides thot the presentation of uch toses on either o gross {included in revenue ond costs) or o net (excluded from revenues) basis i

an accounting palicy decision that  company should moke and discose i s finoncial statements, ond disclose any such taxes that e reported on o gross basis,
if matesiol, for eoch period for which an income statement is presented. EITF 04-03 is effactive for finandial statements for interim and l]nnuul teporting periods
beginning aftes Decambes 15, 2006. We will edapt EITF 06-03 effective Januory 1, 2007, The odaption of EITF 06-03 is not uﬂn'cipmled to heve o significant
impact on our consolidated financial posifion, sesults of op‘eruﬁuns or cash flows.

2. Concentrations
Credit Risk

Finoncial instruments thai subject us o concentrations of qedit fisk consist primarity of cash and cash equivalents and frode accounts receivable. We mointain
our cush and cash equivalents with reputable financial inst\ruﬁuns, and ot times, cash balonces moy be in excess of FBIC insurance fimil%. We extend differing
levels of credit fo customers, do not generally requite collaferal, and maintoin reserves for patentiol credit losses based upon the expected callectibility of actounts

receivoble.
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Significant Customer
For the years ended December 31, 2008, 2005 ond 2004, enly one customer comprised more than 10% of tofol revenues os follows (in thousonds, except
percentages):

Yeor Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004

Amaunt of fofok revenues S 46280 S 53045 & 34950
As o percentage of totol revenues 26% 35% 3%

As of December 31, 2006 and 2005, we hod receivoble bolonces from the customer epproximating 23% and 27%, respectively, of fotel accounts receivoble.

international Data
For the years ended December 31, 2008, 2005 ond 2004, total revenues from infemational product shipments consisted of the following (in thousands, except
pertentoges):

Yeor Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004

Amaount of totol revenues S SIS S 497 S 29128
As o percentage of tofol ravenues 3% 7% 26%

Longlived assets are primarily located in the United Stutes. As of December 31, 2006, oppeoximately $7.1 million, or 13.1% of our 2006 totat longived ossets,
were locoted af international locotions. As of December 31, 2005, approvimately S4.9 million, ar 5.5% of our 2005 totol longdived essats, were locoted af
international locations. LongHived assets located ot internctional locotions consisted primagily of fixed ossets,

Sources of Supply

We currenly buy o number of key components of our products from o limited number of suppliess. Although there ore o limited number of manufocturers of these
companenis, we believe that other suppliers could provide similar components en comparable terms. A change in suppliers, however, could couse a deloy in
monutachuring and o possible loss of sales, which could odversely affect cansolidoted eperating results.

3. Selected Balanee Sheer Dara (in thousands)
Accounts Receivable, Net
Accounts receivable, net consisted of the following:

Yeor Ended December 31,

2006 2005
Trade eccounts receivable § 37355 32419
Alowance for doubtful accounts (,174) (854}

S 3 5 31565

Aciivity in the altowance for doubtful aecounts during the years presented is as follows:

Balonce ot Beginning  Chorged fo Cost Reversals to Cost Balonce ot End
Year Ended December 31, of Peiod  ond Expenses  and Expenses Deductions of Period
2006 3 854 % 335 % — 5 19 % 1,174
2005 842 300 {150) {138) 854

2004 410 450 — (18 842
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Investments in Marketable Securities
Investments in marketable securifies as of December 3

Available-for-sole — shor-term:
Auction tate securities

Held-o-maturity — maturities of kess than one year
U.S. government and federal ogency debt securities
Corporate debt securities

Held4o-maturity — maturities of one to five years;
U.S. govermnment ond federal ogency debt securities

Investments in markefable securities os of December 3

hvailobleforsole — short-term:
Auction rate securities

Held-to-maturity — maturities of less than one year;
U1.S. govemment ond federol ogency debt securifies
Comporata debt securities

Held-fo-moturity — maturities of one to five years:
11.S. govermment and federal gency debt securities
Corporate debt securities

Inventories
Inventaries consisted of the following:

Row moterials
Work in process
Finished goods

1, 2004 consisted of the following:

1, 2005 consisted of the following;

Camying Volue Fair Volue
128701 S 128,700
23,002 21,928

1,000 898
152,703 152,627
4,354 4,292
4,354 4,292
157,057 5 156919

{orrying Value Fair Volue
89526 & 89,528
20,917 20,759
14,013 13,90
124,456 124,184
24,392 2400

1,000 975
25,392 24,985
149,848 S 149,171

December 31,  December 31,

2004 2005

) 3,391 § 3574

6,891 3424

1,372 2,844
1,604 9,844
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Property and Equipment, Net
Property and equipment, net cansisted of the follawing:
Useful tife  December 31,  December 31,
{in years) 2006 2005
Computer equipment 3 6,661 S 5,168
Computer software 3 6,697 5,236
Demanstration equipment 2 11,397 9,538
Development equipment 5 10,643 8416
Furniture and other equipment 5 12,751 10,160
Leasehold improvements 7 3,443 2024
51,598 40,542
Accumuluted depreciation (29,554) {20,792)
S 04SS90
Accrued Expenses
Accrued expenses consisted of the following:
December 31, December 31,
2006 2005
Acaued payrall ) 3253 § 292
Accrued vocotion 2315 1,639
Accrued bonuses 1,704 1,533
Accrued legol and professional fees 1,635 910
Acarued commissions 1400 1,275
Due to Bell Canada (Note 4} 1,000 —
Accrued travel 644 591
Employee stack purchasa plan payroll deductions 550 644
Accrued property taxes 452 887
Accrved warcanty 34 230
Sales tax poyable 308 530
Gther 2,267 1,234
S 15873 5 1239

+. Acquisitions
Acquisition of Test Business from Dilithium Networks

In January 2006, we completed the acquisition of the mobile video and multimedia test business (“Test Business”) of privoteby-held Difithium Networks. This

acquisition marks our entry into the third generation wireless, or 36, cellulor market and opens new growsh epportunities by aflowing us o offer o brooder porifolio

of products to our existing customers, os wall os gain access fo new customers, The results of the ocquired Test Business have been included in the consolidared

financial statements sinca the acquisition dote.

63.
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The Test Business purchase price of $5.2 million included S4.9 million in cash and epproximately $300,000 in lega! and ather el
lowing toble summarizes the allocation of the purchase price based on the estimated fair values of the ossets acquited and liobilities
gequisition (in thousands):

Intengible ossefs $ 2430
Goodwill 3,260
Toto] essefs acquired 5,690
Current fabifities assumed (477
Net assets acquired 5 5213

isitian costs. The fol-
gssumed af the dote of

Qf the $2.4 million of ocquived intangible ossets, $1.0 million was assigred to acquired technology, $1.2 million was assigned to customer contracts ond relofior-

shigs, and approximately $200,000 was assigned to uihir intangible assets, including o covenant not to compete, These intangible uss'e

ts were generally valved

using the “income” valuation approoch and will be amortized using o stroight4ine method over their expected useful lives ranging from hwa to seven years. The

$3.3 million of goodwill is expected to be deductible for icame tax puIposes.

Acquisition of Certain Assets from Befl Conoda
In June 2006, we completed the acquisition of cartoin technology from Bell Canoda (“Test Tools™). Included with the cequired Test Toal
property rights ond pending patents, and we also entered r

are cartain infellectual

nto o services agreement with Bell Conada for the use of certain Bell Canada employees to assist us

with market development ncfivities related to the Test Tooks. The purchase price for the Test Tools asser acqisition was $3.6 million, of ':nhich $2.1 million in cosh
was prid in the second quarter of 2006, We accounted fof the Test Tools acqisition under the purchose meshod of accounting and allocpted the purchose price to

the net fangible and intangible assets acquired based on theis estimated fair vahues.

Communication Machinery Corporation

On July 15, 2005, we completed the acquisition of ol of the outstanding capital stack of Communication Machinery Corporation (“CMCH). CMC develaped tocls
for testing WiFi networks and equipment. This acquisition rfnclhled us fo enter the fast growing wireless testing market, expand our prodjict offering to existing
tustorers and qoin access to new cwstomers. These fociors, ameng othess, contributed to o purchase price in excess of the fair value of CMC's net rangible end

iniongible ossets acquired, and, os o resul, we hove reco:4ed goodwill in connection with this tronsaction. The resulls of CMC's operation
tha consolidoted financial statements since the acquisition date.

The CME purchase piice of $4.2 million included $4.0 million in cash poyrents, and legal and ofher acquisition costs of approximately §

s hove been included in

200,000. The following

toble summarizes the esimated foir values of the tangible oad infangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of ecquisition (in thousands):

Current assefs ) 144
Praperty and equipment [l
Deferred toxes N
Intongible assets 2420
Goodwil 70m
Total ossets acquired 5,393
Current linbiifies ossumed (254)
Deferred toxes (956)
Net assefs acquired § 4,181

Of the S2.4 million of acquired intangible assets, $1.3 milion was assigned to ocquired technology, $1.0 million was assigned to customes contracts ond relation-
ships, and appreximately $100,000 was assigned to o covenant not to compete. These intangible cssets wik be omortized using o stoightine methad over e

axpected useful lives ronging from twa o seven yeors, Goodwill is not deductible for income tax purposes.




Ixio 2006 Annual Repart

05.

63 Nova Technology, Inc.

(n February 20, 2004, w completed the acquisition of off of the outstonding capital stock of G3 Nova Technelogy, Inc. {63 Nova™. 63 Nova developed

and sold Yoice over P test tools for enterprise call centers, communication networks ond aetwork devices. This acquisifion opaned new growth apportunities by
offowing us to offer o brooder portfolio of produucts to customers, as well es gain access to new customer segments. These foctars, among others, confributed 1o o
purchase price in excess of te fair value of 63 Nova's net tangible and intangible assets acquired, and, s o result, we hove recorded goodwill in connection with
this fransaction. The results of 63 Nova's operations hove been induded in the consolidated finoncial statements since the acquisition date.

The 63 Nova purchase piice of $9.5 million included $5.5 million in cash, 307,020 shares of our Comman Stack valued af $3.8 million and fegol ond ether
gequisition costs of $207,000. The following table summarizes the estimated fair volues of the ssefs acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of acquisifion
(in hhousands):

Current assets 5 355
Property and equipment 131
Intangible ossefs 3,700
Goedwill 7,285
Total assets acquired 11,41
Current liahilities ossumed (722}
Deferred toxes (1,219
Net assets ocquired ) 92.470

Of the $3.7 million of acquired intangible ossefs, $2.5 million was ossigned o cquired technology, $1.0 million wos assigned fo custamer contracts and relotion-
ships, and $200,000 was assigned to a covenant not fo compete. These intongible assets will be amortized using o straightdine method over their expected
useful lives ranging from three to faur-and-cne-half vears. Goodwillis nor deductible for income tox purposes.

The purchase agreement also provided for ¢ confingent earnout payment of up to $2.5 million fo be paid o the sellers based upon sales of 63 Nova produts
from July 2004 shreugh June 2005. Besed on orders received for 63 Nova products from July 2004 through December 2004, mancgement believed that the
contingent amount would be eamed ond occelerated the poyment of the earnout; $600,000 of this amount was paid in Noversber 2004 and the remaining $1.9
million was paid in lonuory 2005. We recorded the entire confingent amount of $2.5 millian in our December 31, 2004 consolidated financial statements os
additional goodwil.

5. Goodwill and Other hnangible Asseis
The following toble presents 2006 details of our total purchosed intongible assets {in thousands):

Accumulated
Description Gross  Amortizofion Net
Goodwill 5 16,728 S — % 16,728
Other intangible osses:
Technalogy S 31900 §  (15313) S 16,587
Norcompete Nz (802) 1190
Trademark 676 (321 349
Workfarce 395 (346) 49
Customer relutionships 3,248 (1,170) 2,076
Other 1,955 (902) 1,053

S 39084 5 (18860) & 2024




060.

Ixia 2006 Annudl Report

The following table presents 2005 details of our fotal purchased intangible assets (in thousands):

Accumulted
Description Gross Amonizn'ﬁon Net
Goodwil S 13448 S — § 13468
QOther infangible assets:
Technology S 274653 % (10,J08) S 17547
Non-compete 862 (599 163
Trodemark 676 (227) 449
Worklorce 395 (247 148
(ustomer relotionships 2,026 (1604) 1422
Other 1,260 (527) 733
S 1S 2N0S 20482

The estimated future omortization expense of purchased intangible ossets os of December 31, 2006 is as follows (in thousands):

2007 5 6,02
2008 5,285
2009 4,353
2010 2,488
201 795
Theredfter 1,201

S 20,214

6. Income Taxes
Income tax expense consisted of the following (in thousands):

Curment:
Federal
State
Fareign

Deferred:
Federal
State
Foreign

Ingeme tox expense

Yepr Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004

) 4677 S 13,086 S 4,335
503 2,635 1,571

309 14 79

4,785 {5,109 156

1,212 {3,049) (2,079)

{259 16 (55)

) 1,222 § 7593 S 4,007
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The net effective income fox rate differed from the federal statutory incame tax rate os follows (in thousands):

Yeor Ended December 31,

2004 2005 2004

Federol statutory expensa 5 Bods S 124629 S 6,657

State taxes, net of federal henefit 1,247 {(244) (133)

Research ond development credits (969 (1,931 (1,475)

Stock-based compensation 2,644 (1,924) {968)

Other {341) 93N (74)

Income tox expense ) 11,222 S 7593 § 4,007
Net effective income fox rote 45.4% 21.0% 21.1%

The primory components of temporory differences that gave rise to deferred toxes were os follows {in thousands):
December 31, Dacember 31,

2006 2005
Dieferved tox ssefs:

Altawence for doubtful accounts $ 465 S 353
Research and development credit carryforward 6,176 9.298
Deferred sevenue 5211 12,282
Stodk-hased compensafion 4548 1,220
Inventory djustments 1,532 1,149
Met operating foss cormyforword 870 706
Acciued Fabifities and other 1,209 1,249
Total deferred tox assets 20077 26,257

Defermed tox liabilities:
Depreciation end omertization (4,209 {4,651)
Net deferred taxes S 15868 S 21606

Realizotion of the December 31, 2006 deferved tox assets is dependent on us generafing sufficient texable income in the future. Aithough realizafion is not
asswred, we believe it is more: fikely than not that the deferred tox assets will be realized. The amount of the deferred tax ossets considesed relizable, however,
could be reduced in the future if estimates of firture toxable income are reduced.

As of December 31, 2006, we have gross federal and stote research and development credit coryfarwards of approximately $8.3 million, which begin to expire
in 2021,

1t December 31, 2006, we have net aperating loss {“NOLs”) camyforwards of approximotely $1.4 million ond $1.8 million for federal ond state purposes, respec:
fively. The federal NOLs expire o various dates thiough 2024, and the stote NOLs expire at various dotes theough 2014, Section 382 of the Internal Revenue
Code imposes an onnudl fimitation on the wiilizatin of net operating loss carryforwards reloted to acquired coporations bosed on o stafutory rate of return {usually
the “applicoble federal funds rote™ os defined in the Internof Revenue Code) and the volue of the corporation at the fime of a “chonge in ownership™ s defined by
Section 382. The annual limitation under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code is approximately $183,000.

(umulative undistributed eamings of foreign subsidiaries for which no deferred income taxes have been provided approximated $1.4 million of December 31,
2006. Deferred income taxes on these eamings have not been provided s these accounts are considered to be permanent in duration.

07.
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7. Conunitments and Contingencies
Leases

We lause our focilities under noncancelable aperoting leases far varying periods through Februry 2016, excluding opfions fo renew
minimum commitments under these leases (in mOUSJ::s):

r Ending December 31,
2007 b) 4,059
2008 2,286
2009 980
2010 841
0 544
Therenfter 1,149
5 9,879

 The following are the future

Rent expense for the yeors ended December 31, 2008, 2005 and 2004 was approximately S4.3 million, $3.0 million and $2.3 rillion, respectively.

We have outstanding purchose orders with certain of ur conact monufacturers to purchase specified quontities of certain interfuce‘;mds and chassis. It is not our

infent, nor is it rensonably likely, that we would concd] these executed purchase orders. &s of December 31, 2006, these purchase
matety $7.3 million ond will be settled in 2007.

Litigation
From time to fime, certain legal actions may arise in the ordinary course of our business. We believe that the ultimate outcome of
a material adverse effect on our finoncial pasifion, results of operations or cash flows.

Indemnificotions

bligations totaled approxi

ur ongaing actions will not have

In the nomal course of business, we provide indemnipcuﬁon guarantees of varying scope to customers including agoinst claims of intellectual praperty infringe-
ment made by third parties arising from the use of our products. The duration of these indemnifications and quarantees varies and in certuin ceses, s indefinite.
Histerically, costs reloted to these indemnification und}guarumee peovisions have not been significant ond accordingly, we believe the esimated fair value of these

indemnification and guarontee provisins is immaterial. With the exception of the product wamonty accrual (Nate 1, no ligbilities b
indemnification ond guarantee provisions.

8. Sharcholders” Equiry
Stock Option Plans

Our Amended and Restated 1997 Fquity and Incentive: Plan, as omended (the “1997 Plan"), pravides for the fssugace of share-ba
employees ond consuftants. The shorebased awards may include incentive stock aptions, nonquakified stock options, restricted stock

ave been recorded for these

ed awards o our qualified
units {"RSU") or restricted

stack owards. Options bacome exercisable over o vesting period as determined by the Board of Disectors and expire over terms nat exceeding 10 years from the

date of grant. The exercise prica for apfions granted under the 1997 Plan may not be gronfed o fess than 100% of the fair market
on the date of grant (110% if granted to an emploveLl

four-year period. In the event the holder ceases fo be Iemployed by s, all unvested aptions are forfeifed ond all vested opfions may
of up fo 30 days after the optianee’s termination for Juuse, up to three monihs after terrmination other than for couse or as o resutt

volua of aur Common Stock

who owns mare thon 10% of the voting shares of the outstonding stock}. Options generally vest over o

be exercised within o period
of death os disability, or up to

six months ofter termination as a resuls of disability ml death. As of December 31, 2006, we have reserved 28.5 million shares of gur Comman Stock for issuance

wader the 1997 Flar, 4.4 miffion shares of which wele avadoble for uture grant s of such date.

Qur Amended and Restoted Nan-Employee Director Stock Option Plan (tha *Director flon®) pravides for the issuance of share-based

awords fo our nonemployes

directars. We hove reserved a total of 400,000 shares of Common Stack for issucnce under the plan. The optian grants under the plon ore cutomatic and non-
disceetionary, ond the exercise price of the aptions is 100% of the foir market value of our Common Stack on the grant date. The plhn peovides for an initial gront
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fo 0 non-emplayse director of on option to purchase af least 25,000 and up to 35,000 shares of Common Stock upon the director’s oppointment to the board,
which options vest and become exercisoble in eight equal quarterly installments. The plan alsa provides for each nan-emplayee director to be granted on option to
purchose 10,000 shores of Common Stock upan the director's re-election to the board ot on onnual meeting of shareholders. These subsequent grants vest ond
become exercsoble in four equal quartedy instollments commencing on the last day of the calendor quarter in which the option is geentad. The plon wil terminate
in Septernber 2010, unless terminated sooner by the Board of Directors. As of December 31, 2006, the Diractor Plan had approximately 177,000 shores ovait
able for future grant.

The following tuble summarizes stock option activity for the year ended December 31, 2004:

Weighted
Waighted Averoge
Averoge Remaining Agareqote
Number  Exercise Price Controctual Intrinsic
of Opfions Per Share  Life: (in yeors) Value
Quistonding as of December 31, 2005 10,465 § 10.42
Gronted 1,153 1110
Exercised {4725) 6.33
Forfeited /canceled (1,073) 13.06
Outstonding os of December 31, 2004 10,120 $ 10.59 463 S 12908
Exarcisable as of December 31, 2004 6671 S 234 382 § 12,580

The wighted overage grant-date fair value of options granted For the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2004 was $5.69, $7.75 and $7.07 per
shose, respectively. The totel inrinsic value of options exercised during the yeors ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 was $2.2 million, 545.3 millien
ond $13.7 millian, respectively. As of December 31, 2006, the remaining unrecognized compensation expense related to stock aptions is expected o be recogr
nized over o weighted overoge period of 1.33 years.

The following table summarizes RSU activity for the year ended December 31, 2004:

Weighted

Averoge Gront

Number  Dote Fair Volue

of Awards Per Share

Outstanding as of December 31, 2005 -5 -
Awarded 338 944
Released (n 1072
Forleited /canceled (14) 964
Outstanding s of December 31, 2006 3?38 944

The weighted overage remaining contractual life and expense recogniion period of the outstanding RSUs as December 31, 2006 waos 1.87 years.

Employee Stock Purchasa Plan

The employee stock purchase plan {the “Plan") wos adopted and opproved in September 2000. The Plan became effective upon the closing of our initial public
offering in October 2000. We have reserved a total of 2.5 million shares of Common Stock for issuance under the Plan, together with the potential for an annual
increase in the number of shores reserved under the Plan on May 1 of each year. As of December 31, 2006, 486,000 shares were ovailoble for future fssuance.
For the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2005, 344,000 ond 314,000 shares, respectively, were issued under the Plon.

The Plan permits eligible emplayses to purchase Common Stack, subject to limitations as set farth in the Plan, through payroll deductions which may not exceed
the lesser of 15% of an employee’s compensation or $21,250 per onnum.

69.
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The Plon is designed to qrovid our employees with cn ofportunity to purchase, on ¢ periodic basis and ot a discount, shares of aur Comman Stock thraugh payroll
deductions. The Plon was adopted ond approved by the Bourd of Directors and the shareholders of the Compony in 2000 and was amended in May 2003 ond

in April 2006. The Plan is implemented in o series of conéecutive, ovedapping 24-month offering periods, with each offering period co:Esﬁng of four six-month
purchase perinds. Offering periods begin on the first rrudmg day on or after May 1 ond November 1 of ench year. During each 24-monin offering pericd under the
Plon, parficipants accumulate poyroll deductions which on  the st troding day af each six-month purchase perod within the offering pesod are opplied toward the
purchase of shores of our Common Stock of o purchase p}lce equal fa 85% of the lower of (i) the fair market volue of a shore of our Common Stock os of the first
troding day of the 24-month offering period and (i) the foir morket value of a share of Comman Stock on the last treding doy of the stxmanth purchase period.

Prior to the Aprd 2006 amendment to the Plan, Plon particpants coutd increase or decrense the rate of their payroll deductions (subject to the limitations set forth
in the Plun) during the course of o 24-month offering period for future six-manth purchase periods within the offering period. The April 2006 omendment amends
the Plan to provide that, for all offering periods beginning on or ofter May 1, 2006, Plan participants may decrease, but not increase, the rute of their paysoll
deductions for future sixmonth purchase periods within o:24-month offering period. In addifion, prior fo the April 2006 amendment, if the fair market volus of
our Commen Stock an the lost frading doy of a sixmanth purchase period within a 24-month offering period was lawer than the foir morket value of our Comman
Stock on the first trodiag day of the 24-month offering périad, then all porticipaats in the 24-month offering period would nutomaﬁculld be withdrown from the of-
fering period and automatically re-enrolled in the next 24imanth offering period an the first day thereof. The April 2006 omendment a hends the Plan fo elmingte
this autamatic re-enrofiment feature of the Plan for all affering periods begining on or after May 1, 2004. The Aprl 2006 amendment will allow us fo better
esfimate, on the grant dotes under the Plan, the amount o stockbased compensation expensa to be recognized in our consolidated stoiements of income related
to owards granted under the Plan.

Stock-Bosed Compensation Expense
We calcvlated the estimated fair value for accounting purposes of each sherebased aword on the respecfive dates of grant using the Block-Scholes aption-pricing
model using the following weighted average assumptions;

Year Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004

Fxpected lives (in years) 41 40 37
Risk-free interast rafes 4.8% 4% 3%
Dividend yield 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

Expected volatiity 61.0% 62.4% 92.8%
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71.

The following toble reflects net incorme and eamings per shose for the years ended Decemer 31, 2006 compared with the pro forma information for the years
ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 os follows {in thousands, except per share data):

Year Ended December 31,
2006 2005 2004
Net income — as reported for prior period ™ N/A S 28490 & 150D
Stock-bosed compensation expense related to shore-bosed nwards, net of tox @ 5 {1349 {8,402) 13,612
Net income — including the effects of stock-based compensation © $ 13481 § 20,088 S 1,409
Eamings per share:
Bosic — os reported for prior period N/A S 044 $ 025
Basic ~ inchuding the effacts of stock-based compensation $ 020 § 031 $ 0.0
Diluted — as seported for prior period N/ S 041 % 0.23
Diluted — inchuding the effects of stock-based compensation @ $ 020 $ 0.9 5 0.02

@ Nat income o earmings per shore for the years ended December 31, 2005 did not include stock-based compansation expense for shore-based awords under
SFAS 123 becouse we did not adopt the recognition provisions of SFAS 123, For the year ended December 31, 2004, we recognized $419,000 of stack-
based compensation expense in accordonce with APB 25,

2 Stock-based compensation expense prior to fiscol 2006 is coleutoted based on the pro forma application of SFAS 123, ond excludes S419,000 of stock-bosed
conpensation expense recognized in accordonce with APB 25 for the yeor ended December 31, 2004, Stock-bosed compensation expenss, excluding fox
effects, under SFAS 1238 and SFAS 123 For the years ended Dacember 3), 2006, 2005 ond 2004 was $18.0 million, $15.4 million ond $17.4 millien,
respectively.

@ Net income and eamings per share prior fo fiscal 2006 represent pro forma information bosed on SFAS 123,

Warrants
As of December 31, 2008, there were warsants outstanding and exercisable to purchase 50,000 shares of Common Stock with an exercise price $7.00 per share.

The worrants expire in August 2007,

9. Retirement Plan

We provide o 401(k) Refirement Plon {the “Plan"} to eligible employees who may outherize contibutions up to IRS onnual deferral limits to be invested in
employee elected investment funds. As determined onnually by the Boord of Disectors, we may cantribute matching funds of 50% of the employee confributions up
t0 $2,500, These matching coniributions vest based on the employee's years of service with us. For the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, we
expensed and mada contributions to the Mlan in the omaunt of apmoximately $674,000, $770,000 ond $478,000, respectively,
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10, Earnings Per Share
The following table sets farth the computotion of bosic and diluted eornings per share for the pesiods indicoted (in thousands, except per shore doto):

Yllur Ended December 31,
2006 2005 2004
Basic Presentation
Numergtor:

Net income 5 13481 & 28490 & 150N
Denomingior;

Weighted avernge common shares 47,005 65,168 60,687
Bosic eamings per share 5 020 § 044 § 0.25
Diluted presentation
Denominator;

Shares used obove 67,005 65,168 60,687

Weighted average effect of stock options and other shore-bosed owards 1,767 4,059 4,058
Denominator for diluted computation 68,792 69,227 64,745
Diluted eomings per share 5 0.00 5 LI 0.23

The dituted per shore computations for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, exclude employee stock options ond other share-bosed awards to
purchase 6.4 million, 0.8 million and 3.6 million shares, respectively, which were ontidilutive.

11, Quarterly Financial Sununary {Cnondited) {in thousands, except per share data
\ K 1

Three Months Ended
Det. 31 Sep. 30 Jun. 30 Mot 31 Dec. 31 Sep. 30 Jun. 30 Mar, 31
2006 2006 2006 2006 2005 2005 2005 2005

Statement of

Income Data;™"
Total revenues S 47367 & 55228 5 40470 S 37047 S 35537 S 39892 S 38954 S 34470
Total cost of revenues 9,868 9,579 9,285 8,00 7.144 8,187 7178] 7,232
Goross profit 37499 45,649 31,185 28,976 28,391 31,705 31,073 29238
fncome (loss)

befora income foxes 7949 lS,SI"EI 1,620 (244 5123 10,582 10,767 9,611
Net income (loss) 4501 8,100 942 (62) 3,449 7,980 8,531 8,330
Earnings (loss) per share:

Bosic 5 007 S 0.12 S 001 S 00nS 0.05 § 012 § 0.3 5 0.13

Diluted S 007 § 012 S 001 $ (000 S 005 § on s 01?2 s 0.12

' Due to the adopfion of SFAS 123K effective Jonuary |, 2£|)06, our results of operations for 2008 include 54.9 million, $4.4 million, $4;|9 million and 3.8
million of pre-tax stock-based compensation expense for the first, second, third and fourth quarters, respectively (approximately $3.9 million, $3.4 milfon, 53.8
milion and $2.8 milfion, respectively, on an after tox basis).
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3.

Deseription

Summary of 2006 Compensation for the Regiskant's Nomed Executive Officers

Summary of Compensation for the Registrant’s Nan-Employee Directars

Subsidigries of the Registrant

Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP. Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Cetification of Chief Executive Officer of lxia pursuont to Section 302 of the SarbanesOxley Act of 2002
Certification of Chief Finoncial Officer of 1xio pursuant to Section 302 of the Sorbanes-Oxley Adt of 2002

(erifications of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financiol Officer of Ixia purswant to Rule 130-14(b) under the Exchange
Act and 18 U.S.{. Secion 1350, as odopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarhanas{xley Act of 2002
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Exhibit 10.16

Compensation of Named Execurive Officers

The executive officers named in the summary ¢ompensction 1c'tble in the proxy statement for lxio's 2006 Annual Mesfing of Shorehalders (Ire “Named Executive

(fficers”) have their bose solaries determined annually by thel

determinotions ordinarily take ploce in the first quorter of each

Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors (the “Compensation Compittee”}. Such
fiscal yeor and are effective s of lanuary 1st (i.e., the first day of that fiscol year). The Nomed

Exeautive Officers are off “ot will” employees and do not have: written or oral employment agreements with the Company. The Company, upon the approval of the

Committee, retains the sight to unilaterally decrease or increase such officers’ base salaries ot any time during the fiseal year,

The annuot base sataries for the Nomed Executive Officers {effective since Jonvary 1, 2006} are as fallows:

Nomed Executive Officer

Errol Ginsherg
(hief Executive Officer and President

David Andersen
Senior Vice President, Worldwide Sees and Business Deve

Robert W. Boss
Executive Vice President, Operations

Thormas B. Miller
{hief Financiol Officer

Man Cuellor-Arvrod (resigned Jure 30, 2006}
Former Vice President, Marketing

lopment Operations

The Nomed Executive Gfficers are also eligible to participate in the Company’s incentive compensation plans, including:

(i) The Company’s bonus plans; provided, hawsver, thot E)uviq Anderson, Senior Vice President, Wordwide Seles and Business Development

to receive sales commission in lieu of porticipation in the Compony’s bonus plons;

(ii) The Company’s Amended and Restated 1997 Equity Incer‘ﬁve Plan (filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Company's Registration Statement Form

(Reg. No. 333-117949) filed with the Commissian on August 5, 2004); and

{iii) The Compony’s Employee Stack Purchnse Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to Amendment No. 1 fo the Company’s Registration Statement an

Annuof Base Salory

$ 363,825

250,000

37,038

235,935

232,628

Operations, is eligible

58

Form &1

{Reg. No. 333-42678) filed with the Cammission on Seétember 5, 2000}, as amended by (1) Amendment No. 1 thereta (filed as Exhibit 4.2 to the
Company’s Registration Statement Form S8 (Reg. Ne. 333-107818) filed with the Commission on August 8, 2003}, and (2) the Su;?plemenml Provisians
thereto (fited as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Cument Report on Form 8 {File. No. 000-31523) filed with the Commission on Aprl 20, 2004).
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Exhibit 10.17

Summary of Compensation for Non-Emplovee Members of the Board of Directors and its Committees

!, Board of Birectors

Annuol retainer {except Chairman) ) 35,000
Chairman’s annval retaines S 47,000
Fee for attending meefing 5 2,000

2 Compensation Commites

Annual retainer (except Chairman) S 9,000
Chairman’s onnual refainer $ 12,000
Fee for attending o meefing ) 1,000
3. Audit Committee

Anawol retainer {except Chaitman) S 10,000
Chairman’s annuol retainer 5 20,000
Fee for oftending a meefing S 1,500
4. Nomingting and Corporate Governance (ommittes

Annual retainer {except Chairman) b) 5,000
Chairman’s annual retaines ) 7.000
Fee for attending a mesting ) 1,000
5. Strategic Planning Commities

Annul reteiner (except Chairman) 5 5,000
Chairman’s ennual retainer 5 7,000
Fee for ottending a meefing ) 1,000

The above summarizes cosh compensation payable to the non-emplayee directors of the Company’s Board of Dizectors and its Committees effective as of July 1,
2006 (except that the compensation for membess of the Strategic Planing Committes is effective es of September 13, 2006 which is the date of formafion of
the Committee).

In oddition to cash compensation, non-employee directors receive undes the Company’s Amended and Restated Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan (the
“Director Plan”) (i) o grant of stack optians upon the inifial election to the Board of Directors and Gi) annual grants of stock opfions upon heir re-election o
the Board, The Direcor Plan is included as Exhibit 4.2 to the Company's Registration Statement an Form 5-8 (Registration No. 333-11796%) as fled with the
Sequrities ond Exchange Commission on August 5, 2004.
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IExhibit 21.1

Subsidiaries of the Registram

State or Other Jurisdiction of

Nume of Subsidiary* Incorpurluﬁon or Organization
Ixia Furope Limited United Kingdom
Ixin KK, Japon
S.C. Ixio SRL Romanic
fio Technologies Private Limited Indio
ixia {Befiing) Troding Company Limited Chino

* The subsidiaries of the Registrant do not do business under ary rome other tham os listed above.
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Exhibit 23.1 77.

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

W hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registrafion Statements on Form S8 ¢File Nos. 333-48814, 33366382, 333-107818, 333-
117969, 333124599 and 333-133718) of Ixia of aur report doted March 15, 2007 relating to the conslidoted financial statements, management’s
assessment of the effectiveness of interal control over finoncial reporfing and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, which appears in this
Form 10-K,

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Los Angeles, Califormia
March 14, 2007
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Exhibit 31.1

Certifieation of Chief Exeeutive Officer Tf Ixia pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) under the Exchan

as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of e Sarbanes-Oxlex Act of 2002

I, Errol Ginsherg, certify that:

1. | hove revigwed this Annwal Report on Form 10 of Ixio;

ze Act,

2. Bosed on my knowledge, this report does not cantuin ony unfrug stafement of o moterial fact or omit to stafe o materiol fact negessary to meke the
stotements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements wera made, not misleoding with respect to the perind covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financiol statements; and other financial information included in fhis repod, faidy present in all ma
finonciol condition, resulls of aperations and cosh flows of the registrant os of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

arigl respects the

4. The regisrant’s other certfying officer(s) and I are respansible for establishing ond maininining disclosure contiols end procedure;s (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 130-15(e) and 15¢15(e}) and imemulltontml over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15()) for the

registrant and hove:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and pmtedu[es, o caused such disdlosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure

that materiol information relafing to the regislum, including its consolidated subsidiaries, s made known to us by oihers wi
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b} Designed such intornal control over financial raporfing, or coused such intemal contral over financial reparting to be designed
to provide reosonable assuronce regarding melrelinbilily of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
gecordance with generally occepted accounting principles;

¢) Evaluoted the effectiveness of the regishant's }iisclosure controls and procedures ond presented in this report ur conciusions’
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evalugtion; and

in those enfifies,

under our supervision,
extemal purposes in

about the effectiveness

&) Disclosed in this report any change in the tegis'rrunt's intemal contral qver financial reporting that occurred during the regism]‘nt’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the coss of on onaual repart) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,

S N S
the registrant’s intemal control aver financial reporfing; and

5. The registant’s other certifying officer(s) ond | have disclosed, based on our most recent evatuation of intemal control over financial reporting, to the

registrant’s quditors and the oudit committee of the registront’s board of diractors {or persons performing the equivalent functions

):

a) Al significont deficiencies and material weakngsses in the design or aperation of intetnal contral over finoncial repesting which are reasonably fikely to

adversely affact the regisirant’s ability fo reco:[lprocess, summoxize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, tht invol
financiol reporting.

Date: March 16, 2007 /5/, ERROL GINSBERG
Erro| Ginsberg
President ond Chief Executive Officer

management of other employees wha have o sigaificant role in the registrant’s infernal control over
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Certification of Chiel Financial Officer of Lsia pursuant 1o Rule 130-14{a) under the Exchange Act,

as adopied pursnant 10 Section 302 of the Surbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Thomaos B. Miller, centify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10K of Ixie;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of o motesial fact o omit o state o material foct necessary to make the
statements made, in ight of the ireumstonces under which such stotements were made, not misleading with respect 1o the period covered by tis report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, ong other finonciol information included in this report, fairty present in all material sespects the
financial condition, results of eperations and cash flows of the registrant o5 of, and for, the periads presented in this repart;

4. The registrant’s other cerfifying officer(s) and | are responsible for estabishing and mointaining disclosure conteols and procedures {as defined in Exchonge
Act Rules 13e-15¢e) cnd 15+1 5¢e)) and internal control over financial reporting (os defined in Exchange Act Rules 13¢-15() and 15¢-15(P)} for the
regisiant and hove:

)

b

4}

d)

Desigried such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disdosure controls ond procedures to be designed under our supervision, to enswre
that matesiol information relcting to the registrant, including ifs consolidoted subsidiaries, is made known ta us by others within those enfiies,
porticutarty during the periad in which this report s being prepared;

Designed such internal control over financial reparting, or coused such internal contrel aves financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,
fo provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporfing and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting prindiples;

Evoluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclasure confrols and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report bosed on such evaluation; and

Disclosed in this report any chonge in the regisrant's internal control over financial reporting that accurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscol
quorter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of on onnual report) that has materially affected, or is reosonably likely to moterially offect,
the regésivant’s intemal conirol over finoncial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying offices(s) and 1 hove disclosed, bosed on our most recent evatuation of intemal control over financied reparting, to the
registrant’s ouditors and the qudit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persans performing the equivelent fundtions):

)]

b

Al sigrificant deficiencies and materiol weaknesses in the design or eperation of internal conirol over financiol reparting which are reasonably likely
o adversely affect the segistrant's abdity to record, process, summarize and report financial informetion; ond

Ay Fraud, whether or not material, that invelves monagement ot other employees who have o significont role in the registrant’s internal control over
financiol reporting.

Date: March 16, 2007 /3/ THOMAS B. MILLER
Thomaos B. Miller
(hief Financial Officer
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Exhibit 32.1

Cenifications of Chief Exeomtive Officer 4nd Chief Financial Officer of 1xia Pursuant 1o
Rule 13a-14(h) under the Kxchange Actand 18 U.S.C. Scetion 1350, as Adopted Pursuant t
Section 900 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of] 2002

In connection with the Annuod Report of lxia (the “Company”} on Form 10 for the period ended December 31, 2006 g filed with the Sa

curities ond Exchange

Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), we, Emal Gi befg, President and Chief Executive Office of the Campany, and Themas B. Miller, Chief Finangial Of-

ficer of the Company, certify, to the best of our knowledge, pursuunr to Rule T3e-14¢b) under the Securifies Exchange Act of 1934 and 18
as adopted pursuant to Section 904 of the Sarbones-Oxley Acr of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements’of Section ¥3(a) ar 15(d) of the Securities Exhonge Act of 1934; ond
{2)  Theinformation contoined in the Report fairly presents, in all materia! respacts, the financial condition and results of operatiare
Date:  Morch 16, 2007 /s/ERROL GINSBERG

Errel Ginsherg
Preside'nt ond Chief Executive Officer

Dote:  Morch 16, 2007 /5/THOMAS B. MILLER
Thamas B. Miller
Chief Financigl Officer

0.5.C. Section 1350,

s of the Company.
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